Learning Hebrew From Genesis

Written by Benjamin Lee Cooper

Zayin Edition

Uploaded on the 14th day of the 12th month of 2023 to https://press.barnesandnoble.com and https://learn-hebrew-from-genesis.weebly.com/ as a PDF file Benjamin Lee Cooper.



Copyright 2017-2023 by Benjamin Lee Cooper. All rights reserved, but some permissions are described later in this book.

ח **לָכֵן חַכּוּ-לִי נְאָם-יְהֹ**וָה לְיוֹם **קמִ**י לְעַד כִּי מִ**שׁפְּט**ִי לֶאֶ**סֹף ג**ּוֹיִם לְעָבְּצִי מַמְלָכוֹת לִשְׁפֹּדְ עֲלֵיהֶם זַּעְמִי כֹּל חֲרוֹן אַפִּי כִּי בָּאֵשׁ קְנָאַתִי תֵּאָכֵל כַּל-הַאַרֵץ:

About this, 'wait for me' declares Yehovah, 'for the day of my rising up, for when my judgment *is* to gather nations, for my gathering of kingdoms, to pour upon them the wrath of all of my burning anger, that with fire my jealousy will consume all of the land. 36.3.8.909

ט כּי-אָז אֶהְפֿךְ אֶל-עַמִּים שָׂפָה בְרוּרָה לִקְרֹא כֵלָם בְּשׁם יְהֹוָה לְעָבְדוֹ שְׁכֶם אָחָד: Because then I will turn unto the people a pure language, for all of them to call upon the name of Yehovah, to serve him with one shoulder. 36.3.9.909

Table of Contents

Chapter 1 Should I learn Hebrew?	5
Chapter 2 The Hebrew AlephBet	.15
Chapter 3 The Hebrew Vowels	
Chapter 4 Guttural and Dagesh letters	.26
Chapter 5 Syllables and Accents	.29
Chapter 6 First Vocabulary, Special vowels אתוב	.32
Chapter 7 First Verse, Structure, and ה prefix	.36
Chapter 8 Word Pairs and Perfect 3rd person forms	.41
Chapter 9 כִּי בֵּין, Imperfect, and the reversing vav	.46
Chapter 10 Stems, Two vowels, and Names	.50
Chapter 11 ל prefix, אָת and אָת and כתיב and כתיב and ל	.53
Chapter 12 מ prefix, participles, and הְפְעִיל	
Chapter אַנְפַעַל 13, letter duplication, עוד and עוֹד	.61
Chapter 14 3rd person Poss. Suffix, Imperfect drop letters, אוֹ	.63
Chapter 15 Plural Suffixes, Adjectives, לא	.67
Chapter 16 3rd person pronouns, אוֹת, infinitives	.71
Chapter 17 Verbs with extra suffixes, 2nd person, Commands	.75
Chapter 18 1st person, בן, אֶל, direction הה	.80
Chapter 19 Comparisons, 15, and אֵין and אֵין	.84
Chapter 20 Cardinal numbers, word duplication	.87
Chapter 21 Age, questions, and מִי מֵה אֵי אֵיך	.91
Chapter 22 הְתְפַעֵל, conditional, and אִית suffixes	.95
Chapter 23 נָא, גַם, and Two things	.99
Chapter בַּעֵל spacing, and Sealed Intro	102
Chapter 25 Words without stems, Cantillations, Sealed 3rd p	107
Chapter 26 Sealed 2nd, Verb Forms, and o and o	115
Chapter 27 Sealed 2nd, וּ נָפְעַל , suffix מוֹ	
Chapter 28 \tilde{\psi} Prefix, Sealed Plural, Last Resh	
Chapter 29 Ligatures, Sealed 1st, כִי and כִי Suffix	127
Chapter 30 Parenthetical, Sealed 1st, Paragogic	
Chapter 31 Ancient and Cursive Charts, Sealed 1st	134
Chapter 32 עַד-אָנָה, The Sun, מָיָמִים יָמִימָה,	142
Chapter 33 Suffix Chart, Verb Charts, 2nd p. R-vav / cmnd	146
Chapter 34 Extreme אאָיא, Backwards Nun, Cheit ו^ז	
Chapter 35 Drop letter Stem Charts, Neutral words?	
Chapter 36 Conclusions	164

Chapter 1 Should I learn Hebrew?

1.1 Introduction

In my book "What is Truth?" I wrote about the history and many other aspects of the Hebrew Language. My views are not typical like what is believed by the majority of people. This book can be used to learn Hebrew without referencing my other book, but people would understand much better the terms I use and the viewpoints I hold, if they read "What is Truth?". Also they would learn cool things about the Bible and the Hebrew language that are not mentioned in this book.

This book teaches what I call "The Pure Language" or "Original Hebrew". Most people refer to it as 'ancient' or 'paleo' Hebrew, but most people believe very differently about how Hebrew was in older times. You could kind of say that I teach "Biblical Hebrew", but I also view "Biblical Hebrew" as being part of the Pure Language, or Original Hebrew. Anyway, from now on when I use the word Hebrew in this book, I am referring to the Original Hebrew unless I specifically mention the word 'Modern' or otherwise. When I mention "Biblical Hebrew" in this book, please keep in mind that I believe that it is the same as "Ancient Hebrew" but with the more modern "flame" or "block" font / script.

1.2 Should I learn Modern or Biblical?

The first thing you must decide is if it would be "Modern Hebrew" or "Biblical Hebrew" that you want to learn. Modern Hebrew is not the original Hebrew of creation, its not the original Hebrew of the Garden of Eiden, and its not the original Hebrew that Noach, Avraham, and Yaaqov spoke. There are some added and removed grammar aspects, and many added words that are not in the Biblical Hebrew. If you are going to be spending a lot of time in Israel, then maybe you should learn Modern Hebrew to speak it there. If you will be spending a lot of time reading and studying the Tanakh, then you should probably learn Biblical Hebrew. I don't recommend that you learn both Modern and Biblical at the same time, until you gain a very solid understanding and vocabulary in one of them. This is because of the grammar, spelling, and vocabulary differences, you will probably confuse the two often.

Start with the one that you need the most first. People who speak Modern Hebrew, and who also can read the Bible, do not differentiate the two languages usually. They think of the Bible as being an outdated form of the language. So, if your goal is to speak Hebrew with other people fluently, you should learn Modern Hebrew.

A person can read and understand the Hebrew Tanakh by only learning Biblical Hebrew, however, Also learning Modern Hebrew will help the reader to gain additional Modern English translations for some Tanakh words that might help them to better understand what they read. So, mastering Biblical Hebrew and then learning Modern Hebrew might be the best way to fully understand the Tanakh.

1.3 Should we be afraid to say 'God'?

Many people, Jews, non-Jews, Messianics, and others, avoid saying the word 'God', because they think it is the pronunciation of a Norse god or some other reason. Now I agree that the Bible tells us to not say the name of gods or demons, but in this case, there are two reasons why I don't worry about saying the word 'God'. One reason is that I haven't seen reliable evidence supporting the name of a god or demon (that's what a false god is) that is pronounced like the English word 'God'. And secondly, in Hebrew, the name of the tribe of "Gad", is actually pronounced like the English word "God". Gad is spelled as 7½ in Gen 30:11 and many other places.

Some people believe that we should not say the name of God, but there are many verses in the Bible that say that we can (or even should) call on the name of God. It is not my goal to annoy anyone, but I am not going to be ashamed or afraid to type, read, or say his name. Using the Sephardi dialect, his name is pronounced as Yehovah. I am confident that Yehovah would not allow one of the tribes of Israel to be named the same name as some false god, are you? I do not like to use the substitute word G-d like some people do, because they are still causing other English speakers to think of the word God, so why not just say the word God? I do not like to use the transliterated word Elohim when I am speaking or typing English, because some people do not know what it means, and if I am speaking English to a person who doesn't know Hebrew, I should use as many English words as possible. Of course the word Elohim is in the Tanakh as a Hebrew word, and so I do like the word, but I see no reason to confuse other people who do not know Hebrew. Some people do debate that the name of God should be pronounced differently than Yehovah, but that is usually because they learned Hebrew from a dialect other than the Sephardi (meaning they might think the Vav is pronounced as a 'w' sound), or because they disagree about what vowels are in his name.

1.4 How much time can you commit each day to learning Hebrew?

If you don't have at least 30 minutes each day on average to dedicate to learning Hebrew, then you should not try to learn it unless you believe God has told you to. 30 minutes a day is the absolute minimum really. Less time than this studying each day is probably not going to do you much good, as you will be forgetting more than you are memorizing probably. The ideal time period of daily study varies from person to person, but on average, I would suggest that you try to eventually get to about an hour or an hour and a half of learning Hebrew each day. More than this could be counterproductive actually, because excessive studying can cause irritability, frustration, fatigue, stress, and less focus. If you don't think you have 30 spare minutes each day, then I have some questions for you.

Do you watch television regularly? Why not do something that will be useful and lasting with your time, and instead of watching one or two shows a day, use that 30 minutes

or hour each day to learn Hebrew? Have you enrolled in too many sports or volunteer actives? Do you really need to be involved with more than one sport or activity? Do each of your children really need to be involved in more than one sport or activity that requires you to pick them up or take them places? How much time do you spend playing video games each day? Does that give you any life lasting skills that will improve your life or the life of others?

It is important to keep Hebrew in your mind every day while learning it. Even if its just doing a few extra things like listening to the Tanakh being spoken, or practicing reading or writing Hebrew, or making a journal entry with Hebrew, or translating some of the Tanakh. Even if you have looked up the same word ten times and forgotten it ten times, keep trying and pray to God for memory improvement and study skills. You have to keep taking steps up the path of learning Hebrew, one step at a time. Giving up is to stop walking that path. Even if its one step a day, make that one step per day. Learn using many different methods. Most people believe that they don't have much free time, so the more projects you have going at the same time, the more you are going to neglect each one. This is another reason why you should choose either Modern or Biblical.

1.5 Is learning Hebrew Difficult?

Really, the hardest part about learning Hebrew is establishing a daily study time, and keeping it every day. Many things will tempt you to quit or put off studying for a day. If you don't have the passion or the drive, you will quit. Taking one day off from learning each week is probably fine, but anything more than that will turn into a habit that will lead you to quitting. If you keep your daily study times, learning Hebrew pretty much boils down to memorization. You don't have to be 'smart' to learn Hebrew. You will even get used to reading 'backwards' (Hebrew is read from the right side of the page to the left side) and one day you won't even think about it when you change from reading English to Hebrew. There are many study skills that make learning Hebrew much easier than most people would think. It's mostly just a matter of routine, dedication, and asking God for help with learning concepts that you need help with. There are methods you can use with learning Hebrew to make the memorization easier.

1.6 Are other people smarter than me?

The thought that classmates or peers are smarter than us, is a lie from the serpent who is trying to tell us that we are not smart enough, so that we quit learning. When people in a classroom setting feel lessor than their peers, either they didn't put in <u>enough study time</u>, or they need to learn better <u>study skills</u>, or they need to <u>get healthier</u> in order to restore their memory, attention, clarity, and focus. Many foods have harmful chemicals in them which effect memory and concentration, or simply lack any useful nutrients that our brains need in order to have a good memory, focus, clarity, and attention. Getting enough sleep is also

important for learning properly. It is common now for college students to not get much sleep, but still cram their studies into their party schedule. Trying to memorize things while having sleep deprivation is more of a shock to the brain, and is not a good method of retaining long term memory of a subject.

You also cannot spend ten minutes per day studying Hebrew and expect to keep up with a class where the other students spend 30 minutes or more per day studying Hebrew. I will provide some study skills soon in this book introduction. It can also be used as an excuse, to just say that we are not smart enough, and then we can just give up and blame our bad 'genes'.

1.7 What if I don't want to learn the Modern script (Block letters)?

I have not seen a Tanakh in physical print (I have seen some online) that is in Ancient Hebrew, and even if there was, I doubt it would be as accurate as the Letteris Hebrew, and I doubt it would have vowel points and cantillation markings (the online ones did not). As I previously stated in my book 'What is truth?", there is no proof of the picture like Hebrew font ever existing, there is only proof of the Ancient font (script) found on the many stones, pillars, and scrolls which is slightly more runic looking (but yes there is some similarity where an Ancient Aleph letter looks like an ox head). Many people try to say that the cartoonish or picture looking font is the most ancient, I have seen no proof it was ever used other than in very modern times when this myth arose. So, you are not likely to find a Tanakh that you could read, even if you knew the true Ancient font. You wouldn't be able to read Modern Hebrew. Only very few people that know Hebrew and the Ancient font would be able to read what you write and could write something you could read. If you want to read the Tanakh in Hebrew, you are simply going to have to learn the Flame / Modern font, or keep the excuse and wait until somebody makes a Tanakh with the Ancient font, vowels, cantillations, and accuracy. I would be amazed if that happens anytime soon, and if it does let me know because I would want to own one of those Tanakhs. You can still write your own ancient Hebrew when you practice writing Hebrew. Then when you read your own ancient font Hebrew, you will be learning it. This is what I have done. When I write Hebrew, I write it in the original, ancient script, whenever possible. I want to be able to read any ancient Hebrew writings I might see in person in the future, or that I might see on artifacts shown online. However, I do not recommend that people learn the ancient script until they have a solid memorization of the modern block style script. Near the end of this book I will show a chart I made that has hand written Ancient Hebrew letters that I use.

1.8 Does it costs too much to learn Hebrew?

I started learning Hebrew by doing yard work for my first teacher, and my second teacher was nearly free because I was at a Tabernacles gathering which was already payed for, and there were free Hebrew classes there for people who were enrolled in the gathering.

I didn't have to buy a grammar book. There are free online grammar websites and YouTube videos. If you want to learn Hebrew and it is Yehovah's plan for you, he will make opportunities for you that you can afford. For example, this book is free and is meant to be used for individual learning, without a teacher being present. You can even contact me if you have any questions about the Hebrew language.

1.9 Its whatever

You should also have a strong desire to learn Hebrew if you plan on learning it. If you are on the fence about learning Hebrew, or if you think its not a big deal, then don't bother learning Hebrew. But if God has told you to learn Hebrew and you are not happy or excited about that, well then id tell you to learn Hebrew anyway. In that case ask God to help you have the desire to learn Hebrew, and the persistence to study sufficiently each day. Again, taking one day off each week from learning, might be healthy. Learning Hebrew will require a drive and passion to keep a person from being discouraged by people of the world and the serpent. They will tell you that it is pointless to learn Hebrew because we have many English translations of the Bible.

1.10 Study Skills to learn Hebrew – Meaning Associations

Most of the time, there is a very real connection to the individual letter meanings of a word, and the overall meaning of a word. Ask Yehovah to show you these connections as you learn words. Once you understand these meaning connections, you can memorize the word based on these connections, which is much more efficient than just memorizing without associations. For example, אה.ה. means to love, and the individual letter meanings are strong א, house ב, and revealing ה. The picture concept for this word is 'a strong one א of the house ב being ה revealed '. אָב is father, the strong man of the house. So in more clarity, ב.ה.א is the Father being revealed, this is because the center letter of a word stem has the most weight, and therefore the most weight is put on revealing. Who is being revealed ה? The Father, אַב. That's what love is, us seeing our Father Yehovah for who he is, who can and does love us purely. He is our example of what love is, and the Hebrew language itself shows us the proof of this. The times when you cannot seem to find a connection between the letter meanings and the Word meanings, then try to think of other that have at least 2 letters in the same exact places. Most of the time, if two different word have two identical letters in the same places, they have very related or similar meanings.

1.11 Letter numerical value associations.

Sometimes it helps to memorize a word when you know the numerical values of the letters. For example, the Hebrew word Shelosh שלש means three, the written form of the number 3. Every letter in the word שלש has a 3 in it. ש has the numerical value of 300, and ל

has the numerical value of 30. thus it is 300, 30, 300. that makes it easy in this case to remember that Shelosh is three. You could not make this connection if you didn't know the Hebrew letters for Shelosh (if you only knew the transliteration). This also shows the importance of knowing the number values of each Hebrew letter.

1.12 Avoid transliterations

Transliterations will remove your ability to associate the God given connections of the Hebrew letter Meanings, and number values to the meanings of the words. Using transliterations will take away some of the study skills you can use to memorize Hebrew words, and it will lessen the beauty and extra information you would be getting from seeing the actual Hebrew Letters. Also, you will often be confused by the many different spellings for Chet π (c or ch or k or q), Kaf \supset (c or k or q) and Quf $\not \vdash$ (c or k or q) that people use. This is because those 3 Hebrew letters can sometimes have the same exact sound. Also, Samekh \supset (S) and Sin $\not \sqsubseteq$ (S) are often confused in transliterations because they both have the same sound. Tet \supset (T) and Tav \supset (T) also have the same sound in most dialects. Therefore, if you use transliterations, you are not learning the real spellings of Hebrew letters, and you are not even learning the most accurate pronunciation. In order to follow the lessons in this book, you will have to learn to read the actual Hebrew letters, and not the English transliterations of Hebrew.

1.13 Learn the grammar

Grammar will help you to know the meanings of words based on the context of the whole sentence. Many Hebrew words can mean more than one thing, and you need to know the context of the sentence or sentences to know the meaning. You cannot accurately know the context of a sentence if you don't know all the grammar. Some people may claim that all you need to know is the Letter meanings to decipher the word meanings, but this is not going to help you often enough, and it is not going to teach you the grammar. Grammar can change past to future tense, or future to past, or show present tense, or show you if its a question, or a possible action that is expected. Hebrew grammar can clue you in on when English punctuation is needed when translating (there is not punctuation markings in Biblical Hebrew other than the ":" which is at the end of verses like an English "." period marking, and the "-" symbol to show that two words are connected in some way, but cantillation markings can imply punctuation). Grammar can tell you if its your cat or my cat, or if the cat is bad or fat.

1.14 Use flash cards or other visual aids

Until you master the Letter and Vowel pronunciations, the Letter meanings, and Letter numerical values, you should make flash cards and practice regularly with them. It is very

helpful to know everything about each letter to the point that you rarely make mistakes. In time, you can have it mastered and you wont need flash cards for these basic things. Later on, you can use flash cards for memorizing a few words a day, or a few words per week. Perhaps even write down the words you forgot each day or week.

1.15 Focus on word stems

I used to use the common term "roots" to describe the three Hebrew letter foundations that most Hebrew words come from. I now like to refer to these foundations as "stems", but I still use the word "root" in some places to mean the same thing as "stem". I just feel that the word "stem" is a more accurate way of looking at these foundations, especially when looking at the entire structure of the Hebrew language. Like how in the chart in my book "Word Occurrences" shows that there are stems, branches, twigs, leaves, and so forth. A stem could also be thought of as a tree trunk. The roots might more accurately be the Alephbet itself, the vowels, grammar, pronunciation, letter meanings, letter values, and so forth. Anyway, I see the Hebrew language as being like a tree, and this is why I have a tree on the cover of my book "Counting Roots".

When you come across a noun or adjective that you want to memorize, it is often very helpful to trace the word back with a Hebrew dictionary to the three letter word stem. This is because that three letter word stem often holds the main concept for the stem, which is very related to the noun that has the similar spelling. Often, I find it best to look at the verb of the stem that is shared with the noun, because the verb will give me a good understanding of the stem meaning, and then I can understand the noun or adjective meaning better. Basically, if you can associate the words with the stems that they come from, in your mind, it will make it easier to memorize both the nouns and the verbs, and it will make it less likely that you will forget the words when you associate them with other words. Almost every stem that can be turned into a 'verb' is a three letter stem. Two exceptions are the stem אָרָאָרָאָרָ which means 'to choose the left', and אַרָּתְּהָרָה which means 'to worship', but you do not need to memorize these stems yet.

I have written a free Biblical Hebrew dictionary called "Counting Roots". It should be available in the same places that you found this book. Look at the title page of this book for the link. "Counting Roots" is much more than just a dictionary, and can be used for many purposes that other dictionaries cannot be used for. I have also made a more in depth description of the 3-Letter stem system in section 4.5 of my free book "What is Truth?". However, it is not really necessary for a person to read that in order to understand the basic concepts of a Hebrew word stem.

1.16 Cursive script

In this book, I will not be teaching the Modern Hebrew cursive script other than to show what the modern cursive letters look like near the end of this book. It is only useful for communication in Modern Hebrew, and perhaps also if you want to read some of the Bible manuscripts of Matthew which were written in Hebrew using the cursive script. I recommend that you ignore learning the cursive script, because you wont need it for reading the Bible, and if you do want to use handwriting to communicate in Modern Hebrew with other people, then perhaps this book is not meant for you. Even computers now use the same script found in the Hebrew Bibles.

1.17 The Arabic Language

If you already know the Arabic language in any of its forms or dialects, you will have a big head start at learning Hebrew. This is because the Arabic language came from the Hebrew language long ago. I have described how this happened in my book 'What is Truth?' which is available for free online at the link at the beginning of this book. Arabic still has a lot of Hebrew remnants in it. Many of the words sound similar and mean similar things. It is not that hard to learn Hebrew for people who do not know Arabic, I did not start to learn Arabic until after I was fluent in Biblical Hebrew. The Hebrew Tanakh itself proves and preserves the Hebrew letter and word meanings, and even the Hebrew grammar. However, for further proof and emphasis, I will include some facts about the Arabic language which can either reinforce the learning or the belief in the grammar of the Hebrew language. The facts about Arabic will be shown in red text in this book. In some ways, Arabic can help us to either better understand Hebrew, or to help prove the accuracy about the Hebrew grammar. If you are not interested in these Arabic facts, then just skip any red text that you see in this book.

1.18 Modern Hebrew

Sometimes I will describe a comparison between Modern Hebrew grammar or words compared to Biblical Hebrew. When I describe Modern Hebrew in this way, I will use orange text. This will allow people to know it is a paragraph that they can skip if they do not feel a need to learn about Modern Hebrew comparisons. It will also help native Modern Hebrew speakers to more easily discover the differences in Biblical Hebrew.

1.19 Does this book only cover grammar from Genesis?

No, I have included grammar examples from other books of the Tanakh also, because there are some unique places in the Tanakh where that exact grammar style is only used once or a few times in that book or chapter. I came up with the name for this book as "Learning Hebrew from Genesis" because I had a theory (that still seems to be true) that our creator made the Tanakh for us to learn Hebrew from, but most especially the book of Genesis has the easiest grammar and is a place where we should start learning Hebrew. Also, I chose this book title because the teaching examples I use from the Tanakh cover the first few chapters

of Genesis. The goal of this book is to cover the complete Biblical Hebrew grammar.

Although the word Torah usually just refers to the first five books of the Tanakh (Old Testament), the Tanakh has used it to refer to other Tanakh books, implying that the whole Tanakh is Torah. Torah הֹוֹרָה means "teaching". Because the first five books of the Bible can be called "teachings", it implies that we can learn more than just the "law" of the Bible, and that maybe it can even teach us Hebrew in the best possible way.

1.20 Introduction to the lessons of this book

The reason why this book is so short, is because I am not putting 'exercises' into each chapter for you to practice on. The reader is meant to develop their own practice by using flashcards, and reading and writing Hebrew on their own, before each lesson. This also means I do not need to write an 'answers' section in this book. This book also does not have a 'glossary' at the end, because, I have also written a complete 'dictionary' as a separate book, and if readers need to, they can use that. If I had all of these things in this book, it would needlessly double or triple the size of this book.

This book also does not list every possible vowel spelling for words, but instead I use a stem based teaching method. Hebrew vowels are very important, but fluent readers should eventually know how to read Hebrew without vowels, therefore knowing the exact vowel spellings of any possible word is kind of like perfectionism in my view. This does not mean I teach a lazy way of learning Hebrew, or that I don't respect the language. I am just prioritizing word and stem memorization over vowel spelling.

1.21 A note about the first occurrences of words in the Hebrew Tanakh

I do agree that the first occurrence of a word in the Hebrew Tanakh has a huge importance as to the meaning of a Hebrew word, and words from the same stem, but there are some very important things to consider. Most Hebrew words have more than one meaning. It is often the case that the first time a Hebrew word is used in the Tanakh, it is not the most common meaning for that word. In other words, the first time a word is used, it can use a meaning for the word that is not the most common meaning. In these cases, this first appearances of these words with uncommon meanings, these meanings still hold weight, and show us that that secondary meaning is also important. Some teachers teach a very rigid, and incorrect method of defining words in a way that is less flexible, and would suggest that the very first meaning of a word in the Tanakh should be used for every other time that same word is used, or some teachers also teach some other obscure thought processes connected to the meanings of words by their first appearance.

The main goal of this book is to teach word meanings and grammar, and is not meant to go into obscure or rare thought processes about the first appearances of words. It is simply not important to focus on first appearance word meanings when learning Biblical Hebrew.

Yes there are some cool lessons to be learned from first word appearances, and I even talk about some of them in my book "What is Truth?", but it is not a topic meant for this book, and it is not a necessary topic for learning the Biblical Hebrew language, because most words have more than one meaning, and the most common meanings are not always the first used meaning of a word. Sometimes students get so excited about one small topic relating to Hebrew, that they lose track of the main goal, which should be to learn and understand Hebrew enough to read the Tanakh for ourselves, in order to understand what we are reading (in Hebrew). Excitement for Hebrew is great, but we should keep a balanced focus. For example, I do not teach Qabalah topics in this book as they are not needed in order to understand the Hebrew Tanakh.

1.22 A note about the first occurrences of words in the Hebrew Tanakh

In Chapter 33 of this book there are suffix and verb conjugation charts. Try to remember that these charts are there for when you try to practise the different ways of writing verbs, possessive suffixes, and other words.

Chapter 2 The Hebrew AlephBet

2.1 Flashcards

I recommend that you either buy or make some flashcards to learn the Hebrew letters and vowel markings. You can buy enough index cards or card-stock paper that is used for business cards and then cut it down to the size you want the flashcards to be. It is probably better if you make your own cards because it is best if you also write on the cards the number value and the meaning of each Hebrew letter. This way, you are not just learning the pronunciation of the letter, but also the other aspects of each letter, all at once. Learning all of these attributes about each letter will greatly benefit you in the future. It may seem like a chore now, but it will benefit you a lot, and sooner than you think.

2.2 Hebrew Letters

There are 22 Hebrew letters. Hebrew is an 'abjad' language, meaning that all of it's letters are consonants. You can use this chart below to make your flashcards. The vowel markings will be covered in the next chapter but for now, it is more important to learn the letters.

The letter meanings are proven to be accurate by the chapters in Isaiah, and many other aspects which I described in my book "What is Truth?".

There are five letters which change their appearance when they are at the end of a word. These letters are \(\frac{1}{2} \) \(\frac{1}{2} \) and their final forms (sofit) are \(\frac{1}{2} \) \(\frac{1}{2} \). These final forms of the letters are not considered as different letters, and they do not have different meanings or number values (except for one occurrence which I mention in my book "What is Truth?", but, it is not solid reason to use those values). However, it would be best to make separate flash cards for each final form letter, and then separate flash cards for the normal forms of the letters. This will help you to learn both forms. The 5 final letter forms that change are very common, so you will need to memorize them. Usually there are no vowels under the Sofit letters, because there are usually not vowels under the last letter of Hebrew words. However, \(\Gamma \) Kaf Sofit usually does have a vowel under it. \(\Gamma \) and \(\Gamma \) can sometimes have a vowel under it, but I have never seen a vowel under \(\gamma \) or \(\gamma \) in the Tanakh that I can remember (that does not mean it is not possible).

There really are no special grammar rules for Sofit letters, just a different appearance and a few vowel differences. The vowel trends with them are good to remember though. Do not feel overloaded. You are not expected to learn all of this information about the Hebrew Letters in a matter of days. You probably wont master this Letter information for a few months. Flashcards will help you during that time. Some of the letters look very similar to each other, so take the time to recognize the differences. For example, Mem Sofit and Samekh blook very much alike and still to this day sometimes I confuse the two of them if I

am not paying enough attention. Hey π and Chet π also look very similar and still sometimes I confuse them still if I do not pay enough attention.

In June of 2018 I got the idea to find the written words relating to each letter meaning. I have listed these words in the chart below also. Although the pronunciation of those words are very similar to the Sephardi pronunciation of the word names, they are not exact. I am guessing that, just like in English, there is seemingly no official name for each letter that is written out with the pronunciation of the word it is describing. For example, in English, we call the letter A, 'the letter A'. If there were official words made for each English letter that were to also describe the word pronunciation, it would look something like this: Eigh, Bee, See, Dee, Eee, Ef, Gee, Eh, I, Jay, Kay, El, Em, En, Oh, Pee, Qu, Arr, Ess, Tee, You, Vee, Double-U, Ex, Why, and Zee.

Anyway, it is interesting to look at those Hebrew words below that match each letter, but remember that the related word does not always match the proven letter meaning. For example, the letter p has nothing to do with a monkey (as some people claim) in it's letter meaning, but as a word, supposedly it can mean monkey (it is only in the Tanakh 2 times as I recall). Perhaps the original name for the letter p was Qav to match the word p. In my chart below, the guttural letters (you will learn more about them later) are in red, the Beged Kephet letters (you will learn more about them later also) are in Orange, the Sofit letters are in Grey, the six (if you count x) drop letters (more about them later also) are in green, Shin / Sin are in Blue, and the last four normal letters are in purple. The Hebrew names of the letters are from Modern Hebrew usually.

Hebrew Letter	Number Value	Letter Name	Meaning and (Concept)	Pronunciation	Hebrew Word
8	1	Aleph אָלֶף	ox, strength, I, the, (first)	None, depends on vowel	אֶלֶף thousand אַלוּף duke, ox
<u> </u>	2	Bet, Beit, Veit בית	house, earth, (in, on, about, with, during, by, while)	B or V sound depends on Dagesh	<u>house</u>
۵	3	Gimmel גימל	Camel, foot, (movement)	G like Go	גְּמֶל camel
7	4	Dalet דָלֶת	Door, (opportunity or choice)	D	קלֶת door
ភ	5	Hey הא	Behold, towards, the, her, (revealing)	Н	behold הַאּ
٦	6	ען Vav	Nail, hook, and, his, (connection)	V	יָר <u>hook</u>

	7	Zovin	Woonen play	Z	Woonen
7	'	Zayin	Weapon, plow,	L	אָנֵך weapon
		<u>ויין</u>	tool, seed (using a		
	0	CI.	tool or weapon)	CITIU	
77	8	Chet	Fence	CH like ba <u>ch</u>	מיִץ wall
		Cheit	(separation or		
		הֵית	containment)		
20	9	Tet Teit	serpent, basket,	T	טיט clay, dirt,
_		טית	(twisting or		mire
			containing)		
•	10	Yod יוֹד	Hand, deed, he	Y like Yours	יָד <u>hand</u>
			(thought or		
			action)		
> 7	20	Kaf,	palm of hand,	K	palm כַּף
_		Khaf קַּ	open hand, as,		
		,-	your (holding		
			something,		
			opening the		
			hand)		
5	30	Lamed	Staff, shepherd,	L	למוד disciple
7		לָמֶד	for, to, by		/
		' ' ♥ ‡	(teaching or		
			learning)		
	40	Meim	Water, womb,	M	waters מיִב
םמ		מב	from, among,	111	= .i= waters
		-1	part, some, their,		
			comparison,		
			place, noun		
			prefix (chaos,		
			-		
	50	Name and	effect of water)	N	h h h 40 00-10
27	50	Sun נוך	fish, seed, life, be,	N	7.1.1 to continue
			we, their, noun		son גין
			prefix (something		
	(0)	6	being or existing)	C	
5	60	Samech	Support,	S	to <u>support</u>
		٥٥٦	(roundness,		
			turning)		
y	70	Ayin עיו	Eye, (see or	None, depends	עין <u>eye</u>
			experience)	on vowel	

Page 18 of 169

ין צ ין צ	90	Pey, Fey ND Tsade	mouth, word, (something done with the mouth like speaking) Need, desire	P or F, depends on Dagesh	mouth קה mouth side
٠ ٦	100	עדי Quf קוֹף	Sun on the horizon, eye of a needle, back of the head (piercing, being on a horizon / field, thought or movement of the head)	Q	קו קו line קר.ד.ד to bow the head קוֹף apes
7	200	Resh בישׁ רִישׁ	Head, exalted one, top (being first or on top, thought, involving a person)	R	ראשׁ <u>head</u>
שׁ שׁ	300	Sin, Shin שין שין	Teeth, the sun or it's rays, that, which, who (consumption, clinching of teeth)	S or Sh, depends on dot on top	שׁרְ <u>teeth</u>
ת	400	Tav, Thav קּוּ	Sign, mark, cross, you, she, noun prefix, (being last, affliction or service)	T or TH, depends on Dagesh	אָדְ <u>mark</u>
Hebrew Letter	Number Value	Letter Name	Meaning and (Concept)	Transliteration	Hebrew Word

In my book "What is Truth?", in section 4.3, I have described how some of the letters may have had extra pronunciation types.

2.3 Lesson 1

Your first lesson will be to get a decent understanding of the meanings and number values of the Hebrew Letters, while <u>focusing</u> on the most important thing about the letters,

and that is their appearance and their pronunciations. During these first few weeks your main goals are to be able to recognize the name of each letter and it's pronunciation without making mistakes that often. Don't focus too much on the meanings and number values of the letters just yet unless you want to. Within a month or two though, you should try to have a firm understanding of the Hebrew Letter values and meanings. Spend at least 30 minutes a day looking at the flashcards and guessing their names and pronunciations.

As a bonus, you could listen to an audio file of a person reading the Hebrew letters out loud and then saying their pronunciations. Listen to that for another 30 minutes as 'extra credit'. You should be able to find a free audio file or YouTube video where somebody reads the Hebrew Letters out loud. Don't worry about vowels yet, that will be the next lesson. Just focus on the letters for this lesson. Also, don't worry about concepts like Guttural letters, or Dagesh markings just yet. Taking things one step at a time without overwhelming ourselves is the best way. When you get to a place where you rarely make mistakes on knowing each Hebrew letter and its pronunciation, start chapter 3 of this book. You do not have to start writing the letters yet, but when you do, do not worry about how to write the letters. Develop your own way of writing the Hebrew letters (block script) that is comfortable for you. If you really want to learn the "proper" way to write the letters, there are plenty of Youtube videos describing how to write them. Is there a "proper" way though? There may be a most efficient way that uses the least amount of pen strokes, but, if there is such thing as a proper method, it would be how God writes the letters. And that is something I do not know yet.

Arabic letters can also change in appearance depending on where the letter is in the Arabic word, so the concept of Hebrew sofit (final) letters has remained in the Arabic language even today.

2.4 Extra Credit

Most of the Hebrew letters have a literal meaning of a literal thing, like a camel, or a house, and so forth. But most of the letters also have a <u>conceptual</u> meaning that is tied to the literal meaning. For example, Gimmel ג means camel or foot in the literal sense, but in the conceptual meaning it means <u>movement</u>. Both a foot and a camel provide movement to people, and the reason that the literal meanings are foot or camel, is because its stem concept is movement. Samekh ס on the other hand, is a bit different for many reasons. Samekh o almost always means <u>support</u> as a concept. Only on rare occasions does Samekh have a literal meaning in a word, but when it does it means <u>something round</u>, like in the word סָבִיב which means encompassing or round-about. In the stem סַבִים that that word comes from, the Samech has nothing really to do with support, but roundness. Yod often means a hand, but can sometimes also as a concept mean thought or action.

Page 20 of 169

The Arabic language has 28 letters (29 if you count the Hamza), and every Hebrew letter can still be seen in Arabic today by the Arabic letter sounds and by the Arabic word stem comparisons to Hebrew word stems. Some of the Hebrew letters have been split to make additional letters in Arabic. The Arabic Sheen and Seen letters are examples of this, because they both represent the one Hebrew letter. That Hebrew letter gets a special dot on top of it to declare if it is a Shin or Sin.

Chapter 3 The Hebrew Vowels

3.1 The Hebrew Vowels הַּתְנוּעוֹת

Most people believe that vowels in Hebrew (some people call these vowels the Tiberian vocalization) were a more modern addition, but I believe that God made the Hebrew vowels when he made the Hebrew language during the creation week. The original vowel signs were probably different looking compared to what we use today though. I wrote more about the history and other facts about the Hebrew vowels in my book 'What is Truth?'. These next weeks (you can finish this lesson sooner if you want) will be about learning the Hebrew Vowels (also called diacritic or diacrotic marks by some people).

The chart below shows them all, and their pronunciation. I recommend that you make flashcards with these vowels on them, along with their names and pronunciation on the backs of them. The x and 7 and 'letters in the chart are just examples so that you see how the vowels look below the letters. Don t worry right now about if the vowels are short or long, just concentrate on their pronunciations. All vowels of each type have the same sound other than the Tsere and Segol 'E' types in the Sephardi dialect. The Sheva could be considered as part of the E type of vowels but it is special in that can be silent, but is often at the beginning of a word or syllable (and thus not silent).

One thing to watch out for about the Cholem vowel \(\overline{x}\) is that if the cholem is on a sin \(\overline{v}\) letter, some Tanakhs combine the cholem vowel and the dot on top of the \(\overline{v}\) letter so that there is only one dot. It should really be written as \(\overline{v}\) so that two dots are seen.

In the chart below, some of the vowels are diphthongs or different vowel configurations, and are not new, unique vowels. They should not be considered as separate unique vowels in my opinion, although most teachers believe they are new, unique vowels (because that is what they were taught).

The Chateph Qamets , should not be considered as a new, unique vowel, because it looks identical to the Qamets , and is the same vowel in my opinion. Even the cantillation marking that sometimes is put next to this mark to tell the reader that it has a 'O' sound due to the syllable rules is more proof that it is indeed the same letter.

The Sheva is another example of a Hebrew letter that can have two different pronunciations (and 'e' sound or silent), so I see no reason why these two Qamets version are not actually the same letter. Most people believe that they should be considered as two unique vowels, because they were taught that way. There are nine (if Qamets Hey is counted, which it should be) diphthongs (I do not consider to be an actually diphthong like some people do), but you should not worry about memorizing them too much yet. You will eventually need to the know the sounds they make though.

I believe that the Cholam-Vav is not a separate unique vowel, but because of the nature of the vav 1 to sometimes drop out of a word, I believe that when the Vav drops out, if

it had a Cholem vowel on it, then that vowel gets moved to the letter before it (which had no vowel anyway). I believe that the same thing happens with the Shureq 1 vowel. Most people consider these two special Vav situations to be separate, unique vowels, but I do not (my method comes to the same results though). I believe that the Shureq vowel looked the same as the Qibbuts in the Original Hebrew, but in modern times the Shureq looks different, so it is important that we do not confuse it with a dagesh. In other words, if you see a Vav with what looks like a dagesh (I will explain about those more later), it really is a Shureq vowel. The important thing about the Shureq and the Cholem-vav is that the Vav letter it uses is optional in some word spellings, and is present sometimes to make the sentence have a certain sum when all of the letters are added up, or for equadistant letter spacing codes, and so forth. In the cases where the Shureq or Cholem-vav are not used (it doesnt have a Vav letter), then this is when the text uses a Qibbuts or a Cholem without the Vav letter.

I believe that there are eleven unique vowels, but if the reduced vowels are considered to be just a sheva combined with another vowel, then there really are only eight unique vowels.

The dagesh technically is not a vowel, but because it does double the sound of some letters, it does change syllables just like vowels do, so I have put it in this list. Anyway, I suggest that you put all of these vowels, diphthongs, and special situations, on their own flashcards for you to memorize.

In my chart that I made below, I found Hebrew words in my dictionary that matched the known names of the vowels and put them in the notes section. These words that I found might be incorrect, because the known names of these vowels might be incorrect. So, I strongly discourage anyone from trying to use the meanings of vowels to understand the meaning of a word, because this could lead people astray from the word meanings that Yehovah intended. If the vowel meanings I found do help you to better, and properly understand a word, then that is great. Also, we should remember that vowels do matter, but they are very unimportant overall in the original Hebrew. One interesting thing about the vowel meanings is that they all seem to be nouns. When I had a choice of choosing two different words that matched the sound of the known vowel name, I chose the non-negative noun meaning. The majority of the time I only had one choice and it was a noun.

If you have a Hebrew Tanakh that you will be reading from, it may have cantillation markings in them and not just vowels. Cantillation markings look like they might be vowels to a beginner, so for now, if you see markings other than what I show you in this chart below, ignore them for now. Cantillation markings are covered later in this book and are not as important for reading, but instead are mostly used for speaking or reading from the Tanakh. Technically the Hebrew: marking that acts like the English period "." marking is a cantillation marking, so, you will need to remember that one (it becomes obvious that it signifies the end of a sentence).

In Modern Hebrew the vowels are called niqqud נקוד. Biblical Hebrew does not have groups of 'filled' of 'not filled' long vowels like Modern Hebrew does.

Vowel	Name	Sound	Trans- literation	Class	Notes
Uniqu	ie Vowels:				
*	Qamets קמַץ קמַץ	Aqua or Yell <u>o</u> w*	A	Long	למֶץ handful
8	Patach	<u>A</u> qua	A	Short	កភ្មុ door
*	Chateph Patach	<u>A</u> qua	A	Reduced	
*	Tsere צירה	Eight	Ei	Long	צורָה form
% .	קגול Segol סָגול	Red	E	Short	סְגֵלֶּה peculiar treasure
8:	Chateph Segol	Red	E	Reduced	
8	Sheva שְׁנָא	Red or silent	E or nothing	Short or Silent	ישְבוּעָה oath אַרְאָ vain, vanity אוֹא <u>desolation,</u> destruction, storm
8	Chireq קיריק	Gr <u>ee</u> n	I	Short	מֶרְכִּים lattice קירֶק gnashing teeth
*	Cholem הוֹלָם	Yellow	О	Long	תְלוֹם dream
% :	Qamets Chatuph	Yellow	О	Short	
8/	Qibbuts קבוץ	Bl <u>ue</u>	U	Short	קבוץ gathering
Dipht	hongs (not s	eparate, n	ew vowels):	
אַי	Patach Yod	Eye	Ay	Long	
אָר	Qamets Yod	Eye	Ay	Long	
אָיו	Qamets	Av	Av	Long	

	Yod Vav				
אָה	Qamets Hey	<u>A</u> qua	A	Long	
78	Segol Yod	Eight	Ey	Long	
78	Tsere Yod	Eight	Ey	Long	
אי	Chireq Yod	Gr <u>ee</u> n	Iy	Long	
אור	Cholem- vav Yod	Оу	Оу	Long	
אוי	Shureq Yod	Ooy	Ooy	Long	
Specia	al vowel situ	ations or r	ules:		
¥.	Chateph Qamets	Yellow*	0	Reduced	
١	Cholem Vav	Yell <u>o</u> w	0	Long	
٦	Shureq שוּרָק	Bl <u>ue</u>	U	Long	שׁרַקּה hissing
	Dagesh דָגש	Doubles original consona nt sound	*	*	
Vowel	Name	Sound	Trans- Literation	Class	Notes

3.2 Writing Hebrew

Hebrew, make sure to always start on the right side of the page, and then write each letter moving toward the left side of the paper. When you read it back to yourself, always start on the right side of the page and work your way to the left. In a few months or less, you wont even realize that you are reading and writing 'Backwards'.

During these weeks while you memorize the Hebrew vowels with flashcards, along with the Hebrew Letters, I recommend that you start writing the Hebrew letters and vowels several times for each letter and vowel. Do this every day.

For something fun you can also write your name in Hebrew as close as you can get the pronunciation. It probably wont be exact because Hebrew cannot reproduce every English sound. For example, in the Sephardi dialect, there is no W sound. If you have a name that is in the Bible, you can look up the actual Hebrew spelling in a Hebrew dictionary, Strong's, or blueletterbible.org. If you get bored of that, you could also find and write the names of your friends and family. You can develop your own method of writing each letter so that they look like the Block script in the chart I showed you. But if you want to write the letters the 'correct' way, you can easily find YouTube videos showing how to write each letter. I recommend that you find whatever feels the most comfortable and natural for yourself when you write the letters.

3.3 Pronounced vav with Cholem

On rare occasions, like with עָּוֹן which means "iniquity", the is pronounced with a "v" sound and then the cholem vowel gets pronounced after it. So עָּוֹן is pronounced "ah-vone" because of the rule that a vowel cannot start a syllable unless sometimes if it is under the last letter of a word. You do not need to memorize עַּוֹן yet.

3.4 Extra Credit

A transliteration is when you take the letters of one language and try to make it sound like another language. This is what was done in the Bible with the names of people. The Hebrew names were written in English (when they are transliterated) with English letters which had similar sounds to the Hebrew letters, so that the name sounds similar in both Hebrew and English. The sounds are usually not exactly the same when names are transliterated. As an extra practice method during these next weeks, you can write a journal using Hebrew letters, but making the Hebrew sound like English words. Then when you read the Hebrew letters back, it will sound similar to English. For example: אֵי אָם רעִדנג הַבּרוּ (it means 'I am reading Hebrew'). As further extra credit, continue to memorize the Hebrew letter meanings and number values if you want to.

In Arabic, vowels are also not considered to be letters and are also just signs. There are 7 vowels in Arabic (if you do not include the Hamza or Shadda), and they have consistent sounds just like the Hebrew vowels do. In English, the sound of a vowel can change depending on the word and grammar, this is not the case in Hebrew and Arabic (but the Hebrew Sheva and Qamets are exceptions, as they can change due to the syllable structure of a word).

Chapter 4 Guttural and Dagesh letters

4.1 The Dagesh

This lesson will be about guttural and dagesh letters. A dagesh is a dot in the middle of a letter. It can be present at the beginning of a syllable. This also means a dagesh can be at the beginning of a word, on the first letter. A dagesh is rarely ever on the last letter of a word, but it can happen with a n or other letters, if it begins a syllable. A dagesh can also be on a n if it is the last letter of the word, but only under certain rare situations. In those cases most people call it a Mappiq (or mappik) sign, but it looks just like a dagesh so I believe it really is the same sign. There are only 6 letters that commonly have a dagesh on them, and 3 of them get a pronunciation change in the Sephardi dialect. In the ancient pronunciation, all 6 of these letters might have had a pronunciation change depending on if it had a dagesh or not. The without a dagesh is a 'v' sound, the without a dagesh is a more throaty 'k' sound like the n, and the sis a 'f' sound without a dagesh.

The non-dagesh sounds of λ and 7 have seemingly been lost, but the λ might have had more of a 'h' sound. It could have also been that the λ had more of 'j' sound with a dagesh and more of a 'g' sound without a dagesh. The 7 might have had more of a 't' or 'h' sound without a dagesh.

The 6 letters that commonly have a dagesh are: $\[\] \] \] and they can be referred to as the 'Beged Kephet' letters. Other non-guttural letters can sometimes have a dagesh. In those cases where the letter is not one of the <math>\[\] \] \]$ letters, the dagesh doubles the sound of the letter so that the letter is used twice, in two different adjacent syllables. $\[\] \]$ letters can also sometimes have its pronunciation doubled, depending on if it is preceded by a vowel. I will explain that more later, so don't worry about that now.

If you haven't done so already, I recommend that you put a dagesh on these 6 letters in your flashcards, so that you get used to seeing these letters with a dagesh, to remind you that they are the common dagesh letters.

It is fairly clear that the π without a dagesh originally had a 'th' sound, but modern Hebrew no longer uses that pronunciation of π .

In Arabic, hints of the Hebrew dagesh can still be seen not by a dagesh mark, but by the additional letters in the Arabic alphabet for some of the Hebrew dagesh letters. For example, the Arabic letters Taa and Thaa are both essentially a Hebrew Tav where the Thaa is like the Tav with no dagesh essentially. This also happens with the Arabic Dal and Thal. There is no 'J' sound in Hebrew but the Arabic Geem letter does hint that the Gimmel did once have a 'J' sound either with or without the dagesh.

There is no 'P' sound in Arabic, which suggest that Arabic has lost it over time, and did not add an additional letter to cover this sound, like it has with other Hebrew dagesh letters. The Arabic Shadda sign which doubles the sound of an Arabic consonant is also further

proof that the Hebrew Dagesh sign is being used properly still when it sometimes doubles a Hebrew consonant sound.

4.2 Guttural Letters

There are 5 guttural letters that never get a dagesh, except a Hey \$\pi\$ at the end of a word can on rare occasions have a dagesh. The 5 guttural letters are: \$\pi\$ to \$\pi\$ n \$\pi\$ to . These letters often have different vowels, or sometimes no vowel at all. For example, it is common for an \$\pi\$ to have no vowel under it at all, even if it is in the middle of a word. Most of the time, there are no vowels under the last letter of a word, but these guttural letters can sometimes have a vowel under it even if it is at the end of a word. However, when a \$\pi\$ is the last letter, it never has a vowel under it. A guttural letter can never have a sheva \$\pi\$ vowel under it. Also a \$\pi\$ (which is the final form of \$\pi\$) can sometimes have a sheva under it, and then it looks like this at the end of a word: \$\pi\$ Don't worry too much about all of these guttural letter things, we will practice it more later. It would be a good idea to make a note on your flashcards for these guttural letters, to help you remember that they are guttural. The Arabic language also does have some guttural sounds in the pronunciation of its words.

4.3 Practice

A bit of reading practice is a good idea. Here are some transliterated sentences of English words using Hebrew. Sound it out as you read it. There is no 'Th' sound in Hebrew in the Sephardi dialect, but some people believe that Hebrew once had a 'Th' sound when a Tav n did not have a dagesho on it. A Dagesh on a n looks like this n. If you want to sound out n as 'Th' and n as 'T' than that would sound more like English in this practice below. Remember that n has the sound of 'B' and has the sound of 'V'. In the Bible, a: is used at the end of a verse, much like an English period. It is called the sof pasuq. In these practice examples below, the vowels I used do not follow normal Hebrew vowel rules due to it being a transliteration of English, so in these examples there are no doubling of pronunciations when you see a dagesh. I just used the dagesh as a way to show you how the dagesh can change the sound of letters. Anyway, here they are:

תַה דֵג בַּרכט אַט תַה נֵבּוֹרס בָּכַס תֵי מֵד נוֹעִס: עַי אֲמ גֹעִנג טוּ תֶּל תַה דַג טֵה בִּי סְלֶנט בֶּרִי סעֵן: הִי עִשׂ אֵ גֻד דַג וּסעֵאַלִ:

סומתמס תוֹ הִי עשׁ עַננוֹיִנג:

Answer:

Page 28 of 169

The dog barked at the neighbors because they made noise.

I am going to tell the dog to be silent very soon.

He is a good dog usually.

Sometimes though he is annoying.

4.4 Extra Credit

Don't be discouraged if you are still having trouble getting a mostly accurate memory of the vowels and the letters and their pronunciations. Just keep on practicing with flashcards to get them memorized well. If you are starting to have a mostly accurate memory of the letters and vowels and their pronunciations, then spend some extra time memorizing which letters are guttural and the בגד כפה dagesh letters. Also, try to get to an accurate memory of the letter meanings and the number values of each letter. You can do this by adding the number values and letter meanings to your flashcards if you haven't already, and then focusing on those things when you cycle the flashcards.

Chapter 5 Syllables and Accents

5.1 The Sheva, Qameits, and Qameits Chatuph Vowels

Most of the vowels have the same sound regardless of where it is in the word. However, there are a few exceptions. The Sheva, when it is the very first vowel of a syllable, has an 'e' sound like the 'e' in red and can be called שווא נע or 'moving sheva'. This means if the sheva is the very first vowel of a word, or after a letter that has a long vowel, then that sheva is pronounced. If a Sheva is at the end of a word or at the end of a syllable, then it is silent, and not pronounced, and is sometimes called שווא נה or 'resting sheva'. If two shevas are next to each other (under letters that are next to each other) in the middle of a word, then the second sheva is pronounced, because it is a new syllable.

Although technically the Qameits and the Qameits Chatuph are officially thought of as separate vowels in the Sephardi dialect, one could easily say they are the same vowel, because they look identical. What determines the sound it makes, or what people call it, depends on where in the word the vowel is. The Qameits Chatuph only occurs in closed syllables that are unaccented (I will explain accents soon), or in other words, if you see a x, it is going to be a 'ah' sound unless it is in a closed syllable without an accent.

A closed syllable is one that ends with a 'consonant' sound. For example, if the syllable ends with a sound that sounds like an English vowel, then that syllable is probably an open syllable. Most of the time when you see a ָvowel, it will have an 'ah' sound (as the Qameits). For example בְּל is a closed unaccented syllable, so it sounds like the English word 'coal'. When you learn the word בְּל you will realize that it is also commonly spelled as בְּל which has the same exact 'coal' sound. So that will help you to remember that בְּל sounds like 'coal'. Here are some Hebrew transliterations of English words using these vowels and the rules for them that I just explained:

shed לָן loan לָה peek פָּד peek פָּד peek פָּד feel

(Notice that the word 'peck' has two shevas, the first one gets the pronunciation and the one at the end of the word is silent. Sometimes you will see two sheva vowels next to each other in Hebrew.)

5.2 Accents or syllable stressing

Most of the time, there is an accent (called an intonation by some people), or syllable stress pronounced at the end of of each Hebrew word. In some special cases, some words do not follow this pattern. For example, one syllable words do not have an accent. Words that are joined in a word pair by using a maaqef sign – in the Hebrew text only get an accent on the last word of the word pair or construct chain. In Genesis 1:2 and 1:3 there are examples of word pairs with a Maaqef – sign. They look like this in the text:

Word pairs without a maaqef might also only have an accent on it's last word, because I have seen situations where two word pairs in different verses are spelled identically, even with identical vowels, but only one of those examples had a maaqef. Other teachers say if there is no maaqef then every word of a word pair chain gets an accent. Some rules regarding accents are: A long vowel in a closed syllable gets an accent, otherwise it will be closed with a short vowel. A sheva never gets an accent. A reduced vowel (they also have a sheva type: in their appearance) do not get an accent. Verbs can often have accents on the second syllable.

Some teachers call the stressed (accented) syllable the Tonic syllable, with pretonic and propretonic syllables that are not accented. I dont like to use fancy latinized or overcomplicated words unless I have to.

Arabic syllable stressing is very similar to how it is in Hebrew. In Arabic, a syllable can be stressed anywhere in the word, depending on the letters and vowels in the word

5.3 Syllables

I believe that some of the Hebrew pronunciation, syllabication, and accent rules might have been lost or is now different than it was in the original Hebrew. I can see some clear errors in how some teachers teach Hebrew pronunciation and syllabication (an example is in the next paragraph). There are differences between the different Hebrew dialects that further make it difficult to know for sure what is correct (I am mostly using the Sephardic dialect rules except when I think they are wrong). The Hebrew letters, grammar, spelling of words, and other aspects of the language are very sure because the our creator made the Tanakh so that we can be very sure about the meaning of letters, words, grammar, and other aspects. The only other doubts I have about the Hebrew language are how the original vowels looked. All of this is of very little concern to me because it still means that we can read or write original Hebrew with full accuracy and confidence.

I believe that nobody has syllabication right yet. I will explain syllabication how I understand it at this time. There can only be one vowel in each syllable in Hebrew words. In the vowel chart previously shown in this book, I listed which vowels are short and which ones are long vowels. Long vowels just get a longer pronunciation than short vowels. A syllable must start with a consonant **except** when the vowel is under the last letter in a word and is a n or one of the other special letters that can have vowels under them that get pronounced before it. This is where some other teachers get it wrong. For example, nor neach has two syllables with the last syllable starting with a vowel. Remember that and are consonant letters too even though they are silent. If a vowel is under them, their sound may start a syllable, but it is still a consonant letter actually starting that syllable.

The ' in the word ניאמֶר below has a dagesh that repeats that letter pronunciation. So

that 'gets sounded out two times (some people call this type of Dagesh a Dagesh Forte, or Strong Dagesh). The first time is with the in the first syllable, and the second time the 'gets pronounced as the start of the second syllable. Notice also that the א doesn't have a vowel under it. This is a common thing, especially for the א in the stem א.מ.מ. Below, the wiletter has a dagesh because of the ה before it, which is acting as a definite article. I will explain definite articles later. The ה has what some people call a Dagesh Lene, and is not doubled. This Dagesh form tells us how to pronounce that letter (This applies to Beged Kefet letters). Don't worry about what the words mean just yet, just try to pronounce them:

5.4 Practice

Here are another English transliteration using Hebrew letters for you to practice reading with (remember that n is a 'th' sound for this practice):

אַן אָט הַרד בַּרדס אָן אָט הַס מוֹר תַן תרִי הַנדרֶד כַּרדס אָן אָט

5.5 Extra Credit

This book has the main goal of helping you to be able to read from the Bible, and so there will not be much practice with syllables, accents, and pronunciation in this book. I mainly just wanted to cover the very basics of pronunciation. If you are feeling confident at this point, try to master which vowels are short, and which are long. Continue to use your flashcards until you rarely make mistakes on your flashcards. Try to memorize all of the aspects about each letter and vowel. You should also continue your writing practice of the Hebrew letters and vowels, and do some transliterations of English words sometimes.

Arabic also has long and short vowels, with similar syllable structures to Hebrew.

Chapter 6 First Vocabulary, Special vowels אתוב

6.1 Special vowel situations

When a vowel is under a ¬, ¬, ¬ or a ¬ at the end of a word, then that vowel is pronounced before this last letter. These are the only situations where vowels are pronounced before the letter that the vowel is below. When there is a patach ¬ or a qameits ¬ vowel before a ¬ then these combinations (diphthongs) are pronounced in a slightly different way regarding syllables. In those cases the vowels are mixed with the ¬ to make a 'eye' sound, then the vowel that is under the ¬ starts the next syllable. This vowel under the ¬ is usually a chireq ¬ or 'eee' sound. When a cholem-vav ¬ or a cholem vowel ¬ is before a ¬, then this also has the same kind of situation. It has a 'oy' sound and then the chireq under the ¬ starts the next syllable. Also when a shureq ¬ is before a ¬ it is a 'ooy' sound and once again, if there is a vowel under the next ¬ then it starts the next syllable (there is not always a vowel under a ¬). In the rare cases when you might see a ¬ after a qameits ¬ vowel, then it has a 'av' sound. When a chireq ¬ vowel is before a ¬, this makes an expected 'eey' sound, but then there is usually no vowel under the ¬. Don't worry about the meaning of these common words below, just look at the pronunciation:

רוּת	מ <u>י</u> ִם	גויים	חַיִּים	יָמִים
ru-ach	may-eem	goy-eem	chay-yeem	ya-meem

6.2 את Direct Object Marker

This vocabulary is short because also there will be one other special word and two prefixes that you should memorize for the next lesson. אָת and אָת are called direct object markers (DOM) which do not usually have a direct translation in English, but instead they point to an object being talked about in the text. The object is right after one of these DOMs. You should put these two DOMs on flashcards also. The אַת can also represent 'the first and the last' or the 'beginning and the end' because it has both the first and last letters as one word. אַת does not get a maaqef – after it but אָת can sometimes have a maaqef (sometimes spelled makkaf) between it and the object it is pointing to (there can be more than one object in a verse and usually each one will have a DOM).

I believe that the אֵת has special symbolic meaning beyond just holding a different grammar situation than אָת. Perhaps the אָת is a emphasized DOM. When the DOM is paired with a word (with a – sign), the accent gets removed and so also the tsere vowel changes to a segol vowel which makes the DOM אָת. When a DOM is pointing to an object that is in a word pair, the DOM should go before all of the words in the word pair. In other words, the DOM should never go in the middle of a word pair. I will show an example of this with a real verse from the Hebrew Bible in the next lesson. It can look like this in the Hebrew manuscripts:

I already knew that sometimes the את DOM is not used in verses in the Tanakh. In other words, the DOM is optional. The את is clearly sometimes pointing to some kind of significance other than just being a Direct Object Marker. In the link I found in the 3rd month of 2019, Bill Sanford has some theories as to why the את is sometimes used and sometimes not used.

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=dXYftg H3pM

It is my belief that the codes in the Hebrew Tanakh text, mathematical sums and equations in some verses, and other unknown things, are why some verses use a אָת and some do not.

In Modern Hebrew, my understanding is that the אה is not optional and should be used for 'correct' grammar, but the Tanakh clearly shows us that the אה is optional in the Original Hebrew.

Arabic has something like a DOM but it is used when directly addressing a noun. For example if you were to say hello and then use a person's name, the Arabic word $\[\]$ (ya) is placed before the noun to act as a marker. Although this is not the same as Hebrew, it shows further proof that Arabic came from Hebrew.

מַלַת הַנַּחָס and ב prefixes מְלַת הַנַּחָס

The word 'and' (a conjunction or conjunctive) is not a separate word in Hebrew. It is represented by a 1 which is attached to the beginning of a word as a prefix. Then depending on what letter and vowel is at the beginning of the word that it is attached to, a vowel is put under the 1 prefix. Right now it is not important which vowels are under it, but the most common vowel under a 1 prefix is a sheva , So, when you practice writing a 1 prefix, write it with a sheva like this 1. Sometimes the 1 prefix can mean 'or' instead of 'and', and on rare occasions it can mean 'then' or 'so', but it usually means 'and'.

Hebrew is a very flexible language, with even many acceptable variations in grammar and vowel usages. The prepositional prefix \beth can commonly mean 'In, on, by, over, or against' when it is attached to the beginning of a word. In case you might have forgotten, a preposition is a word (or prefix) that describes the relation between two or more other words. It is usually clear by the context of the verse which meaning the \beth prefix has. It commonly has a sheva under it also, but the vowel under the \beth prefix depends on what the next letter to it is and what it's vowel is. The vowel also depends on if the word it is attached to is definite or indefinite. Right now it doesn't matter what the vowel is, so practice writing the \beth prefix with a sheva like this \beth . There is a separate preposition word that can also mean the same things as the \beth prefix, but I will cover that later. It might help you to make two additional flashcards for these two prefixes to help you to memorize what they can mean.

Sometimes when a prefix is added to a word, a בגד כפת letter can have it's dagesh

dropped, or it's vowel could change. Other letters can have vowel changes also when a prefix is added. Right now its just important that you know that the vowels can change, so you don't need to memorize the changes anytime soon. Here are some real examples of these prefixes in use in the Hebrew Bible, don't worry about what the words mean, just look at the 1 and 2 prefixes:

In the example above, כָל and כָל are the same words with the same meanings and the same sounds, they just have different vowels because the maaqef – sign can change the vowels when it pairs words together, due to the accents being removed or the syllables being changed.

There are also prefix situations like this in Arabic. The Arabic Waw (which is equivalent to the Hebrew Vav) also can mean 'and' in Arabic sentences and also acts like a prefix like the Vav does in Hebrew.

6.4 First Vocabulary אוצר מילים

אוצר מילים means "vocabulary" in Modern Hebrew, but you do not need to memorize that phrase while reading this book, or even the Tanakh. It is just here in case anyone wanted to know it. Here is the first set of words for you to put on flashcards and memorize until the next lesson:

<u>ישָמ</u> יִם	אֱלוֹ	הִים	ראש
heavens or sky		God	head or top
אָרֶץ	עְוֹן		
land or earth	iniquity		

Rosh אָלהים has an aleph with no vowel, which does happen sometimes. It mean head, top, or first, and is the reason why the letter הוצל is called Resh, and means the same things. Elohim אֱלהִים almost always means God, as in the creator, and it is in the plural form which brings many different theories to people. For example, the book of John explains that Yehoshua (Jesus) was present during creation. Shamyeem שְׁמִים means heavens as in space or the universe other than the Earth, or it can mean the sky as in the atmosphere of the earth. It can also mean both at the same time which essentially means the universe including the Earth. It all depends on the context of the Hebrew verses around it. Erets אָרֶה means land in a local area, or the entire Earth. Again, this depends on the context of the Hebrew verses in the Bible. אַלָּיִן is pronounced 'ah-vone' which I explained better in section 3.3 of this book. The stem אַרִּי, can mean to do iniquity or to do perverse things but it is not used enough to worry about.

6.5 Practice

Here are another English transliteration using Hebrew letters for you to practice reading with(there is no 'w' sound in Sephardic Hebrew so I combined an 'o' and 'u' vowel to make an English 'ou' sound):

מַי סֵואָנת בֶּךְ אָס אֵי בַּךְ פוֹר מַי גַם תַט אָס כַּלד סֵואָן תוּסַנד

6.6 Extra Credit

It might be a good idea at this point to get a Hebrew Tanakh (old testament) so that you can follow along in your own Bible when I talk about Bible verses or use them as lessons. The next lesson will use a verse that you will be able to read from the Hebrew Tanakh. I recommend that you get a Letteris version of the Tanakh. I found a KJV parellel Bible that has Letteris Hebrew. It is called "Old Testament Hebrew & English" with the ISBN-10: 0564000396 or ISBN-13: 978-0564000395. Even a JPS or BH Tanakh is ok for just starting out, or even just use blueletterbible.org for free to see the Hebrew text. In my book "What is Truth?" I explain the differences between the major English and Hebrew Bible versions. One thing about getting a physical copy of a Hebrew Tanakh, is that it will help inspire you to want to read it and continue your Hebrew studies.

Chapter 7 First Verse, Structure, and 7 prefix

7.1 The definite ה article הַא הַיִּדִיעָה

There are different ways to make a word definite in Hebrew, and one of them is by adding a π prefix to the word. Prefixes are sometimes called a particle. When a π prefix gets added to a word, it adds a dagesh \odot to the next letter that the π is before (but guttural letters do not get a dagesh). The vowel that goes under the π prefix depends on what the first letter of the word is that it is attached to and what vowel is under it. The added π prefix can also change the vowel of the first letter of the word because the added π prefix changes the syllables of the word because of the added π at the beginning. If the definite π is before a guttural letter, it can have a qamets or a segol vowel under it, depending on what the next vowel is under the letter that the π is attaching to. If the next vowel is short under the guttural, then the qamets is most likely used, and if the vowel under the guttural is long, then the segol is most likely used under the definite π . Don't worry right now about what vowels might go underneath the π prefix. It would be a good idea to add the π prefix to a new flashcard so that you can memorize it as being a prefix.

On the flashcard (for the definite ה) put a patach vowel under the ה like this ה because this ה prefix often has a patach vowel under it. If a noun does not have a ה prefix, then it is probably indefinite. You will be able to know for sure by the rest of the grammar in a verse in future lessons. So שַׁמֵיִם means 'a sky' or 'heavens' because it is indefinite, and means 'the sky' or 'the heavens' because it is definite due to the added ה prefix. Also notice the added dagesh on the letter ש. There is no separate word or method in Hebrew to make a word indefinite. It is indefinite by default unless it is made definite by a ¬ prefix or some other grammar method.

Arabic also has a definite article which attaches to words as a prefix much like the Hebrew a definite article does. The Arabic one is an Alif-Lam that gets attached to the word to make it definite.

7.2 Sentence and word Structure and your first Bible verse

Hebrew is a very flexible language. Although the common way is for a 'verb' to come before a 'subject' doing the action, it is not always this way. In this common way, the pattern is (verb)(Subject)(DOM)(Object) where the Subject is the one doing the action (verb) and the Object is the thing being acted (Verb) on. An example of the Subject being written before the Verb is 2 Chronicles 35:9. Several people are written before any verb is written and the KJV mentions the names of the people and then puts a comma before the verb. I believe that a comma before the verb here is the correct way to translate this verse, and it could be that the Creator specifically put the verb after the names of these people in order to show us that there should be a comma or pause of some sort in the language.

Sometimes Hebrew grammar acts a bit different than the standard patterns we can get used to, like in songs or poetry, like in the books of Psalms and Proverbs, or even the song of Mosheh (Moses). The Book of Daniel is very different also. One possible reason for a Hebrew 'verb' to be before the subject (other than just being a standard method) is due to a 'reversing-vav' at the beginning of the sentence. I will explain 'reversing-vavs' later on in this book.

The Hebrew Tanakh was designed for us by the creator for many reasons, and one of those reasons was to help us to learn Hebrew accurately. The Hebrew Torah (first five books) can be used as a way to learn Hebrew, because this was one of the many goals of the Torah when the creator made it for us. What I call a Hebrew word stem (I used to call them roots and still might refer to stems as roots in some places in this book), is basically a 'verb' that I will write like this ב.ר.א with a period . between the letters so that it is clear that I am talking about a stem and not a word that is written in the Bible.

A word stem is three letters that form the building blocks of a word group, which I call a 'Root Family'. Most of the time, words in a Root Family have a shared or related meaning to the stem that is easy to see. Sometimes it is not as obvious of a connection. A stem word can be thought of as a 'parent', while the words in it's Root Family could be thought of as 'Sons' and 'Daughters'. When a word in a Root Family has a prefix, it can be considered a 'Grandson', and when it has a prefix, a 'Granddaughter'. Don't worry about all of this, the important thing to remember is that there are stems, and words in it's Root Family are related to it. I made a chart showing this tree-like "Root Family" structure in the Legend (0.14) section of my book "Word Occurrences".

The First letter of a stem, while not giving the most weight to the meaning of the stem, does give a significant part of the meaning of a stem (more so than the last letter of a stem). Perhaps the first letter of a stem could be considered the 'Father' of the stem.

The Center letter seems to often hold the most weight in the meaning in the word stem. This center letter could be considered the central concept of the meaning, but this is not always the case. Sometimes the first or last letter holds the main concept or theme of the stem meaning. This Center letter could also be a reminder to us that God must also be involved in order to make living offspring. In other words, God is the one who adds a spirit to a fetus, and gives it life. In other words, a father and Mother cannot bring life to a fetus without God's approval.

The Last letter could be considered as the 'Mother' of the stem. While it usually holds the least weight in showing the meaning of a stem, it does sometimes hold the main or important concept of a stem meaning.

When considering the 'Father' and 'Mother' parts of a stem, they have nothing to do with masculine or feminine genders of a word. It is just a method to explain how stems work.

When two different words that have the same two letters (next to each other) are compared, they usually have a similar meaning or concept, especially if the matching letters are in the same position of the stem.

When two different stems have the same letters but in different order, they usually have similar meanings. These stems that have the same letters could be thought of as sibling stems, with the words in each Root Family as being 'cousins' to each other. Sometimes these 'cousin' words can have the same exact consonant spellings (but different vowels), but are in different stem Families with different meanings (because letters can be attached and removed from a stem).

When a stem has two meanings that are very different (most stems have two or more similar meanings), it could be considered two separate stems (I consider them the same stem though, just with different meanings. I call these stems 'Twin stems', because they have two unique meanings. Some people might consider them as being twin stems in the sense of identical in 'DNA' (letters) but with different meanings (personality).

I have found two 4 letter stems so far, and I have not seen proof that there are any 2 letter stems. It is safe to just think of Hebrew word stems as having three letters. In both of these '4 letter stem' cases that I have seen, a 'hollow' or 'drop' or 'unstable' letter is used (x and 1 in these cases). There could be some unknown grammar rule that adds these 'drop' letters to the stem in some unknown method, and thus maybe they are both really just 3-Letter stems with special grammar situations.

Sometimes a word will have additional letters to the stem like an added 22 at the beginning of the word. An added 22 at the beginning of a word is common for nouns.

'Verbs' are written differently depending on who is doing the action, and then there is sometimes a את DOM, and then after that is the object that the action is being done with. מבר.א means to 'create'. It is a word you should eventually memorize, but it is not a common enough word to justify memorization just yet, so don't worry about memorizing it yet.

In the third-person as a 'verb' it is written as אָבָּהְ which means 'he created'. This verb form actually implies that a male is doing the action because it is in the masculine form, so there is no need to write a separate word for 'he' after בְּרָא unless if we want to make it definite and say who exactly is creating something. One last thing before I show you your first full Hebrew verse from the Bible: the Hebrew Tanakh sometimes has letters that are purposely written smaller or larger than the other letters, in order to teach us something important. Some Tanakhs don't keep these smaller or larger letter sizes, and instead just print the letters the same size as the other letters. This is why I like the Hebrew Letteris Tanakh, because it keeps the correct letter sizes when they are a special size. Here is your first verse from the Bible to read, Genesis 1:1:

:אַרָא אָלהִים אַת הַשָּׁמַיִם וְאֵת הָאָרֵץ

Notice that the first Hebrew letter ב is bigger than the other letters. Try to translate the verse yourself, but I will put the translation at the end of this paragraph. The ב prefix means 'in' in this verse, because the other meaning options make less sense in the context. Other meanings for a ב prefix are 'during', 'on', 'by', 'against' and etc. ראשית comes from the same stem as שיל, so with ראשית the word means 'in the beginning', because beginning fits the context for better than the other meanings of 'head', 'top', 'first', etc. Sometimes descriptive words

get a ית added to the end, and in those cases the meaning doesn't change much from the stem, if at all. ראשית can also mean 'first', as in an ordinal number. בְּרָא is in the third person, as a verb, and בַּרָא is right after it, so that means that God is the one who is creating something. The DOMs את points us to the things being created, the heavens and the Earth. Commas need to be added to English translations to help English speakers understand the right pauses and sentence structure, but in Hebrew, there are no commas. However, often it is fitting to put a comma in an English translation when you see a prefix in the Hebrew, because the prefix often means 'and' or 'but'. The verse translation is: In the beginning, God created the heavens and the land.

In Modern Hebrew, the verb is commonly <u>after</u> the subject, but in Biblical Hebrew the verb is often <u>before</u> the subject. The Tanakh has times where the subject is before the verb, so I would not say that Modern Hebrew is "wrong", but perhaps it should have kept the subject after the verb. For example, in Modern Hebrew, a sentence would usually be 'Subject' 'Verb' DOM 'Object'.

7.3 Vocabulary 2 אוצר מילים

Here is the next set of vocabulary words for you to make flashcards of and practice which includes the first two stems that you will be memorizing:

Notice that מֵיִם means waters in the plural form. The word for water only appears in the singular form a few times in the Bible, it is pretty much always in this plural form as a collective plural (thought of as one unit even though it has many pieces). There are some collective plural words in Hebrew but not many. Almost every word you see that ends in יָם or ס is a masculine plural word. There is a feminine plural form you will also be learning later. It would be a good idea to make a flashcard with the suffix מ' on it so that you can memorize this masculine plural ending. שַׁמִים that you learned already is also a plural word, as is אַלהִים. The word פָנֵי is a common word which means the face of something, or the front of something you see. Because it is spelled this way, it needs to be paired with the word it is describing. It comes from the stem פנ. which means 'to face' or 'to turn' and you should eventually memorize it, but it will not be used in this book. This will be explained better in the next lesson. על is very similar to the ב prefix you learned, but על is a separate word (preposition) that comes before a word it is describing, instead of being attached directly to the word. It can mean on, against, by, about, and much more. The main differences between and the ב prefix is that על doesn't mean 'in' or 'when' very often, but the ב prefix often does mean 'in' or 'when' or 'during'.

ק.ש.ה means to be dark, and as the word השה means darkness. On your flashcard it is best to put it as a stem without the vowels, because vowels are far less important in Hebrew than most other languages. And once you know what the stem means, you will know what most of its related words mean regardless of what vowels they have. ה.י.ה is a very common stem that means to be, or to exist. It can have many different spelling changes when it is made into words, depending on the grammar rules that apply to it. You will learn these rules later, but basically any stem that has a ז, ה, or a ' in it, gets changed a lot when it is made into a verb or a word. Because all three letters of the stem ה.י.ה are letters that get changed a lot when words are made from stems, this stem is probably the one that sees the most variation between all of the words that relate to this stem. Don't worry though, once you understand all of the grammar rules, it is easy to spot this stem regardless of how it gets changed when a word is made from it (context also helps to find word stems). And that is the most important skill you should learn when reading Hebrew, is how to find the stem of the word you are looking at. I will show you how in later lessons. התר. Do will not be used until much later in this book, so you have a while before you have to fully memorize it.

7.4 Extra Credit

Write the Genesis 1:1 verse in Hebrew a few times a day and practice translating it until you can translate it with no problems. Continue to do the other daily things like looking at flashcards and writing Hebrew transliterations of English sentences, ect.

Chapter 8 Word Pairs and Perfect 3rd person forms

8.1 Word Pairs or Constructs סמיכות

Words pairs (also called construct chains) can happen in Hebrew with or without a maaqef – sign attaching them together. The context of the verse makes it clear that it is a word pair when the maaqef sign is not present. Sometimes there are two maaqef signs – attaching two or more words together, and this is done in order to fit the text correctly on the scroll or page that the Hebrew verse is written on. This is because the scribes wanted the text of the scrolls to look neat, and they wanted no gaps to be present at the left side of the page (unless there was a meaningful purpose for the gap). So they would sometimes add extra maaqef signs or they even would sometimes widen a sofit (final) letter so that it extends the text in a way that the letters end at the left side of the page, so that all of the letters on the left side of the page line up.

Nehemiah 2:13 and 2:15 are examples of just how optional maaqef signs are for word pairs with the word pair בְּשֵׁעֵר-הַגַּיִא in both verses but verse 15 doesn't have a maaqef even though the letters and vowels are identical in both verses. It means "the gate of the valley" or "valley gate" but you do not need to memorize these words now. Either this is proof that the maaqef is optional, or there is some sort of context rules where it is not needed sometimes. The only context I can think of right now for these verses is that it is a story told by Nehemiah about going out the gate then returning later through it. Perhaps the second mention has some special grammar rule that we no longer know about due to a second mention or something. Or, maaqef is just optional, which makes more sense.

When words are paired together, the word 'of' is usually implied with the words. For example, paired words usually end up being translated as 'something of something', or 'son' of 'so-and-so', etc. A word pair can look like this in the text: עֵל-פְּנֵי and in this case it literally means 'upon the face of'.

Word pairs do not have accents on their letters, so this means that vowels can change when words are paired together. Another example of a word pair is פֵנֵי הַמִּיִם which means 'the face of the waters'. Almost every time you see a tseire vowel under a letter that is before a 'which is at the end of a word like this 'z', then that means it is paired with the next word and a 'of' is implied in the pair. When the word pair suffix 'x' is used (x' being the last letter) for the first word of the pair it is probably plural and the last word probably has a 'or' or 'a.

The singular form of word pairs that mean "of" is אָב like with אָב. This suffix looks identical to the first person possessive suffix אי which means 'my".

When the word it is paired with is definite (having a ה prefix or the name of a person or place), then both words in the pair are definite, even if the grammar doesn't show it. Essentially, both words of the pair have to be either definite or indefinite when we translate them, they both have to match in the translation. So, because בַּנִי הַמֵּיִם does not have a ה

prefix before the 5, when we translate it, we should translate it as 'the face' and not 'a face'. It is grammatically acceptable for one of the paired words to not have a π prefix, what I mean is that when we translate it, both translated words need to match, being both definite or both indefinite. Sometimes there are even three or more words that are paired together, and here is an example of that:

עַל-פִּנֵי הַמַּיִם

In that case it would be translated as 'upon the face of the waters'. There often is a maaqef after מָבֵי הַמְיִם. When the first word (or middle word if more than two words in the chain) of a word pair ends with a ה, it gets changed to a ה and then long vowels that were before the ה get reduced to a short vowel that is usually of the same type (A, E, I, O, or U). This is not always the case though, because sometimes אָה can change to אָה and not אָה for example. Word pairs can have a prepositional prefix attached to the first word of the word pair chain.

The modern Hebrew word של means 'of' but it is not in the Bible and is not a real word (or shouldn't be in my opinion). It is the modern combination of the w and ל prefixes.

Modern Hebrew should have adopted the word יַ which is in Daniel 2:33 and other places which means 'that', 'which', and even 'of'.

Arabic also paired words with similar rules where the gender of both paired words need to match, and so forth. There are some differences like when the Arabic words for 'this', 'that' and 'these' are paired with a definite word, they do not become definite also (but in Hebrew both must match in that case).

8.2 3rd person perfect 'verb' forms הַּפֹעֵל

The 'prefect' tense of a 'verb' in Hebrew is very similar to our English 'past' tense forms, but with one important difference. The perfect tense in Hebrew sometimes means the 'present' tense, or things that are happening now, or things that are continuing to happen. Think of it as something being 'perfected', as in, the thing is already done, or it is perfected into something that is happening currently. If you want to think of it in an English mindset, think of it as a combination of past and present tenses, where it can mean either one or both.

You already learned one 3rd person perfect singular masculine word, and that is בְּרָא 'he created', but again, don't worry about memorizing that stem yet, because it is not used often enough to justify memorizing it now. The masculine form for the 3rd person perfect of and means 'he was' or 'it was'. In Hebrew, the 'he' or 'she' words can sometimes literally mean 'it', and so, verbs in Hebrew can also literally mean 'it' is doing something, even though it is in a masculine or feminine form. You will be able to know from the context of the Bible verses who or what is being talked about.

The feminine form of the 3^{rd} person singular perfect for ה.י.ה is הַּיְתָה . In the masculine form of a 3^{rd} person singular perfect word, there is almost never a change in the stem letters.

But in the feminine form, if the stem ends with the letter π , then that letter π gets dropped out of the letter and it gets replaced with a π letter. This is because all 3rd person perfect feminine words end with an added π suffix. So instead of just adding a π to the stem π . like this: the last π of the stem gets replaced with a π and then the π suffix is added. You can think of the letters π , π , and π as being more flexible, or ready to change more easily to accommodate other letters. These three letters often drop out of or get replaced in words, depending on the situation.

Singular nouns are very similar to the 3rd person singular perfect form of verbs in the sense that masculine nouns get no added letters to their stems (usually) and feminine nouns often get an added או suffix at the end. One common rule for vowels in verbs is that in their masculine 3rd person singular masculine perfect they have a pattern like this אָאָא. There are other vowel patterns for this 3rd person form, but this is a common one, and it will help you to recognize easily if the word is a verb or not. It is also very common for the 3rd person singular feminine perfect forms to have a pattern like this: אָאָאָה where the א letters are the letters of the stem being used. Another rule for verbs is that the subject (person doing the action) and verb has to have the same matching gender (both masculine or both feminine forms of words). The plural 3rd person perfect suffix is a 1 and is used for either men or women.

In Modern Hebrew, a suffix is called סִיֹּמֶת from the Modern stem סִים "to conclude or finish".

Arabic also gets one or more (usually just one) letter added to the 3rd person verb as a suffix. The Arabic suffixes for the 3rd person plural forms do kind of match the Hebrew suffix sometimes.

8.3 Your 2nd verse from the Bible

Below, I put the Hebrew text of Genesis 1:1 and 1:2 here for you to practice reading. You already know verse 1, but more practice wont hurt. Verse 2 has four words you do not know yet, but they are not used very often in the Bible, so you do not need to memorize them until you are near fluent. I put the English translation of those four words directly below those words so you can easily 'cheat' on those words and continue translating the common words that you do know.

Try to translate verse 2 without looking at my translation (but do use the cheat words near them) in the paragraph below until you get stuck or until you think you have it translated correctly. Verse 1 has an x on the far right to signify that it is verse 1, and verse 2 has a \supset on the far right to signify it is verse 2. I had to split verse 2 into two halves so that it fit on this page correctly. Here they are:

is from the stem ה.י.ה and is in the 3rd person singular perfect form so it mean 'she was' or 'it was'. Because of the context of the verse it is the land that is 'existing' in this case, which makes it definite and we don't need an 'it' in the translation. Notice that in the last half of the verse, there is no הָיָה present to say that the 'Spirit of God' 'was' doing something. This is a common situation in the Bible where sometimes ה.י.ה is present, and sometimes it is not. I will explain about participles later on in this book, but for right now, just realize that because of מְרַהֶּפֶּת the 'was' is implied in the Hebrew text here concerning the 'Spirit of God'. Sometimes when translating, we simply have to add a 'was' or 'is' in order for it to make sense in English, because in Hebrew it is sometimes not present in a literal verb but it is implied in the other words of the verse. Here is my translation of Genesis 1:2:

And the land was without form and void, and darkness was upon the face of the deep, and the Spirit of God was moving over the face of the waters. 1.1.2.1

'upon the face of the deep' is a three word pair, or two linked word pairs, depending on how you want to look at it. 'Face' in this case can technically mean surface, but I prefer to use literal words in translations as often as possible, because this word for face usually refers to a human face, or humans looking at something, or facing something. God in this verse is definite, so the word pair of אַלהִים with אַלהִים means we need to add a 'the' in English for the English to make sense, making it 'The spirit of God'. 'over the face of the waters' is another 3 word pair and this time על seems to be better translated as 'over' instead of 'upon' because God is moving and not stationary.

By the way, I do not believe in the 'gap theory between Genesis 1:1 and 1:2, because there are many proofs that it is a continuation without a gap. I talk more about this gap theory in my book 'What is Truth?', because it is an on-topic subject in that book but not in this one.

8.4 Vocabulary 3	אוצר מילים				
	ה.ר.ג אֹהֶל		צאן	ש.ק.ה	
	tent	to kill	Sheep	To giv	e drink
	ה.ר.ה		א.מ.ר	א.ו.ר	אור
	To con	ceive	To say	To light	light

The vocabulary this time is less because there were many things covered this lesson that you will need to practice and memorize before the next lesson. I recommend that you make flashcards for these words, with the flashcards for the stems א.מ.ר and א.מ.ר Until the next

next lesson, practice writing Genesis 1:2 and practice your flashcards and maybe reread this chapter a few times to try to get all of the tidbits down well. שׁ.ק.ה will not be used in this book until much later, but it is a stem you will need to know. ה.ר.ג and ה.ר.ג are stems you will eventually need to know but not for a while. They are here just to ensure that you memorize them before the end of this book. צֹאֹן can also mean 'flock' and will not be used until later in this book. אֹהֶל can also mean 'tabernacle' and will not be used until much later in this book.

8.5 Extra Credit

I will probably never add an in-depth Verb Conjugation chart to this book. This is because it would mostly be useful for writing Biblical Hebrew, and not as often helpful for reading Biblical Hebrew. Once you know the grammar rules, you probably won't need to look at a chart unless if you want to know the exact vowels. Like I explained before, although the vowels can change the meaning of a word, we don't need to see them to understand what we are reading. The vowels mostly only help for reading out loud or speaking Hebrew, and that is not the main focus of the teaching of this grammar book.

There are some verbs forms that are not used for some stems in the Bible. So, people who make verb charts have to actually guess what the vowels for those verb forms would be, based on the vowel rules for other verb forms that are in the Bible. I do not have full confidence that these verb conjugation chart makers have chose the correct vowels. Although I have not found any 'errors' in the chart I used to use, I did not double check it either to see if there were errors. Anyway, If you want to make a 'verb' 'conjugation' flashcard for each Hebrew stem, it might help you. The main thing you should focus on is the letter patterns, and not so much the vowels. You can put the Hebrew stem on one side and then all of the different 'verb' spellings on the other side. There are usually about 9 different 'verb' spellings (or conjugations) for each stem, so leave space for about 5 lines of writing, with 2 columns. 1 column for the Perfect tense and one column for the imperfect tense which you will learn about later. So, the top line should be for first person which I will talk about later, then the middle two lines should be for 2nd person which I will talk about later, and the bottom two lines should be for 3rd person. You know the two 3rd person forms now for π . So you can write those now if you want on a new card.

Chapter 9 בי בין, Imperfect, and the reversing vav

9.1 The 3rd person imperfect

There is no exact 'future' tense in Hebrew, instead, what some people call the imperfect tense in Hebrew, covers things that are happening in the present and also things that will or might happen in the future. Essentially, you can think of it as things that are not yet perfected or finished or done. Masculine 3rd person singular for the imperfect form always has a 'prefix added.

I will not be describing the rules for the vowels yet, because right now its just important that you memorize the 'prefix. For the Feminine singular the 3rd person imperfect prefix is a n. The 'prefix is much more common, but you will see the feminine n prefix sometimes.

The 3rd person singular imperfect for ה.י.ה is יְהָיֶה for the masculine and הַהְיֶה for the feminine. For אָמֵר the forms are אָמֵר and האָמֵר. For the perfect form of אָמִר it is אָמֶרְה and ווּ אַמְרָה. If there is a prefix or another prefix attached to the same word, it can change the vowels from these default vowels. Don't worry about those vowel changes yet. It is not even essential that you memorize the vowels 100% for these different forms. The main thing is to memorize the stem letters and then memorize which prefixes and suffixes get added to each different verb form, and any special letter changes like what happens to the stem ה.י.ה, like when it's last ה changes to a ה.

Because א.ו.ר is not as common as a verb, I am actually not sure what the 'default' vowels are for it (and this is another reason why I will probably never make a detailed verb conjugation chart). It does follow standard rules for prefixes and suffixes though. Although verbs used from the stem א.ו.ר are not as common, there are many words that come from that stem that are more common, like light, lamp-stand, flame, and so forth. So it is important to know this stem, even if the verb vowels are not as important to memorize with this stem.

The plural 3rd person imperfect masculine has a suffix with a 'prefix, while the rare feminine has ה prefix and a בָּה suffix used only when the whole group being talked about is women, or if the word it is linked to is feminine. In very rare cases, like in 1 Kings 12:7 with the suffix is dropped and a qibbuts vowel is added to the last letter instead. This example is in the reversing-vav form, so that is why the vav i is there. You don't need to remember this rare example now, it is here for a reference only.

In Arabic, the same letter equivalents are used as prefixes for 3rd person singular imperfect verb conjugations as they are used in Hebrew. In Arabic the prefixes are the Yaa for masculine and the Taa for Feminine.

9.2 The Reversing Vav

It is very common for a grammar situation called a Reversing Vav (or consecutive or conversive vav) to happen when there is a 1 prefix that means 'and' or 'or' that is attached to a verb. Most of the time that you see a 1 prefix attached to a verb, it will be a reversing vav. The way you can know is by which vowels are under the vav, but if the vav is attached to a guttural letter, then you might not be able to know for sure unless by the context of the verse (because the vowels can be different for a 1 prefix if it is attached to a guttural letter).

If the first vowel of the word that the reversing vav is attached to is a sheva, then a chateph (reduced) vowel, then the reversing vav takes a matching non-sheva, non-reduced vowel under it. A n, and n will also change the reversing vav vowel into a shureq. These vowel rules also apply to the conjunction n and the other prepositional prefixes. It is not very often that an prefix is before a guttural letter, so don't worry about that. If the n before an imperfect verb has a patach of a qameits of then it is a reversing vav. If the vowel is anything else, then it is almost certainly not a reversing vav.

For now, until you learn about any exceptions, just assume it is a reversing vav if there is a ৃor a ৃunder that prefix for an imperfect verb. If a perfect verb has a prefix with a sheva ৃor a 'segol, then that means it is a reversing vav. If the vowel is anything else in that situation, assume that it is not a reversing vav. Anyway, what happens in the text is that, for example, something might look like it is talking about the future, but the reversing vav grammar changes the meaning to the past or present tense. This is a very common thing in the grammar and you should get used to it. For example, אָמֶר is a prefix attached to the stem אַמָּר which is in the 3rd person masculine singular imperfect form. It would have meant 'he will say', but because of the reversing vav having a patach ૃvowel, it changes the imperfect into perfect tense. So it then means 'he said'. If it was written as prefix attached to the said' it is a reversing vav, and it would mean 'he will say'.

9.3 Clipped words with 1 prefix

It is very common for the ה to drop off of a word when it is the last letter of a stem, and also has a reversing vav as a prefix to that word. Sometimes there are vowel changes also when the ה is dropped. So, for example, for ה.י.ה the normal 3rd person masculine singular imperfect form is יְהָיֶה but with a reversing vav added to it the final ה gets dropped off and the vowels get changed a bit in this special clipped form (also called Apocopated) as off another example, you would never see יִיְהִיה in a verse because the last ה of the stem will always be clipped when there is a reversing vav attached to the stem. But if the vowels looked something like this: יְיִהִיה then it would be acceptable for the last ה to be present because it is not a reversing vav (the vowel under the vav would have to be a patach or qameits).

If you are making stem flash cards with verb conjugations, on your flashcards for stems that end with the letter π , you should make a 6^{th} row on the back of it so that you can write on it the clipped form. The next vocabulary will have another stem that ends in a π

letter.

In very rare clipped forms with an x aleph as the first letter of the stem, the x can drop off of the clipped form like in 1 Samuel 28:24. In this case thee stem is x.z.x which means 'to bake'. In this clipped form, both the x and the last x drop off, and then a suffix is added which refers to the meat being added into the unleavened bread. I would translate the clipped form as "and she baked it". You do not need to memorize this stem x.z.x yet.

9.4 Verse 3

Here are the first two verses of Genesis that you have read, to give you more practice, along with verse 3 for you to try to translate. All of the grammar concepts learned in this lesson applies to verse 3 here:

Verse 3 has the normal beginning of 'God said' (This is a reversing vav here because of the patch _under the vav), but then there is the unexpected clipped form with no vav prefix.

יהי

The clipped form looks like this:

<u>וַיְהַי</u>

This was probably done to poetically mimic the normal clipped form in the last part of the verse, because words are not normally clipped when they don't have a vav prefix. This shows us another example of how God can do unexpected things in the text to show an emphasis to us, or to show us something important. here is my translation of verse 3:

And God said "There will be light", and there was light. 1.1.3.1

Notice that the subject in a sentence can be a place or thing. In this case for verse 3 it is light, a thing.

9.5 Vocabulary 4 with בין and בין

Try to practice writing the imperfect forms of the stems you learned, with and without reversing vavs, so that you get used to the concepts of the imperfect and the reversing vavs. When you write the imperfect forms of ה.י.ה, practice with the reversing vav and it's clipped form, and without a reversing vav. Here is the next set of vocabulary to memorize for the

next lesson:

ק.נ.ה	צ.ע.ק	י.ס.ף	ר.א.ה
to buy	to cry out	to increase	to see
כִּי	ב.ד.ל	בֵּין	טוֹב
because, that	to separate	between, among	good

The 3^{rd} person singular masculine forms for ר.א.ה are בְּאָהָ and the feminine forms are יִרְאָהָ and חַ הַּרְאָהָה. Notice how the π gets replaced by a π in the feminine perfect like it should, but the other forms do not follow normal patterns of normal vowels because of the guttural π and the final π .

Although 7.7.7 is definitely common enough for you to start memorizing now, it is not common enough for me to know the default vowels in its 3rd person forms. That is not a problem at all though, as you really don't need to know exact vowel spellings until you want to write in Biblical Hebrew in a fluent manner for others to read. And you don't really need to know the uncommon stem vowels because you only really need to focus on the vowels of the prefixes and suffixes and form patterns that change the meanings of verbs.

can sometimes also mean 'when' or 'if'. You can know what it means by the context of the verse. When it means 'when' or 'if', 'j is usually at the beginning of a verse. When it means 'that' or 'because', it is usually somewhere near the middle of the verse. This is not always the cause, because sometimes a verse starts out explaining something with 'because'. In 2 Samuel 23:19, there is an example of יָ with what appears to be a question מָ and it means 'most' as 'מָכִי' . In Modern Hebrew it can also mean 'best'.

בּין is another kind of comparison that means 'between' or 'among'. If there are two or more בִּין words in a verse, then each one means 'between', because it is comparing them. If there is only one בֵּין in a verse (which happens less often), then this means 'among' because the things being compared to are indefinite or too many to list out. So if a verse has something like "I make my covenant בֵּין wou and בֵּין me", then בֵּין means between, but if a verse says something like "You will live בֵין the children of Yisrael", then בֵּין means 'among'.

You should put these two words on new flashcards so that you can memorize them along with your other words. י.ס. can also mean 'to do again', and will not be used until later on in this book. מַקְנֶה is a common word that usually means 'cattle' and comes from the stem ק.נ.ה, but this word and stem will also not be used in this book until much later.

Vowels are rarely used in Modern Hebrew. Instead, 1, ', and κ are often added to help the reader to remember what the vowels for the word is.

Chapter 10 Stems, Two vowels, and Names

10.1 Are there stems with only 2 letters?

It is debatable whether or not two-letter stems exist in Hebrew. Some people believe that they do exist, but I do not. There are a few words, and only a few, that have only two letters and do not match a three-letter stem very well, or at all. vi means 'there is' and has no obvious connection to a three-letter stem. There could be an unknown stem that is not in the Bible that vi is connected to. That is one problem with these supposed two-letter stem words that people think might exist, they could just be connected to an unknown three-letter stem that is not in the Bible. Perhaps vi is connected to j.v. which means 'to sleep', or vi.t. vi.t. which means 'to change' but I doubt it really connects to either. Most of the time, these two letter words that are in question, could possibly match to a three-letter stem, but I myself have not matched them in my 'Counting Roots' dictionary in some cases because their meanings are just too different, which suggests there is an unknown three-letter stem.

Some people who also believe that the Hebrew language evolved and or was created by humans, also believe that the Hebrew word stem system started with only two-letter stem words. I do not believe this though, and I have explained why in my book "What is Truth?".

If two-letter stems do exist in Hebrew, then I believe it is a very rare and separated thing like the four-letter stems are. For example, there are only two four-letter stems that I know of, and only one of them has two words connected to them, while the other has no words connect to it's stem. Four-letter stems are a rare, almost non-important phenomenon, and if two-letter stems exist, I would say the same about them.

There is simply no reason to even worry about whether or not two-letter stems exist. For example, if they do exist, I don't see any real information from it that would help you with any other Hebrew language concept. If they do exist, there would only be a few, and they would rarely come up in discussions or commentaries, and again, it really wouldn't matter.

One way to help you remember the meaning of word stems is when there is a meaning link between two very similar Hebrew stems. This link happens with י.ע.ל (to profit) to י.ע.ל (to be content or willing) and א.ש.ר (to be blessed or happy) to ע.ש.ר which means 'to be wealthy'. The links in these two pairs are even related to each other, in that happiness comes before wealth, because in both cases, the א stem has the meaning of content or happiness while the y stem (much later in the AlephBet) has the meaning of wealth or profit. I have seen other links like this between similar stems, perhaps eventually I will list them here.

10.2 Two vowels on one letter?

I have talked already about how the name of God is written, and how it has two vowels on it's vav 1. In September of 2018 I came across two words right next to each other

in Deuteronomy 20:17. These two words are אָרָּ יְהֹוָה and mean "Yehovah command you" when read by themselves. I previously thought that the name of God was the only word in Hebrew that had two vowels, but this verse might prove otherwise (perhaps it is just a dagesh on a Vav though). Also, as I look at the word אָרָּךְּ, I know that these kind of 'so-and-so commanded you' statements are not uncommon in the Bible. So, this exact word is probably in other places in the Bible. I have probably seen them and just didn't notice the two vowels on the vav 1. Vav is the only letter that I have seen that can have two vowels on it.

10.3 The names of animals, places, and people

Most Hebrew words come directly from a three letter stem. Some of the prepositions are exceptions, but even some of them come directly from stems. Another exception is the names of most animals. Some animal names have the same three letters as some stems, but this rarely means they come from that stem. Most animal names are either four letters long and do not fit into a stem at all, or they use three letters where a stem does not exist in the Bible that corresponds to those three letters. I believe that this phenomenon is directly because God allowed Adam to name the animals. I am not saying that Adam made a mistake, but his method definitely did not follow the three letter stem system that pretty much all of Hebrew follows.

Anyway, when you see a word that does not start with a מ or ח letter (because nouns can often come from a stem then have an added מ or ח), and it does not end in a feminine π or a plural prefix, and it has more than 3 letters, then it is most likely the name of an animal type or the name of a place or person. A few musical instruments fall into this category also. One clear sign that the word is the name of a person is if it ends in the letters מוֹ like 'Isaiah', 'Obadiah', and other prophet names. This is because names have meanings, and can often refer to God like when מוֹ יִנ is in the name (Yah, the short name for God).

It is not uncommon for the names of places to be two words without a maaqef between them. For example 'Bethlehem' is actually two words בֵּית לָחֶם without a maaqef – between them, and this can be confusing the first time you encounter it if you do not realize it is a city name, because you might literally think the verse is talking about a 'house of bread'.

10.4 Verse 4

Here are the first 3 verses of Genesis that you know, along with the 4th verse which has some of the new vocabulary you started to memorize since the last lesson:

וְרוּחַ אֱלֹהִים מְרַחֶפֶת עַל-פְּנֵי הַמַּיִם: moving

:גַיּאמֶר אֱלהִים יְהִי אוֹר וַיְהִי-אוֹר

ד וַיַּרָא אֱלֹהִים אֶת-הָאוֹר כִּי-טוֹב וַיַּרְדֵּל אֱלֹהִים בֵּין הָאוֹר וּבֵין הַחֹשֶׁךְ:

At the beginning of verse 4, אָדָא is not only in the clipped form because of it's final hey הו letter, but it is also a reversing vav ו (which is required if it is going to be clipped also), And it means 'And God saw', because God is the subject. יַב means 'that' here because it makes more sense in the context that God was seeing that the light was good, and it wouldn't make sense to say that 'God saw the light 'because' it was good'. Instead of 'And God separated', it sounds better in English to say 'And God made separation between'. Sometimes when a stem is used in the 3rd person imperfect, it can be in a special 'causative' form but in a clipped way, as to not be easy to detect. Don't worry about that now though. בין here means 'between' because there are two of them, and it means 'between the light, and between the darkness.

10.5 Vocabulary 5	אוצר מילים			
	XIL	ר.ע.ה	ק.ר.א	יום
	ear	to shepherd	to call or read	day
	לִילָה	עֶרֶב	בֿקר	אָחָד
	night	evening	morning	one

The masculine 3rd person forms for אָרָא are אָרָא and the feminine forms are אָרָא. All of the words in this vocabulary are very common, and the stem אָרָא usually means to 'call' somebody or 'to 'proclaim' something, but can (rarely) mean to 'read' something. Try to learn these words decently before the next lesson, and practice writing them and the other words you have been learning. אָתָּר can also be spelled as אָתָּר, and when a verse is talking about two different people or things, sometimes אָתָּר can mean 'other', as in, 'the one and the other' instead of translating it as 'the one and the one'. רע.ה as a noun can mean 'neighbor' or 'fellow' בְּעַ '. It will not be used until later on in this book. אָנָן comes from the stem אָרָּוּר. which means 'to give ear' (listen) and will also not be used until much later in this book.

כתיב and אָת and אָת and כתיב and כתיב and כתיב

11.1 The ל prefix

The eta prefix usually means 'to' as in going somewhere or 'for'. Less often it can mean 'because', 'according to', 'against', 'by', or even 'of'. It can also be attached to a name and then it means that that person 'owns' something being mentioned in the verse. In the Psalms it is common for the first verse to say that it is a Psalm of David by attaching a eta prefix to David's name in the Hebrew Verse. For example this means 'A Psalm of David':

מִזְמוֹר לְדָוִד

Usually if the prefix has a sheva then it is indefinite and would be translated as 'to a place' or 'for a person'. If it has a patach or a qameits then it is probably definite and would be translated as 'to the place' or 'for the person'. Basically, the definite and the new prepositional prefix adopts the same vowel that was under the definite and. This is not always the case because guttural letters and other grammar can change vowels to be something other than what we expect, but it usually is the case where you can tell if the prefix is indefinite or definite by what it's vowel is.

If the vowel under the first letter of the word that the prepositional prefix is attaching to is a sheva, then the vowel under the newly added prepositional prefix is probably going to be a Chireq. If it was a 'that had a sheva 'then the sheva drops off because when a chireq vowel is before a ', there is almost never a vowel on that '. <u>Do not worry about memorizing all of these vowel rules now.</u>

The ¬prefix and others also follows the same vowel rules, so you can tell if the ¬prefix is definite or indefinite usually also. For example, ¬would be 'in a *place*' and ¬would be 'In the *place*'. In rare times like the ¬prefix in Genesis 1:1, the prefix can appear as being indefinite because of the sheva vowel, but we translate it as 'In the beginning' instead of 'In a beginning' because 'beginning' refers to the beginning of the creation week (in my belief anyway). So we know which beginning is being talked about, which basically makes it definite by context.

Anyway, it is usually easy to recognize if the 7 prefix is declaring ownership of something or if it means 'to' or 'for', or whatever, because of the context of the verse or the verses nearby.

11.2 עב preposition and אָת

עם means 'with' usually but can sometimes mean other things like 'by' or even 'against'. means 'with' also, but is less common than עם. On rare occasions, even the Direct Object Markers (DOM) אָת and אַת can mean 'with'. Both of these prepositions can have possessive suffixes like אָל and other prepositions. 'With me' can have a special spelling with a 7

added like this: עָמֶּדִי. The other one does not get a ז and looks like this: עָמֶּדִי. 'With us' is עָמֶּדִּנ מחל יאָתָּר אָתְּד אָתְּד אָתְּד אָתְּד אָתְּד אָתְּד אַתְּד אַתְּ אַתְּד אָתְּד אָתְּד אַתְּד אַתְּד אָתְּד אָתְּד אָתְּד אָתְּי אַתְּי אַתְּי אַתְּי אַתְּי אַתְּד אָתְיּד אָּתְי אַתְּי אַתְּי אַתְּי אַתְּי אַתְּי אַתְּי אַתְּי אַתְּי אַתְי אַתְּי אַתְּי אַתְּי אַתְּי אַתְּי אַתְי אַתְּי אַתְּי

Some teachers have written out the vowels for the feminine plural forms, but I wanted to verify the exact spelling in the Tanakh before I put it here, and I was not able to find them yet, and I forget to look for them to write them here when I read the Tanakh daily. If I searched out every time 'with you' is used in the Bible, I could probably find it, but it would be a chore for sure. Anyway, the feminine forms are obvious when you see them, the vowels are not that important. There is debate as to why either א or "עם is used in a verse, and so I have not found a definite answer as to which one to use at any time. They are both used a lot in the Tanakh. One theory is that א cannot be contrary, as in 'against' or 'versus', while עם be. I am not sure about this, because I would not be surprised if א has been used in contrary meanings. These two prepositions described in this paragraph will not be used until much later in this book, but you should still try to memorize them before then.

It could also be that when we see אָת- in the text, it may not be a DOM but instead could be the "with" preposition with the same exact spelling as the DOM instead of the expected - אַת. I am not sure which way of seeing this is correct, but as long as we understand that -אַת can sometimes mean "with", (and other related meanings for that preposition) then we are going to get the same, correct translation. Genesis 4:1 in the Hebrew of the Tanakh is a good example of the "with" or "from" type of prepositional translation for -אַת-.

11.3 Qere כתיב and Ketiv כתיב

One reason why I like the Letteris Hebrew Text of the Bible is because it does not have inserted qere words into the text, and the ketiv words were not changed like in most Hebrew texts. Qere is a transliteration that comes from the stem ४.٦.٦ which you know can mean 'to read'. Qere is what the modern 'scribes' think should actually be read or read out loud, while they think the ketiv words should not be read out lout as they are because they are 'errors' or 'too hard to pronounce'. The transliteration ketiv comes from כ.ת.ב which means 'to write', and so they call the actual written words that they think are 'errors' or 'too difficult to pronounce' ketiv (written) words.

It is your choice what kind of Hebrew text you want to read, and if you want to read ketiv or qere. I just wanted you to understand what is going on in some Hebrew texts. Ruth 3:5 has a good example of how some Tanakh printers and editors change the Hebrew text to add words when they think there is an error or missing word. Some have added אַנְשֶׁה without vowels in this verse before the word אֵנֶשֶׁה because they think there is a missing word here. There is no need for extra words in this verse, the verse makes sense as it is.

The Letteris Hebrew Tanakh that I use did not add any words in the Hebrew verse of

Ruth 3:5, which is one of the many reasons why I like the Letteris version. We have been commanded not to add to or take away from the text of the Bible. I don't trust versions that add text, even if it is meant to act like a comment. The Letteris version does have an added * marking that it commonly puts above letters to show that there is something unusual about that word or letter. It is basically like a cantillation marking, and this marking could have even been in the Original writings of Mosheh. There are also two vowels added by the Letteris version here, but there are no added letters. What I mean is, instead of letters, the Letteris version has *_i instead. So it technically did not add any words or letters (which is good). It does seem that the Letteris version editor (Meir) did think that there was supposed to be a word here, and that is why he probably put it the vowels here, which is not good, but at least they are not letters like other versions add. It could be that even the original writing of Mosheh had vowels here with no letters also, but I doubt it.

11.4 Verses 1-5

Here are the first five verses of Genesis so that you can practice them and so that you can try to translate verse 5 now with your new vocabulary:

:אַרָא אָלהִים אַת הַשָּׁמַיִם וְאֵת הָאָרֶץ

ב וְהָאָרֶץ הָיְתָה תֹהוּ וָבֹהוּ וְחֹשֶׁךְ עַל-פְּנֵי תְהוֹם וְרוּחַ אֱלֹהִים מִרַחֵפֵת עַל-פִּנֵי הַמַּיִם:

ג וַיּאמֶר אֱלֹהִים יְהִי אוֹר וַיְהִי-אוֹר:

ד ניַרָא אֱלֹהִים אֶת-הָאוֹר כִּי-טוֹב נַיַּבְדֵּל אֱלֹהִים בֵּין הָאוֹר וּבֵין הַחֹשֶׁךְ:

הַ וַיִּקְרָא אלהִים לָאוֹר יוֹם וְלַחֹשֶׁךְ קָרָא לִילָה

וַיָהִי-עָרֵב וַיִּהִי-בֹקֵר יוֹם אֵחָד: פ

Notice the 5 at the end of verse 5, here it signifies the end of this 'paragraph' or subject in Genesis. In this case it signifies the end of the first day, and the next 'paragraph' will be for the second day, which you will see as you practice reading it. Notice the 'prefix on which in this case is definite because of the so we know it means 'the light'. The 'prefix here technically means 'for' but you can also leave it out of the translation and just translate 'the light'. The same thing happens here with 'the darkness', which is also definite because of the patach under the 'prefix.

Notice that all of the 1 prefixes attached to verbs in this verse are reversing vavs, but the 1 for the darkness is not a reversing vav, because it is an adjective and not a verb. Here we also have a literal 24 hour period, because both the evening and morning happened.

Notice that the Evening happened first, this is one of the reasons why people who

observe the 7th day weekly sabbath start to observe it when it gets dark. Even though the words for evening and morning in the verse are indefinite, they are the evening and morning of the first day, which is definite, so by context, I translate evening and morning as definite with the word 'the' for each.

I'm going to start leaving out the 'cheating' English words for verse 2, its no problem at all if you need to look those words up if you keep forgetting them. Either you will remember them or you wont, don't worry about it, because they are not common words. This will happen as you read the Hebrew Bible, where sometimes you forget an uncommon word, and you either look it up or because of the context of the verse you remember what that uncommon word means. Here is my translation of verse 5:

And God proclaimed the light "Day", and for the darkness he proclaimed "Night", and there was the morning of the first day. 1.1.5.1

11.5 Vocabulary 6 אוצר מילים ר.ב.ץ מנחה 77 to lay down offering end אַשר בתוד תחת כַן In the midst that, which under, instead thus, so

These are the vocabulary words for you to memorize before the next lesson. שנשמון usually means 'thus', 'so', or 'this' but on rare occasions in the Bible it can mean 'yes' or 'it is so'. אַתַּה pretty much always means 'underneath' or 'instead of'. אַשֶּׁר can mean many things such as 'who', 'about', 'when' and even more things, but it usually means 'that' or 'which'. It can also have prefixes which change its meaning a bit. For example, בּאַשֶּׁר can mean 'When' or 'as'. שְּׁמָה means 'in the midst' pretty much every time it is used. אַדָּה is the feminine form of אָדָה and also means 'end' usually but sometimes 'edge'. אין will not be in this book until later on. מְּנָהָה comes from the stem בּוֹלוּה which means 'to rest' in the sense that something was left somewhere to rest or to cause rest. It and אונו. אין will also not be used until later in this book.

Chapter 12 מ prefix, participles, and הַּפְעִיל

12.1 The מ prefix

The prefix follows the rules of definite or indefinite just like the other prefixes that you learned, but the prefix usually means 'from' or 'among' Sometimes it can mean 'some' or 'of'. The context of the verse usually makes it very clear which translation you should use. Some nouns or words have an added p to it which is not the same thing as this prefix. In those cases the p can be added when a stem becomes a participle, or a noun, or for other reasons which you will learn. As you continue learning, it is important to know the stems of words, and to get used to how the prefix is usually attached, so that you can differentiate between the prefix, participles, and nouns. Don't worry about this, it is easier to recognize them than it sounds. Sometimes the prefix is used to compare two or more things, and in this case the prefix pretty much always means 'more than'. I will explain that in more detail when we have a verse to look at that has a comparison like that in it. For now I want us to focus on Genesis verse by verse, because it is the best way to learn Bible Hebrew. When a prepositional prefix is attached to a word, it usually gets a Chireq vowel and then adds a dagesh to the next letter like this p, but when the next letter is a guttural letter, the p gets a tsere vowel like this p with no dagesh on the next letter.

12.2 Participles

Participles come from a stem and they only adhere to plurality and gender to match the other needed words in a verse. They do not have the first, second, or third person 'conjugation' like verbs have. There are a few types of participles, and they all can have plural suffixes attached to them and sometimes a notation can be added at the beginning, or a notation off of the stem because participles follow the same rules for letter dropping as verbs do. Essentially, each of the five verb forms can be turned into participles (more about the five forms later, and even some people believe that there are seven or eight verb forms).

There are two main types of participles, which can each be used for any verb form. 'Active' participles get a cholem vowel ਂ or a cholem vav i added between the first and second letter of a stem like this אוֹא and it usually means 'somebody who does א.א.א' or 'something that does א.א.א' where א.א.א is the meaning of the stem. You could think of it as the action participle. So if it was בּוֹרְלָּ then it would mean 'somebody' or 'something that separates (this is called an agentive word by some, but who needs fancy latinized words?).

'Passive' participles have an added \circ or \circ vowel between the 2^{nd} and 3^{rd} letters of the stem like this אאוא and acts like an adjective to describe other words. You could think of it as the descriptive participle. So if the word was לול then it would mean that something is 'separate'. It is very common in Hebrew words for a vav with a vowel like the \circ or \circ of the word and be replaced with a \circ or a \circ vowel. Words that are spelled with those

vowels can often change to or from having a letter. The same thing happens in words with the when it has a vowel before it. Sometimes the Chireq is there with no after it, and sometimes the is after it, because it is also interchangeable.

Participles do not have a fixed perfect or imperfect tense, so they can be in either tense (remember that both imperfect and perfect include the 'present' tense). It is common for a participle to use these 'present' tenses, so if the stem is 5.7.7, a passive participle of that stem could mean 'separating' if the verse implies a present tense. The tense of a participle can be realized by the context of the verse or the nearby verses.

זקפעיל 12.3

The 'normal' forms of verbs and participles you have learned so far have been in the form (some teachers call the פָּעֵל form the Qal form). Some teachers also call these different forms 'paradigms' but I prefer the easier word 'form'. פֿ.ע.ל as a stem means to perform (but you don't need to memorize this now), so that is why the classifications of the different types of verbs use the פֿ.ע.ל stem for its names.

Some teachers (mostly for Modern Hebrew I think) also vary in their teaching methods here, and use ל.ש.ל as the word to represent verb conjugations. Because ל.ש.ל means 'to kill', I find it more positive to use ל.ש.ל as a verb conjugation and verb type label. This stem ל.ש.ל is only used in the Bible 10 times so it is not even a word that needs to be memorized, but ל.ש.ל is a stem that students should eventually memorize anyway, so why not use it instead of ל.ש.ל? Perhaps ל.ש.ל was chosen because it does not have a gutteral, drop, or beged Kephet letter in it's stem. Some teachers also use ל.ש.ל for the same reasons and maybe because the meaning is not as negative.

The next form you will need to learn is the הָפְעִיל form, which instead of just going with the stem definition of the stem that is used, the הָפְעִיל form changes the meaning into a causative meaning. So if the stem is ב.ד.ל, the שִׁב meaning would be 'to separate', but the form would mean 'to cause separation'. One of the main differences in the הַפְּעִיל form meanings is that the subject (a person or thing) might not actually be the one doing the action (verb), but instead, the subject is the one that is causing the action to happen. This can happen when a king, for example, orders a person to be put in prison. The king didn't actually put a person in prison himself, but the king did cause a person to be put in a prison, because the king's orders.

When a stem uses the הַפְּעִיל form, most of the vowels change because of the added π to the beginning of the word and the added ' in between the 2^{nd} and 3^{rd} letters of the stem. The main clue that a word is in the הַּפְּעִיל form is the ' in the stem and the vowel before it that is changed to a chireq like this הַפְּעִיל, where the π letters are the letters of the stem being used. Sometimes the π gets dropped off of the beginning of a הַפְּעִיל word, so you cannot always look for the π to identify it. The vowels of the הַפְּעִיל form can vary depending on many things, but they are not important now. The important thing to remember is that the ' that was

added in the הַפְּעִיל form usually stays there, and usually does not get dropped.

In clipped forms of the הָפְעִיל, both the ה and the ' get dropped, so you have to use verse context to know if it is in the הָפְעִיל form. This is not too common, so don't worry. Anyway, participles can also be in the פַּעל or any other form also, including the הְפְעִיל form. When a stem is in the passive participle of the הְפָעִיל form, instead of a added to the beginning of the word, a material gets added, and then the normal ' of the הְפָעִיל form gets added in between the 2nd and the 3rd letters of the stem. The meaning of the participle in that case also gets changed to a causative meaning. So, for the stem ב.ד.ל the הַבְּעִיל passive participle would be הַבְּעִיל Don t worry too much about הַבְּעִיל forms for now, just try to focus on the passive participle for now, as that will be in the verses for this lesson.

I have found that there are a few nouns that tend to follow the הַפְעִיל kind of verb pattern with the Chireq vowel and the 'in-between the 2nd and 3rd stem letter of the stem. It seems that if one looks at some of these nouns as a causative form, as in, a person place or thing that causes something to happen, it can often help to explain the word meaning. Three examples of these kinds of nouns are the words נָבִיא (prophet), נְבִיץ (ruler), and נְבִיץ (captain). The stems have the meanings of 'to prophesy' (נַבַבא), to tell (נַבַּב,), and to lift (נַב, עַב,). In all three cases these are people who prophesy, tell others to do things, or are lifted up over others. This ' phenomenon with these nouns once again confirms the accuracy of the grammar relating to the הַפְּעִיל verb forms.

12.4 Verses 6 and 7

Verse 6 starts the second day of the creation week in Genesis, so I will start this lesson off fresh and leave out the verses for the first day. המים means 'expanse' or 'firmament' and is not common enough for you to memorize yet, so just use this as a 'cheat' when you read these verses and don't worry about memorizing the word. You already learned the stem ב.ד.ל which means to separate. In verse 6, you will have your first participle practice and in verse 7 you will have your first practice. In verse 6, look for the stem ב.ד.ל that will be in a participle form, and try to translate it. This will show you the value of knowing what a stem means, and then being able to know what the forms of the stem mean, verses just mindlessly memorizing every word with every spelling variation possible. When you see a prefix attached to by it means 'above', or literally 'from on' (but that makes less sense in English). The very last of verse 6 is uncommon, so don't worry if you don't get it right the first time.

וּ וַיּאמֶר אֱלֹהִים יְהִי רָקִיעַ בְּתוֹךְ הַמָּיִם וִיהִי מַבְדִּיל בֵּין מַיִם לְמָיִמ: זֹ וַיַּעשׁ אֱלֹהִים אֶת-הָרָקִיעַ וַיַּבְדֵּל בֵּין הַמַּיִם אֲשֶׁר מִתַּחַת לָרָקִיעַ וּבִין הַמַּיִם אֲשֶׁר מֵעַל לָרָקִיעַ וַיִּהִי-כֵן:

The last part of verse 6 is unique in the Bible, and it can be translated a couple different ways. Literally it means "and it will cause separation between waters by waters', but that is not the best English, so, inserting a 'both' in the English translation (because there

are two 'waters' mentioned) helps the verse to make more sense. In Verse 7, based on the context, it makes sense for ב.ד.ל to be in the הָפְעִיל imperfect (with a reversing vav) which clips the ' off and drops the ה from the הָפְעִיל form, so that it is not obvious that it is in the הָפִעִיל form. Here is my translation below:

And God said "There will be *an* expanse in the midst of the waters, and separation will be between *both* waters." 1.1.6.1

And God made the expanse, and he caused separation between the waters that *were* underneath the expanse, and between the waters that *were* above the expanse, and it was so.

1.1.7.1

12.5 Vocabulary 7 אוצר מילים

Here are a few new words for you to put on flashcards and memorize before the next lesson:

	דָם	חַלֶב	בְּכוֹר
	blood	fat	firstborn
שׁבִי	אֶל	מָקוֹם	י.ב.ש
Second	to	place	to dry up

שׁבִּי has a chireq ִ vowel in it to signify that it is in the ordinal form $(1^{st}, 2^{nd}, 3^{rd}, etc)$, but most of the ordinal words for numbers have two chireq vowels and one or more added letters to let you know that it is ordinal (you will see more of these ordinal words in the next lessons). One אָקָּד does not have an ordinal form, but אָקָּד itself can mean first.

אָל usually means 'to' or 'toward', as in, going 'to' a place. It is the separate word form of the ל prefix, but the ל prefix is far more complex and has more meaning possibilities. For example, when the ל prefix is used for ownership, it essentially means that the object is 'to' or 'toward' the owner. My point is just to say that even the ל prefix can mean 'to'. אַל often has a maaqef – after it to link it into a word pair with the word that it is before (the place the subject is going to).

קקוֹם means place and comes from the stem ק.ו.ם which means 'to rise up' (this is a common stem but you don't need to learn it yet). Interestingly enough, sometimes when a מ is added to a word to make it a noun or adjective, it can literally mean 'place'. So if you add a מ to a stem that means 'to buy', then the word with the added מ could mean 'a place of buying'. Anyway, מְּקוֹם literally means 'a place of rising up', but in translations, it is best to just use 'place'.

י.ב.ש י.ב.ש י.ב.ש י.ב.ש means to dry up. It is not all that common but it is worth memorizing, and it will be in the next lesson. אַכּוֹר will not be used in this book until later on. אַכָּוֹר can also rarely mean 'best' and is also not used until later in this book. אַכּוֹר will also not be used until later on in this book.

עד and עד, letter duplication, נְפְעֵל and עד

נְפְעַל 13.1

The next two verses in Genesis use a נְפְעֵל form, but you do not need to master that form yet. But just to give you a basic understanding of the form, I will explain it here. The verb pattern basically has an added נְפְעֵל to put it in the 'passive' form which adds the sense of 'being' to a verb. The vowels are different in the נְפְעֵל form. For example, if the stem אָמֵר in the נְפְעֵל form, it would look like נְּמְעֵל in the 3rd person masculine singular and mean 'it was said' or 'he was saying'. Instead of the subject doing the action like in the נְפַעַל form, the נְפַעַל form usually has the subject being acted on.

Once again, the vowel patterns of this form are not that important to memorize, because it is more important to look for the signs that tell you when a word is in the נְפְעֵל form. In the perfect form of the נְפְעֵל, the י stays, so it is much easier to recognize, but in the imperfect forms, the i drops off. In those imperfect forms, when the i drops off, it does add a dagesh to the letter after it. This dagesh is the clue you need to look for in the imperfect verb forms. The two times where you might not see this dagesh in the imperfect forms of the נְפְעֵל is when the first letter of the stem is a guttural, and when this form is also in the clipped form (reversing vav also is needed for the clipped form).

13.2 Letter duplication

Sometimes when a noun or word is formed from a stem, it will get extra, duplicated letters added to it. It is not common, but it is a widely recognized phenomenon. יָרַקּרֶק is a good example of this that means 'greenish' (first time in Leviticus 13:49) and comes from the same stem as other words that mean 'green' or 'green thing'. The stem is יִר. עור. אוני which means 'to spit', but all of the words that come from it have something to do with 'green' or something growing that is 'green'. This phenomenon does not change the stem meanings.

An example of a verb conjugation duplication of a stem is in 1 Kings 17:4 with the stem לַכַלְּכָּלְהָ Some people call this the "pilpel" verb form, but I disagree that it is a different verb form, instead I think it uses an existing verb form and then duplicates the stem letters.

It seems that the "weak" drop letter at the center of the stem gets dropped, but if the stem has no "weak" letter then there is no letter loss.

עוד and עד 13.3

The word עד in the Hebrew Bible means 'until' or 'as far as'. On rare occasions it can mean 'even' or other things. It has a look alike word and the main way to recognize it is with the i of עד which means 'again', 'another', 'yet', 'still', or 'more'. עד and עד are both very

common words in the Bible verses, so even though they will not be in this lesson, you will need to know them. עוֹד can also have possessive suffixes to say things like 'still you' or 'I again', and so forth. Exodus 9:2 is an example of a suffix on this word.

13.4 Verse 8 and 9

Verse 9 has an uncommon נְפְעֵל form in the imperfect tense, so I will just tell you what it means. Look for the dagesh as the clue of it being in the נָפְעֵל form. יְקוּוֹ means 'it will be gathered' in verse 9 below.

The ל prefix on רָקִיעַ is not translated into English in this case in order for it to sound right, but in a literal sense, the ל prefix means 'for' here. Notice the use of the maaqef - after the אֶל in verse 9. The word הַיִּבְשָׁה gives us a clue that it is a thing and not a verb because of the definite article ה and the ending feminine ה. It comes from the stem י.ב.' which means to dry up and it literally means 'the dry place'. תַּרָאָה refers to the 'dry land' and means 'the dry land will be seen'.

אוצר מילים

And God called the expanse "Sky", and there was the evening, and there was the morning of the second day 1.1.8.1

And God said "The waters will be gathered from under the sky to one place, and the dry *ground* will be seen": and it was so. 1.1.9.1

13.5 Vocabulary 8

Here is the vocabulary for the next lesson:

_	עָפָר	Ÿ	ז.ר.	עץ
dus	st	To s	sow	wood
פ.ר.ה		ע.ש.ה	מין	עַעָּב
to be fruitful		to make	kind	herb

מין means 'kind' as in a type of a thing or a species. It comes from the stem מ.נ.ה which means 'to count'. מ.ע.שׁ.ה means to do or to make something. פ.ר.ה means to be fruitful and as a noun it can mean fruit, like the word פָּרִי means fruit. עָיָר can mean 'tree' or 'wood', as in a piece of a tree. עַבָּר means to sow, and as a noun it usually means 'seed'. עַבָּר will not be used until much later in future lessons but it is a common word and is important to know.

Chapter 14 3rd person Poss. Suffix, Imperfect drop letters, אוֹ

14.1 3rd person ownership (Pronomial) suffix

You have learned how to add a \field prefix to a word to show that that person or thing has ownership over something else, and how the \field prefix can mean other things as well. Another way to show ownership over something is to add a suffix depending on the gender and number of the subject, and depending on if the subject is in the 1^{st} , 2^{nd} or 3^{rd} person.

For now, the next verses in Genesis only requires the 3rd person singular, so I will show you those forms now. If the subject is Masculine, a i cholem-vav is added as a suffix, and if the subject is feminine, then a ה is added as a suffix (and it has a qameits ָ on the letter before the suffix אָה usually). In very rare situations, the masculine suffix can be a ה with a cholem before it, so it looks like this: אָה (it has the same sound as i). So, for example, וְרְעוֹ would mean 'his seed' or 'it's seed' because דְרֵעוֹ in this case means 'seed' (from the stem זור.ע to sow). Literally it means 'something that is sown', but the best translations translate it as seed.

The prefixes like ½, ½, and ½ can also act as a stand-alone 'word' when it has a suffix also. They can have these suffixes that are like these ownership suffixes. For example, ½ means 'on it', 'on him', 'by him', 'about him', or other similar things depending on the context of the verse. These 'words' are not 'real' Hebrew words, and probably wont be found in the dictionary you use because they really are just a prefix and a suffix fused together to make a compressed, temporary 'word'. In uncommon cases the 3rd person masculine singular possessive suffix can be ¾ like it will be in the next lesson.

Like the prefixes that you may have made flashcards for, you might want to also make flashcards for these ownership suffixes that you will be learning. This ownership suffix can also be called a pronomial Suffix. You will learn about plural suffixes in the next chapter, but as a reference, I will explain a few rules about these pronomial suffixes regarding plural suffixes.

When these suffixes are attached to a noun or word that has a plural י suffix already on it, then the is dropped and the chireq that was before the is changed depending on what the vowels of the new suffix that is being added are (2 Kings 1:10 has two of these plural examples). When these pronomial suffixes get attached to a word that has a plural feminine הו ending, then a is added to the הו first to make in, then the normal possessive suffix is added. The vowel under the independs on what suffix is being added. Again, it is not important to know all of these vowel changes unless you will be writing or speaking Biblical Hebrew to other people.

In Arabic, a Ha can be used as a masculine singular possessive suffix in the 3rd person (which is like Hebrew suffixes for rare masculine situations). The feminine form of this suffix has both a Ha and an Alif.

14.2 First letter dropping from the stem in the imperfect form

Letter dropping is a common occurrence in Hebrew. Some people call these letters "weak" letters בָּהָשָׁלִים but I do not like that term. When a stem with an א, ל, ה, ל, ה, ל, ה, ל, ה, ל, ה but I do not like that term. When a stem with an detail as the first letter is in the imperfect form, that first letter drops off of the stem and gets replaced (these stems in the imperfect form can be called Drop Letter Imperfects). For stems that start with one of these letters, you should try to memorize them well enough so that you can recognize the stems when the first letter is dropped off of it.

The perfect forms of the הפְעִיל would be הוֹצִיאָה and הוֹצִיאָה. Yod ' and Vav ' can also drop from the center letter of a stem, and ה can drop from the last letter of a stem, but I have explained more fully about those situations in other places in this book.

In Ruth 1:14 there is an example of two letters dropping from a 3rd-person imperfect verb with the first word וַהְשֶּׁנְה . This comes from the stem אַ.שֹּ.ש which means 'to lift'. It has a reversing-Vav, and is thus like a clipped form, and that is probably the reason for dropping of the last stem letter א , which normally would not get dropped.

Frist letter ל stems only have it's ל drop off of some imperfect verbs, and never from a perfect verb as far as I have seen. ל.ק.ה (to take) for example loses it's ל in all of it's imperfect forms, but שׁ.ב.שׁ (to wear) never loses it's ז' in any form.

Arabic grammar has two kinds of verbs, solid and weak. An Arabic weak verb has an Alif (or Hamza), Waw, or a Yaa in one or more of it's stem letters. A Solid verb does not have any Alifs, Waws, or Yaas in it's stem letters. Although Hebrew does have similar letters that can drop off of it's verbs, I do not consider any Hebrew verbs or stems as being 'weak'. Some Hebrew teachers do teach this concept of a 'weak' or 'hollow' Hebrew verb, but I disagree with the term. It is simply a grammar rule where sometimes a letter drops off of a stem and then sometimes other grammar rules are additionally applied. It does not mean that the word or verb or stem is 'weak' or has any 'weakness'.

14.3 או 'conjunction'

In the Hebrew Bible, in means 'or' or 'either'. If there is a x' in the verse, then it can mean 'neither' or 'nor'. It is not a very common word but it is a word you will need to know. It is also not in this lesson. The conjunctional prefix can also mean 'or' sometimes.

14.4 Verse 10 and 11

The stem א.ש. in verse 11 is not used very much in the Bible so I will just give you the meaning here and you should not worry about memorizing it. It means 'to sprout' and as a noun it can mean 'grass'. The prefix '> can on rare occasions mean 'after', like it does in verse 11.

It can be tricky sometimes to know exactly where to put a comma in an English translation of Hebrew, but the context of the verses will guide you.

מַזְרֵיע is a participle of ז.ר.ע in the הָפְעִיל form which means 'producing seed' or 'causing sowing'. זָרַע is a noun from the same stem meaning 'seed'.

פרי is from the stem פֿר.ה. and it means 'fruit'. This noun has a dropped final π which is replaced by a '. Remember that sometimes the final π of a letter can drop off and be replaced by a π when it is in the feminine form. This is kind of similar, and final π letters can be replaced by a ' in other situations also which I will describe later.

עּשֶּה is an active participle which literally means '*one* who makes' or 'a thing making'. אין is קאינוֹ with a prefix and a possessive suffix meaning 'after it's kind'.

זְרְעוֹ-בּוֹ is paired with a maaqef because both have possessive endings for the same object, and it means 'it's seed in itself'. Here is my translation:

And God called the dry *place* "Land", and the gathered waters he called "Seas", and God saw that *it was* good. 1.1.10.1

And God said "The land will sprout grass, herbs producing seed, seeds of a fruit tree making fruit after its kind, that has it's seed in itself, on the land": and it was so. 1.1.11.1

14.5 Vocabulary 9 אוצר מילים

Here is the vocabulary for the next Lesson:

עָׂדָה	۲.۲.۶	רְבִיעִי	ישָלִישִי
field	to go out	fourth	third
נְחָשׁ	אוֹת	י.ע.ד	שָׁנִים

a serpent a sign to appoint years

is a very common word from י.ע.ד which means 'appointed times', but I also wanted you to learn its important stem, so that is why I put the stem above.

שָׁנִים comes from the stem שׁ.נ.ה which means 'to change', but it is not too common so it is up to you if you want to learn that stem. שָׁנָה is the singular form which means 'year'.

רְבִיעִי is not used in the next lesson but it is a word you need to know. It's א gets dropped from the cardinal form of אַרְבַּע which you don't have to memorize yet. Notice again that the ordinal forms usually have the pattern of אָאִיאִי. Serpent שָׁדֶה and field שָׁדֶה wont be used until much later in this book, but it is important to memorize them.

Chapter 15 Plural Suffixes, Adjectives, לא

מַסְפַּר הַרְבִּים 15.1 Plural suffixes

To make a noun plural, a chireq vowel is added to the last letter and then a י suffix is added. You have seen this suffix with a few of the words you have already memorized. When a word is changed into a plural form, it will usually have different vowels than the singular form, because of the extra syllable being added to the end of the word, and for other reasons. For example, when a word with two segols (segolate) אָאָא gets a plural suffix, it changes to אָאָא. Again, you should not worry yet about all of the vowel change rules because they really are not important until you want to memorize exactly how to say a word out loud when you change its forms in your head.

To make feminine nouns plural, the suffix הו is added. When a feminine אוֹ suffix is used, it can change segolate nouns to אָאָא. On rare occasions the suffixes can be shortened to remove the ' or the ' like this: אַמ or אַם but they still add plurality even though they have one less letter.

A few words in Hebrew actually have the opposite suffix than what the word gender is. For example, the word אֲבוֹת means father, and when it is plural it is אֲבוֹת even though it is a masculine word. In this special case, אֲבוֹת is treated as a masculine word and when it comes to matching gender with other words or verbs, the other words stay in the masculine form. means city and is in the feminine form because cities and places usually are feminine even if the word looks masculine. When עִיך becomes plural it is עַרִים and is still considered feminine. Notice the dropping off of the ' from עִיר, which does happen sometimes when words get suffixes or prefixes if the stem has a '.

There are a few other irregular nouns that have their א or ' dropped off or get an added ו when they become plural. House בַּת , woman אָשֶׁה , man אִישׁ , and daughter בּת are a few examples. They become houses בָּנוֹת , women נְשִׁים , men בְּנוֹת, and daughters בַּנוֹת. Written numbers usually also have opposite genders than what they appear as, and I will describe that better later.

15.2 Adjectives שֵׁם הַתֹּאַר

In the verses in the next lesson, there will be the first uses of adjectives. In Hebrew, an adjective usually comes after the word that it describes. In this way it is similar to how the subject of a sentence is often right after the verb that the subject is doing. The adjective in Hebrew usually matches the plurality and gender of the word it is describing. Both words are usually definite or indefinite also (so they both must have a π or both must have no definite π).

If the word being described is a name of a person or place, then that name does not get a prefix but the adjective does need a definite a prefix to match the name which is always

definite. הַּגְּלִים is an example from the verse in the next lesson (meaning great lights) where both words match in definition and plurality, but the gender of them both do not match. This is a special situation for the creation week in Genesis, just like the use of the clipped form of יְהִי without the prefix. Normally though, the adjective groupings will match in gender. If the two words do not match in these ways, then the two words are just part of a sentence that has an adjective, or perhaps it is a rare word that is written as the opposite gender than what it really it. An example of this adjective sentence would be: הַּמְאַרֹת גְּלִים which would mean 'the lights are great'.

Both ways of using adjectives are acceptable, it just depends on what needs to be told in the verse. Adjectives usually have the same type of plural and singular endings as nouns. So, for adjectives, to make them plural it is usually just a matter of adding a אָים or אוֹת suffix (where א is the last letter of the word that is having a plural suffix added to it).

When you start the next lesson, if you get stuck on the adjectives in the Genesis verse that has them, then come back here to review adjectives. Sometimes an adjective can be used as a stand-alone word to describe something or someone. An example of this would be מא and would mean 'the good *one*'. If an adjective is describing a word that is part of a word pair, the adjective does not get put in the middle of the word pair but instead is put after the word pair. You can usually tell which word in the word pair is being described by seeing which word the adjective matches. An example of this would be מְּאַלְּתְ הַרְאָשׁ גְּלְלִים which would mean 'the great lights of the top' (remember that word pairs don't have to match definition, if the one is definite than the other is also definite).

לא 15.3

The next lesson will not be using לא but it is a word you will need to know. It means 'no' or 'not' or other negative meanings like it, depending on the context of the verse. It can negate verbs to mean 'to not do something' or it can negate a noun to say that something is 'not so'. For example, הוא לא טוב would mean 'he is not good' or 'it is not good', and word means 'he did not do that'. When א והוא את אשר means 'he did not do that'. When א יוֹ is negating a verb, it always is right before the verb with nothing in between the verb and א יוֹ . When א יוֹ is used on a verb in the command form, it usually means 'you should not do something', as in 'I don't want you to do etc.'. there is usually a Maagef - between the א and the verb.

The word x does not need to match the word it is paired with, so it never changes in spelling. You should add it to your flashcards so that you can memorize it well. In English, these separate words 'should', 'could', 'would', etc which are called auxiliary verbs are added to a verb to put them into a conditional or possibility state. In Hebrew, there is no additional word (auxiliary) added, it is all done by the context of the verses.

15.4 Verses 12-15

The first word below is the stem י.צ.א in the הָפְעִיל imperfect 3rd person feminine

singular form. In this case, because of the reversing vav, it is in the special clipped form, which makes it harder to recognize it as being in the הַפְעִיל form, but the i does give it away, along with the context of the verse. 'to cause something to go out', is basically the same thing as 'to bring something out'. 'To bring something out' sounds better in English in most cases for the י.צ.א of הַפְּעִיל in the plural feminine form which comes from the stem א.ו.ר. that you learned.

It is common for a Vav to drop off of the center of a stem. Many stems that you will learn have a 1 as the center letter of the stem, and those stems act very similar. One big clue that a vav was dropped off is the cholem $\dot{}$ vowel after the \aleph , but this does not always happen where a cholem will be there when a Vav drops off.

Try to know the stems well that have a i in the center, knowing that the i can drop off. אַלְּהָתְּח below is the plural of אַוֹּח with a i prefix and a Vav dropped off, but in this case the cholem is there specifically because the i dropped off. מוֹעֲדִים is plural and is a noun from the stem י.ע.ד, which I had you learn. It literally means 'an appointed time/place'. In this noun form, even the i is a good hint that the 'dropped off of the stem and became a i. Many nouns get added a letters to the beginning also, so, when you are trying to find out what the stem of a word is, most of the time it is best to ignore the first a letter of the word. Once you start to memorize stems that start with the letter a, this will be even easier to detect stems with or without a a letter.

יב וַתּוֹצֵא הָאָרֶץ דֶּשֶׁא צַשֶּׁב מַזְרִיעַ זֶרַע לְמִינֵהוּ וְעֵץ עֹשֶׂה-פְּרִי אֲשֶׁר זַרְעוֹ-בוֹ לִמִינֵהוּ וַיַּרָא אֱלֹהִים כִּי-טוֹב:

יג וַיָהִי-עֶרֶב וַיִהִי-בֹקֵר יוֹם שָׁלִישִׁי: פ

יד וַיּאמֶר אֱלֹהִים יְהִי מְאֹרֹת בָּרְקִיעַ הַשָּׁמַיִם לְהַבְדִּיל בֵּין הַיּוֹם וּבֵין הַלְּיְלָה וְהָיוּ לְאֹתֹת וּלְמוֹעֲדִים וּלְיָמִים וְשָׁנִים:

בן: מַלְאָרֶץ וַיְהִי-כֵן: לַמְאוֹרֹת בִּרְקִיעַ הַשָּׁמַיִם לְהָאִיר עַל-הָאָרֶץ וַיְהִי-כֵן:

Notice that the uncommon masculine possessive ending in is used in verse 12. Here is my translation of these verses:

And the land brought out grass, herb producing seed after it's kind, and trees making fruit who's seeds were in it, after its kind: and God saw that it was good. 1.1.12.1

And there was the evening and there was the morning of the third day. 1.1.13.1

And *God* said "There will be lights in the expanse of the heavens to cause separation between the day and between the night; and they will be for signs, and for appointed *times*,

and for days, and years. 1.1.14.1

And they will be for lights in the expanse of the sky to bring light upon the land": and it was so.1.1.15.1

Here are the vocabulary words for the next lesson:

יָם	יַמִּים	נ.ת.ן	ג.ד.ל
sea	a seas	to give	to be great
<u>חְ</u> מִישִׁי	מ.ש.ל	ק.ט.ן	כּוֹכָב
fifth	to dominate	to be small	star

ק.ט.ן can also mean to be younger or insignificant, it is often used as adjectives and not so much as verbs.

ל.ד.ל is a common stem in the Bible and can also mean to grow, or to magnify. It is also often used as adjectives like גַּדוֹל (great, high) and other spellings.

ל.ש".ל is common enough to memorize now, but not as common as the other words you are memorizing, and it can also mean to tell a proverb or parable. As a noun it can mean 'proverb' or 'domination'.

בּוֹכָב pretty much always means a literal star, and is often plural. It does not have a stem that is used in the Bible. It is not all that common in the Bible but it is definitely worth memorization, and because of it's uniqueness, it is not too hard to memorize.

נ.ח.ו is a very common stem in the Bible and it usually means 'to give' but it can also sometimes mean 'to set' or 'to place'. In the imperfect form, the first always drops off, and one of the clues for this adropping off is that it will cause the next letter (the ח) to have a dagesh like this: ח. The first a stays in the perfect forms. If נ.ח.ן were to ever be put into the perfect form, then the first alwould drop off and a dagesh would be put on the ח, because of the interaction of the הפעיל form. The most difficult form of נ.ח.ן to recognize is it's infinitive form. It's infinitive form (the 'to do' form) is לְחֶת and then that last dropped off letter gets replaced with a Tav.

יָם and יָם will actually be used in the lesson after next, but the next lesson has 8 vocabulary words already, so I put it here for you to memorize now. יָם is much more common than its plural form, and can also sometimes mean 'west', and not just sea. Think of the Mediterranean sea being 'west' of Jerusalem, and it will help you remember that it can mean either 'sea' or 'west'.

שָּישִׁי wont be used for the next lesson but you still need to know it.

Chapter 16 3rd person pronouns, אות, infinitives

16.1 3rd person pronouns and demonstratives

The word they in Hebrew as a stand-alone word is הַּבָּה for the feminine and הַבָּה for the masculine. The word for he הוא and the word for she is הִיא or הִיא or הִיא or הִיא and the word for she is הִיא or הִיא or הַרָּא . If there is a definite הַּ prefix attached to any of these words then it usually puts the 3rd person into 'those' or 'that', in the sense of being separate from others or the opposite of 'these'. אַלָּה means 'these', and הַּה is the singular masculine form of 'this', and זֹה is the feminine form of 'this'. These three words can have a definite הַ prefix in order to match the word that is being described as 'this' or 'these'.

These 'demonstrative' words for 'this' and 'these' pretty much always are the left-most (last) word in the group of words it is paired with. For example, there could be a noun, then an adjective, then one of these demonstrative pronouns or words that are all grouped together and can all have the definite π prefix. On very rare occasions, a definite π prefix can mean 'this' instead of just 'the'. An exception though is when the word prefix a definite π prefix, it means 'today', or literally 'this day'. It is common for to have a definite π and in those cases it usually means 'today' but can sometimes mean 'the day'. You should put all of these words on flashcards also, so that you can memorize them.

In Psalm 10:2 it shows us that נה can be spelled as זו. It can also even be spelled as זו. It can also even be spelled as זו. In these spellings the meaning can sometimes be 'that' or 'which', but can also be the normal 'this' or 'that'.

In Modern Hebrew, הוא and היא are not as often used for saying 'it' like they can be in Biblical Hebrew, and can also mean 'is' in Modern. In Modern Hebrew, is often used instead, and can also mean 'is'.

Sometimes in Modern Hebrew, just like in Biblical, the definite ה prefix can mean 'this'. This happens often with היום for 'today' or 'this day' but it can happen with many different words.

16.2 אות DOM with suffixes / pronouns

To shorten a verse, sometimes the object word (pronoun) is removed and then 'attached' to the Direct Object Marker (DOM) as a suffix. When this happens, the DOM changes from אָת into אוֹת or אוֹת (both are the same word, but one hides the Vav), and then it gets the appropriate suffix depending on gender and plurality of the object(s). The 3rd person singular suffixes are אוֹתָה for the masculine and אוֹתָה for the feminine, and the plural are אוֹתָה for the masculine and אוֹתָה for the feminine.

16.3 the infinitive by 7 prefix

A stem can be put into an infinitive form (paradigm) while also being in a פַּעַל, הַפְּעִיל or other verb form. The main way to do this is by adding a to the beginning of the word. Instead of a 'to' or 'for' meaning in the sense of ownership or movement, this prefix has a 'to' meaning in the sense of 'to do' something. Basically with the infinitive prefix, the verb form means 'to do something'. So if the stem being used is א.מ.ר then the infinitive form would be אַמֹר and it means 'to say'.

The vowels are different in the infinitive form, but these vowels are not that important to memorize. The best way to recognize these infinitives is when you see a \dagger attached to a stem. In the הְּפְעֵיל infinitive, the ' and the ה both stay with the stem and the ' is put before the \dagger . So the ' is always the first letter in an infinitive that uses a \dagger .

When the stem ends in a ה letter, then in the infinitive form the ה gets replaced with ה and still gets the normal ל prefix. So the infinitive of לְּשֵׁשׁוֹת si ע.שֹ.ה and means 'to do' or 'to make'.

If the first letter of the stem is a $\ 7$, $\ 7$, it drops off and then the $\ 7$ is added normally, but then also an extra $\ 7$ is added at the end of the stem to balance out the word due to the letter loss. So if you see a word than begins with a $\ 7$ and ends with a $\ 7$ then it is likely to be an infinitive of a stem with one of these dropped letters at the beginning.

Sometimes stems that do not drop any letters also get a n added at the end when it is an infinitive.

One final note about these infinitives is that in English, sometimes it sounds better to add a 'ing' (the English 'ing' suffix is a also called a gerund) to a verb in English instead of adding 'to do something' in English. For example לאמר is often best translating as 'saying' instead of 'to say'. This is because this infinitive is often used to quote somebody, and right after this infinitive are the quoted words. So in English it wouldn't sound right to say "And so and so said to me to say 'hi, how are you?"". It would be better to translate that hypothetical sentence to 'And so and so said to me saying 'hi, how are you?"".

16.4 Verses 16-19

Verse 16 will have your first adjective word pairing to practice in Genesis.

טז וַיַּעַשׂ אֶלהִים אֶת-שְׁנֵי הַמְּאֹרֹת הַגְּדֹלִים אֶת-הַמְּאוֹר הַגָּדֹל לְמֶמְשֶׁלֶת הַיּוֹם וְאֶת —הַמְּאוֹר הַקְטֹן לְמֶמְשֶׁלֶת הַלַּיְלָה וְאֵת הַכּוֹכְבִים: יז וַיִּתֵּן אֹתָם אֱלֹהִים בִּרְקִיעַ הַשָּׁמְיִם לְהָאִיר עַל— הָאָרֶץ:

ים וְלַמְשׁל בַּיּוֹם וּבַלַּיְלָה וּלְהַבְדִּיל בֵּין האוֹר וּבֵין הַחשֶׁךְ וַיַּרְא אֱלֹהִים כִּי-טוֹב:

In verse 16 שְׁנֵי הַמְּאֹרֹת הַגְּּדֹלִים is an example of a word pair and then one of the words getting an adjective. The first word of these is definite because of the pairing but it is best translated as 'both of', and then the other two would be translated as 'great lights'.

ז הַבְּאוֹר הַבָּל is best translated as 'the greater light' because it is being compared with the other light in this verse (so that is why the 'er' ending in English is best here even without a מ comparison prefix). לְמֵלְשֶׁלֶת is an infinitive meaning 'to dominate *over*'.

הַּמְּאוֹר הַקְּטֹן would normally mean 'small light' but because of being compared with the great light, it is best to translate it as 'smaller light'.

In verse 17, וַיָּמֵן אֹחָם is your first real practice with the DOM suffix. This here means 'And he set them' because of the reversing Vav.

is a word pair meaning 'into the expanse of the heavens'.

is an להַאִּיר infinitive meaning 'to give light' or 'to cause light'.

In verse 18, וְלְמְשׁׁל בֵּיּוֹם means 'to dominate over the day'. Sometimes the ב prefix can mean 'over' or 'during'.

In the verses above I put some of the Maaqef – signs twice to make them longer. This is because in the Letteris Tanakh I use, it has extra long Maaqef signs in those places in order to make the words line up correctly with the margins on the left and right of the page. I did not need to make them longer here, but it doesn't hurt anything to be more accurate to the Letteris version of the Tanakh, and maybe someday you will see a longer Maaqef yourself and you will know why. Here is my translation:

And God made two great lights, the greater light to dominate the day, and the smaller light to dominate the night, and the stars, 1.1.16.1

And God set them into the expanse of the heavens to give light on the land, 1.1.17.1 And to dominate over the day, and over the night, and to cause separation between the light, and between the darkness, and God saw that *it was* good. 1.1.18.1

And there was the evening and there was the morning of the fourth day. 1.1.19.1

16.5 Vocabulary 11 אוצר מילים

Here are the vocabulary words for you to memorize for the next lesson:

נָפָשׁ		ר.ב.ה	פ.ר.ה	ב.ר.ך
n or soul	perso	to multiply	to bear fruit	to bless
עוף	מ.ל.א	خَزُك	ח.י.ה	
bird	to fill	wing	to live	

עוֹף can technically mean anything that flies but it almost always means a bird in general, and

not a specific kind of bird.

מ.ל.א usually means to fill something up, but it can mean to fulfill a condition also.

Many nouns and adjectives come from the stem ה.י.ה which means to live, and they all refer to something living.

שׁנְבֶּשׁ usually means 'person', as in their body and spirit. The KJV usually translates this as 'soul', but by the context of the Bible with this word, it is clear that the word 'soul' means the body and spirit, and not just the spirit.

ב.ר.ך almost always means 'to bless', or as a noun 'blessing', but it can also sometimes mean 'to kneel' or as a noun 'knee'. Think of the situation where a father is giving a blessing over a son, and the son is kneeling before the father. That is how I remember that this stem can mean to kneel or to bless.

Chapter 17 Verbs with extra suffixes, 2nd person, Commands

17.1 Verbs with extra suffixes

Instead of a verb using a Direct Object Marker (DOM) with a suffix to shorten a verse, a verse can further be compressed or reduce words by removing the DOM and its suffix and then add that suffix to the verb, after the 'conjugation' suffix letter of the verb. The main difference between the suffixes used with the DOM and for the verb is that the 3rd person singular masculine is אוֹם when it is attached to a verb instead of a i like on a DOM. So, instead of אמר אותו which means 'he will say it' (sometimes I won't be using vowels, just to give you practice reading without vowels, which will eventually be important for you to be able to do), the compressed version would be 'אמרהו which means 'he will say it' or 'he will say to him'.

Verbs can also have possessive suffixes and preposition prefixes like ב, ס or any other (ב in those cases often means 'during' or 'when'). Verb forms can even have both a suffix and a prefix added after conjugation is done. An example would be שאמרו which means 'when he was saying' or 'while he was saying', and in a more literal translation it would be 'during his speaking'.

Both the DOM and possessive suffixes are very similar, and sometimes you can only discern which one is being used by the context of the verse. One example of an interesting suffix is the Mem suffix to mean 'from' which is added to the stem מ.ל.א in the פַעל form. It is in Exodus 15:9 which means 'My soul will be filled from them'. This is the only time I remember seeing a Mem preposition 'from' suffix attached to a verb, most of the time it is a prefix.

17.2 2nd person

Up until now, there was no need to know the 2nd person pronouns and suffixes and verb forms to read Genesis, but now in this lesson the 2nd person will be in the verses. For verbs, the perfect 2nd person singular masculine suffix ending is not and the feminine is not once again, I am not going to focus on the vowels for those forms for each stem, because they are not as important as being able to recognize the suffixes and prefixes in a verse. Notice that the masculine ending nactually has the feminine looking Qamets vowel like the feminine pronoun suffix not a particular pronoun suffix not put extra emphasis on how this can fool you when you memorize these suffixes.

The plural perfect masculine 2^{nd} person verb suffix is n and the feminine is n. These follow the patterns of the pronouns and other suffixes how n represents masculine and n represents feminine. The imperfect forms for the masculine are just a n prefix for the singular, and then the plural has a n prefix and a n suffix to represent 'you all'. The feminine imperfect singular is a n prefix and a 'suffix, and the plural is a n prefix with a n suffix. The

feminine plural 2^{nd} person is rarely used in the Bible, but you do need to memorize it. The 2^{nd} person possessive suffixes for the masculine singular is \exists and the feminine is \exists notice that the vowels are the same for the verb form suffixes. The plural 2^{nd} person possessive suffixes are \exists for masculine and \exists for feminine. Notice that once again, the \exists represents masculine while \exists represents feminine.

The stand-alone pronoun word for 'you' singular is אָהָה for the masculine and אַהָּ is the feminine. The plural masculine is אַהָּם and the feminine is אָהָּן (notice it has the same suffixes as the verb forms). For more complex grammar where a masculine possessive suffix is added to the 2nd person singular perfect verb suffix, it looks like אָה or אָה depending on word syllables. Deuteronomy 22:2 is a good example of this. Essentially the Qamets or the Sheva under the ה disappears because the new Cholem vowel is added and both cannot exist together due to how the syllables are pronounced.

This next bit of information is not something you need to memorize now, if ever, but I will put it here as a reference. In Ruth 3:4 there is a unique 2nd person singular perfect form. Instead of just ending with ה as the suffix for the verb, it has ה as the suffix but by the context it is clearly a feminine 2nd person singular suffix. I have never heard anything about this suffix form from teachers when I learned Hebrew, so I will need to guess how it is used (I didn't see anything online about it either). In the verse it looks like הישׁבֶּבֶּהְיִי It seems this is a rare and acceptable form of this suffix. It must have a connection with the 2nd person singular feminine imperfect form suffix which is also a 'suffix. So perhaps the extra 'is used sometimes in the 2nd person singular feminine perfect when there is a need to emphasize, or maybe only when there is a reversing Vav (because this verb here in Ruth 3:4 has a reversing Vav).

Just like in Hebrew, Arabic has an Arabic Kaf suffix which can be used as a 2nd person possessive singular suffix and means 'your'. Also like Hebrew, the Arabic vowels are different depending on if the person you are talking to is male or female.

17.3 Commands (imperative or jussive)

Commands (also referred to with the more latinized words 'imperative' and 'jussive' in some cases) in Hebrew are when one person commands another person in the 2nd person, just like in English. In Hebrew however, different prefixes and suffixes are used, depending on who is being commanded to do something.

Positive commands, ones without a word before it that means "no", are essentially a imperfect פעל conjugation with the prefix dropped off and then any needed vowel changes due to that prefix being dropped off. Ruth 1:8 is an example.

When the last letter of the stem is a ה, it drops off of the stem when a suffix is added. So for the masculine singular plural of פרה it would just be פרה and it would be 'produce fruit' as a command to a male. If it was a group of males or a group of males and females, the masculine plural form would be used and the ה would drop off and it would be be. The

best way to recognize masculine singular perfect commands (which have no prefix or suffix remaining) is by the context of the verse. You could spend hours memorizing the vowels for every common stem in this command form, but at least for me, its not worth it, because most of the time I can discern by the context of the verse that it is a masculine singular perfect command (and for the feminine or plural we can see the prefixes and suffixes).

When a command is turned into a negative with \aleph to tell somebody to 'not do' something, there is not a – between the \aleph and the n of the beginning of the command verb. Imperfect prefixes stay on negative commands.

To give a more stern negative command, אָל is used. אָל is attached right before the command just like אָל but this time אַל means 'Do not do something'. אַל is only used with a verb in the command form to forbid something, it is never used in non-command verses. אַל always has a – maaqef sign between it and the verb (I don't recall seeing a situation without one). אל-תאמר is a command that means 'Do not say', while אל-תאמר in the command form would mean 'You should not say'.

This brings me to another point, when talking about the possibility of something. In Hebrew, any verb in the perfect or imperfect form, can be used in the conditional senses of 'could have', 'should have' or 'would have'. This is all done by the context of the verse without any extra grammar being done. As you become fluent in reading from the Bible, you will recognize these conditional types of speaking in the context. Most of the time it is the 'should' type of the conditional sense that is being used when any are being used. On rare occasions it is the 'could' sense or the 'would' sense. There is however a stem in Hebrew that means 'to be able'. It is 'c.c.', but you don't need to memorize it now. Sometimes that stem is used to make it very clear about who or what is or is not able to do something. On rare occasions also, the stem 'c.z.' is used to express want or willingness. It means 'to want' or 'to be willing to do something'. T.z.' is also a stem you don't need to know yet, but you should learn it eventually.

Commands in Arabic are very similar to how they are in Hebrew. For example, Arabic also starts with a conjugated verb, and then drops off it's prefix to give the final form of the command.

17.4 Verses 20-22

Verse 20 has an uncommon stem which you do not need to memorize. It is עָּרִי, which means 'to creep' or 'to move'. יַשְׁרְצוֹ below means 'it will bring forth it's creeping things' (the suffix is a possessive suffix). יְשִׁרָץ is a noun meaning 'creeping things' and is also uncommon, so you do not need to memorize it. יְעוֹכֵּף is very rare and means 'it will fly'. As a reminder, רְמִיעַ means 'expanse'. In verse 21, הַמִּנִינִם means 'whales' or 'great beasts' and is rare. עַּתָּיִי is another rare stem which means 'to creep' or 'to move'. Verse 22 has your first practice with commands and the 2nd person (of the command).

ב וַיּאמֶר אֱלֹהִים יִשְׁרְצוֹ הַמַּיִם שֶׁרֶץ נֶפֶשׁ חַיָּה וְעוֹף יְעוֹפֵף עַל-הָאָרֶץ עַל-פְּנֵי רְקִיעַ הַשַּׁמַיִם:

כא וַיִּבְרָא אֱלֹהִים אֶת-הַתַּנִּינִם הַגְּדֹלִים וְאֵת כָּל-נָפֶשׁ הַחַיָּה הָרֹמֶשֶׁת אֲשֶׁר שֶׁרְצוֹ הַמַּיִם לְמִינֵהֶם וְאֵת כָּל-עוֹף כָּנָף לְמִינֵהוּ וַיַּרָא אֱלֹהִים כִּי-טוֹב:

> כב וַיְבָרֶך אֹתָם אֱלֹהִים לֵאמֹר פְּרוּ וּרְבוּ וּמִלְאוּ אֶת-הַמַּיִם בַּיַּמִּים וְהָעוֹף יָרֵב בָּאָרֵץ:

> > כג וַיְהִי—עֶרֶב וַיְהִי-בֹקֶר יוֹם חֲמִישִׁי: פ

נְפֶשׁ חַיָּה is a noun with two adjectives meaning 'moving living soul'.

פְנֵי רְקִיעַ הַשְּׁמְיִם is a word grouping meaning 'the face of the expanse of the heavens'. has a possessive suffix and means 'he moves himself'.

אֹתָם here is the Direct Object Marker with the suffix for 'them'.

פרו וּלְבוּ וּמְלְאוּ are three different commands which should be separated by commas in the English translation, and means 'Produce fruit, and multiply, and fill'.

means 'in the waters of the seas' or 'in the sea water'.

Sometimes when the Bible Verse has an animal or thing in the singular, the context implies that it is plural. This is common with animals, years, months, days, etc. It happens with אוֹן in verse 20 when the context clearly means 'birds'. Sometimes also when a singular possessive suffix like i is used, it is actually talking about a group of things. As in literally one group of something, but is plural in the context and translation. When verse 20 uses על for the birds on the sky, clearly if the birds are flying 'on' the sky, they are also 'in' it, so I chose to translate it as 'through'. על is pretty much never translated as 'through', but here it makes the most sense. Here is my translation:

And God said "The waters will bring forth it's moving living souls, and birds will fly over the land through the face of the expanse of the sky." 1.1.20.1

And God created the great beasts, and all of the souls of the living creeping-*things* that moved themselves *through* the waters, after their kind, and all of the winged birds after its kind, and God saw that *it was* good. 1.1.21.1

And God blessed them saying "Bear fruit, and become many, and fill the waters in the seas; and the birds will become many in the land." 1.1.22.1

And there was the evening and there was the morning of the fifth day. 1.1.23.1

17.5 Vocabulary 12

אוצר מילים

Here is the vocabulary for the next lesson:

יְהֹנָה	אָדָמָה	בְהַמְה	אָדָם
Yehovah	ground	Animal	man

וֹכ.ר דְגָג ר.ד.ה to rule fish to remember woman

is not used a lot but it is worth memorizing. It comes from the uncommon stem נ.ק.ב which can mean 'to pierce'.

ז.כ.ד almost always means 'to recall' (implying that the person did not forget, but was ignoring something), but sometimes 'to remember' (with the real sense that they might have forgotten), and as a noun usually means 'memorial' or a similar word. Sometimes though, as a noun it can mean 'male', like it will in the next lesson.

ז, is not used a whole lot in the Bible but it is worth memorizing, and it comes from the stem ז.'.ז which means 'to fish', and as a noun can also mean 'one who fishes'.

אָדָם usually means 'man' in the sense of 'human', but sometimes it literally is used for the name of 'Adam'. It comes from the stem ב.ד.ב which means 'to make red'.

means 'animal' and comes from the uncommon stem ה.מ.ה which means 'to roar'.

אָדָמָה means 'ground' (as in locally) but it can often be accurately translated as 'earth' also, as in the whole earth (it also comes from the same stem as אָדָם does).

יְהֹוָה is the name of God, and some people debate how his name should be pronounced, but in the most accurate manuscript with vowels that I can find (the Letteris), his name has the vowels that I have written for his name. This is why the KJV has the name of God as Jehovah, because before the J was added to English, it was an 'I' and sounded like a 'y' in the original 1611 KJV. His name is also the only name I have seen that has a letter with two vowels on it, making it unique. I will show you an example verse with his name in it in a few lessons after this one.

In 2 Samuel 7:18-20 David uses יְהֹיָה instead of יְהֹיָה in what seems to be a more personal nick-name of sorts for Yehovah. But in verse 22, David goes back to using the normal spelling for Yehovah's name, as יְהֹיָה Also, in the beginning of verse 18, when it says David "sat before Yehovah", it is the normal יְהֹיָה spelling of Yehovah there. Because of these things, we are shown that the normal, correct spelling of Yehovah's name is יְהֹיָה Also, that David uses יְהֹיָה three times, it ensures us that these are not "errors" in the Hebrew Letteris text (which came from the Second Great Rabbinic Bible). Judges 16:28 also has the nickname יֻהֹיִה spelling in it, also while Sampson is talking to God. This uncommon nick-name spelling is in other places too, But I don't see a need to make a list right now.

Chapter 18 1st person, ב prefix, אֶל, direction ה, direction ה, direction ה

18.1 1st person

It is time now to learn the 1st person forms for the verses in this lesson. The 1st person forms in Hebrew do not have separate masculine and feminine forms, so they both use the same prefixes and suffixes. For verbs, the 1st person singular perfect has a יז suffix and the plural suffix is יז. The imperfect singular is a א prefix and the plural is a i prefix. Possessive suffixes are 'y (just a chireq vowel under the last letter and an added ') for the singular (I) and in for the plural (we). Notice that the plural possessive suffix is identical to the one used on verbs, and the singular is identical other than the in. These similarities will help you remember them. Don't focus on memorizing this now, but is the first-person plural suffix for sealed grammar, which supports and helps to make sense the normal first-person singular prefix x for verbs.

One important thing to remember is that the 1st person singular suffixes actually have two forms. אָי is if you are talking about one noun and אַי with a patach instead of a chireq is for more than one noun that you are talking about. So, if you have more than one book that are yours that you are talking about, use אָי, and if it is just one of your books you are talking about use אַי if there are more than one of those nouns being suffixed.

This suffix looks identical to the Word pair suffix אָי which means 'of'. An example of a singular form of a word pair that means "of" is אֲבִי So, if you see this suffix in a word pair and it doesnt make sense as "my" in the context, than maybe it is "of". This "of" meaning can also happen in names.

The Direct object marker (DOM) with a 1st person singular suffix is just like the normal possessive suffix 'אָ (the א here can be many different letters, it is an example to show the vowel) and the plural is also the same and looks like this: אוֹתָנוּ. Sometimes on some words an extra i is added before the 1st person suffix, like when a 1st person singular suffix is added to a verb to compress the verse. It would look like this: אמרני for the stem אמרני מול and would mean 'he said to me'. The stand-alone pronoun word for 'I' is אָנְכִי or אָנֵי and the plural is אַנְּהָנוֹ regardless of the gender of the person or people talking.

You do not need to remember this now, but sometimes a 'suffix can refer to a person who lives in a certain place, or of a certain family name. בֵּית־הַשֶּׁמְשׁי in 1 Samuel 6:14 is an example of this and means "one who dwells in Beth-Hashshimshiy".

You do not need to memorize this, but on rare occasions like in 2 Samuel 22:33-34, there are examples of different 1st person possessive suffixes. In verse 33 it is י י with the Chireq vowel on the letter before the י in the word דָּלָכוּ . In verse 34 it is י י with the patach under the letter before the vin the word דָּלָכִי . While these two examples do seem to be

evidence of them being 1st person possessive suffixes, it might be debatable. The fact that the two verses are right after each other proves these are not scribal "errors". These patterns of having grammar lessons by God in the Tanakh happen sometimes in other places also, where the verses are next to each other or nearby.

Just like in Hebrew, Arabic has a Yaa that can be used as a 1st person singular possessive suffix which means 'my'.

מן and אל and מן

The prefix \supset usually has a \cap sheva vowel like the other prepositional prefixes, and can be definite also by using a patach or qameits. It usually means 'like' (as in similar) or 'when', or 'as'. It can sometimes mean 'according to' or 'that' or other rare things.

The stand-alone preposition מָן, like it's counter-part the מ prefix, also usually means 'from', but can sometimes mean 'among' or other things that the מ prefix means. It can also have a maaqef – after it. These other stand alone prepositions wont be in the verses for this lesson but the prepositional prefix will be. Some stand alone prepositions can have suffixes like the possessive ending suffixes. מן and other stand alone prepositions can have these suffixes. If one of those suffixes were on מן for example, it would be translated 'from him', or 'from me', ect. מוֹן in Exodus 4:26 is a good example of 'from him'.

You have learned the ל prepositional prefix that means 'to' or 'for' usually, but also you should know that the stand alone preposition אָל is sometimes used and it almost always means 'to' in the sense to direction, but it can mean 'against', 'about', and other things that the prefix means in rare cases. It can have a maaqef – after it to link it to the noun it is referring to, which comes right after it. One example of the uses of the prefix had the separate proposition אָל that we can learn from is with the stem אַמ.מ.ב. In Genesis 9:1 the phrase אַל הָם is used. Here הַהֶּם means 'to them'. In Genesis 24:56 לְהֶם is also used in places when people are talking, not just God. There seems to be no real difference between the two methods, but the Bible does use the different methods in order to make and preserve Bible codes in the Hebrew text of the Tanakh, or for mathematical calculations using the text (more about that in my book 'What is Truth?").

18.3 The 7 suffix of direction

Instead of using a ל prepositional prefix or אֶל, a noun can have a אָל suffix (where the א is the last letter of the word) added to it to mean 'to' or 'toward'. It is used for the names of places or locations like mountains or the wilderness or etc. This suffix wont be in the verses for this lesson but it is something you will need to know. It is not used too often, but enough that you will need to know it. Sometimes it can be confused with a feminine ending of a word, but usually it is easy enough to recognize.

Just as the ל prepositional prefix or אֶל preposition can mean either 'for' or 'to', 2

Samuel 4:10 is possible evidence that the ה suffix in בְּשֹׁרָה can also mean 'for', and not just 'to'. This is a rare occurrence though, as it usually means 'to'. Some might argue that this suffix is a possessive suffix that means 'his', or a feminie ending, which is possible. I believe that the last part of this verse could be translated as "in order that I would give to him for the good news." The verse is kind of split, in the sense that the "in order that" is referring to the beginning of the verse "When the one who told me, saying 'behold, Saul died', it was as good tidings in his eyes,". The middle part of the verse is describing what David did to him. As a reminder, about possessive suffixes, I wrote "In very rare situations, the masculine suffix can be a ה with a cholem before it, so it looks like this: "אה." The feminine form has the Qameits vowel on the letter before the suffix. Anyway, if I am right, then the ה suffix means 'for', but it does not make the word בשר definite, so the 'the' has to be assumed with "the good news".

18.4 Verses 24-28

In verse 24, בְּלֶם means 'creeping-one' or 'moving thing'. In verse 26, שַּלֶם means 'image' and is not common enough to memorize until much later. פְּרְמוּתֵנוּ means 'according to our likeness' from the stem is א.ם. which means 'to be like'. It has a כ Kaf prepositional prefix on it also. The stem א.ם. is a bit more common than שֵּלֶם but still not worth memorizing yet. In verse 28, the rare stem ב.ב.שׁ means 'to subdue', and is not worth memorizing anytime soon.

כד וַיּאמֶר אֱלֹהִים תּוֹצֵא הָאָרֶץ נֶפֶשׁ חַיָּה לְמִינָה בְּהֵמֶה וָרֶמֶשׁ וְחַיְתוֹ-אֶרֶץ לְמִינָה וַיָּהִי-כֵּן:

כה וַיַּעַשׂ אֱלֹהִים אֶת-חַיַּת הָאָרֶץ לְמִינָה וְאֶת-הַבְּהֵמְה לְמִינָה וְאֵת כָּל—רֶמֶשׂ הָאַרֶץ לְמִינָה וְאֶת-הַבְּהֵמְה לְמִינָהוּ וַיַּרָא אֱלֹהִים כִּי-טוֹב:

כו וַיּאמֶר אֱלֹהִים נַעֲשֶׂה אָדָם בְּצַלְמֵנוּ כִּדְמוּתֵנוּ וְיִרְדּוּ בִדְגַת הַיָּם וּבְעוֹף הַשְּׁמַיִם וּבַבִּהֵמֶה וּבִכֶּל-הָאָרֵץ וּבִכֶּל-הָרֵמֵשׁ הָרֹמֵשׁ עַל-הָאָרֵץ:

כז וַיִּבְרָא אָלהִים אֶת-הָאָדָם בְּצַלְמוֹ בְּצֶלֶם אֱלהִים בְּרָא אֹתוֹ זָכָר וּנְקֵבָה בְּרָא אֹתְם:

כת וַיְבָרֶדְ אֹתָם אֱלֹהִים וַיֹּאמֶר לָהֶם אֱלֹהִים פְּרוּ וּרְבוּ וּמִלְאוּ אֶת-הָאָרֶץ וְכִבְשִׁהָ וּרְדוּ בִּדְגַת הַיָּם וּבְעוֹף הַשָּׁמֵיִם וּבְכֶל-חַיָּה הָרֹמֶשֶׁת עַל-הָאָרֶץ:

In verse 25, הַאָּרֶץ is a good example of a word pair where the last hey of a word gets dropped off and replaced by a ה.

In verse 26, יְיִרְדּוּ comes from the stem ר.ד.ה which you memorized. The ה drops like it normally would when the stem takes a suffix due to the last letter being a ה.

In verse 27, זָכֶר וּנְקַבָּה means 'male' and female', because as a noun the stem ז.כ.ר can

occasionally mean 'male', and by the context of this verse it is clear that it means 'male' here.

In vers 28, notice that the prefix $\$ with a possessive suffix and the DOM with a suffix are used inbeteen God (the subject) and the verbs of the verse. The typical verse structure that you know is (verb)(subject)(DOM)(Object), in that order, but this verse shows that sometimes the DOM that has a suffix can be before the subject, and that the $\$ prefix can sometimes be before the subject. Here is my translation:

And God said "The land will bring forth living souls after their kind: Animals, and creeping things, and the land's living-*ones* after their kind." And it was so. 1.1.24.1 And God made the living ones of the land after their kind, and the animals after their kind, and every creeping-*one* of the ground after their kind, and God saw that *it was* good.

1.1.25.1

And God said "We will make mankind with our resemblance, according to our likeness, and they will rule over the fish of the sea, and over the bird of the sky, and over the animals, and over all the land, and over every creeping-*one* creeping on the land." 1.1.26.1 And God created the man in his resemblance, in the resemblance of God he created him; male and female he created them. 1.1.27.1

And God blessed them and God said to them "Bear fruit, and become many, and fill the land, and subdue it: and rule over the fish of the sea, and over the bird of the sky, and over every living creeping-*one* on the land." 1.1.28.1

18.5 Vocabulary 13

אוצר מילים

Here are your next vocabulary words:

	מאד	ښښر	הנה	א.כ.ל
	very	sixth	behold	to eat
צ.ב.א	ביעי	ŢŽ,	ש.ב.ת	מְלָאכָה
to assemble a hos	st se	venth	to rest	work

Some of these words won't be in the verses until the lesson after the next one, but this will give you more words to memorize.

ל.כ.ל can sometimes mean 'to consume', and not to literally eat something.

הבה can on rare occasions have suffixes added to it like other words when the 1st person singular is added. For example, הְבֵּנִי can mean 'behold, I' or 'Behold me'. The stem צ.ב.א is commonly put into a noun form to mean 'army' or 'host'. You might have heard the Bible phrase 'Lord of hosts', this is the stem here used for that word 'hosts'.

Chapter 19 Comparisons, 15, and אֵין and אֵין and אֵין

19.1 Comparisons הַּדְרָגַת הַתֹּאַר

In Hebrew, the preposition מן or the prefix מ can mean 'more than' or add an 'er' suffix to the English translation when they are being used as comparison markers. In English, sometimes and 'er' ending can be added to a word to make it into a comparative adjective, so essentially we could call a Hebrew word that has the comparison a prefix or the מן prefix a 'comparative adjective'. Below is Genesis 3:14 to show this kind of comparison.

אָרוּר is not used a lot but you might eventually want to memorize it. It means 'curse' from the stem א.ר.ר 'to curse'.

means 'belly' and is not used enough to memorize.

Biblical Hebrew does not have a simple 'superlative adjective' (like the 'est' English suffix to describe the best or worst or etc) mechanism, but instead Hebrew words would have to be used to say that it is 'more' (with the מ or מ comparison prefix) xxxx (an adjective) than all (פָּל) other (אַהוֹר) xxxxx (noun). When you see these kind of comparison sentences where it is describing something being the strongest or greatest, it is very easy to understand that it is a 'superlative' comparison. This verse below has a 'superlative' comparison written out with פָּל (sometimes it is spelled פֹל but always pronounced "kol"). Sometimes this comparison of a or מ prefix can be confused as if it meant the more common 'from' meaning, but usually you should be able to tell the difference by the context of the verses.

יד וַיּאמֶר יְהוָה אֱלֹהִים אֶל-הַנְּחָשׁ כִּי עָשִׂיתָ זּאת אָרוּר אַתָּה מִכְּל-הַבְּהֵמָה וּמִכֹּל חַיַּת הַשָּׁדֶה עַל-גְּחֹנְךָ תֵלֵךְ וְעָפֶר תּאֹכַל כָּל-יְמֵי חַיֶּיךְ:

And Yehovah God said to the Serpent "Because you have done this, you *are* cursed more than any animal, and more than any living *one* of the field, on your belly you will go, and you will eat dust all of the days of your life. 1.3.14.3

אָרוּר אַתָּה מְכֶּל-הַבְּהֵמָה means 'you are cursed more than all of the animals'. Sometimes words for 'you' come after an adjective, so don't let it confuse you. You could literally read it as 'cursed are you' if you wanted to. The main way to recognize a comparisons is by context, or by the names or adjectives and pronouns being used before and after the a comparison.

19.2 Numbering verses as verse 15

In the Letteris Hebrew Tanakh, and other Hebrew Tanakhs, they do not list a verse number 15 as יה out of respect for Yehovah, who's short name is יָה in the Hebrew text, יה is sometimes used in the names of people, and refers to Yehovah. Many of the prophets in the Bible also have this יָם ending, so in English many of the prophet names end in 'ah' or 'iah'. For example, Isaiah in Hebrew is יְשֵׁשְיָה and means 'Yah saves' and refers to Yehovah God.

Because of this, the Tanakhs use טו to number a verse as 15 and not יה.

19.3 אין and אין

You have learned two ways of saying that something 'is' or exists. You learned that ה.י.ה means 'to be', and also that sometimes in a sentence without the stem ה.י.ה, a 'is' or 'was' or 'will be' can be implied in the text. Another way of saying that something "exists" in Hebrew, is with the word ישׁ which has no "tense" and depending on the context of the verse can mean 'there is' or 'there will be' or 'there was'. It can also take the normal possessive suffixes. So, for example ישׁ means 'you are' or 'you will be' or 'you were'. The plural form of the 2nd person would be the expected ישׁ for the masculine form. All of the suffixes are the expected ones you have already learned.

אָין is the opposite of אֵין because אֵין means 'there is not' and can be in any "tense" depending on the context of the verse. It also can get the normal possessive suffixes to make sentences like 'You are not' and so forth. Neither אֵין or אֵין need to agree with the words they are paired with, so they only change if there is an added suffix. You should add these two words to your flashcards so that you can memorize them well.

19.4 Verses 29-31

לֶבֶּם in verse 29 is a prepositional prefix attached to a possessive suffix. לָּבֶּלָה is the infinitive (to do) form of א.כ.ל with the suffix a which refers to the the fruit and herbs in the verse. In verse 30, רוֹמֵשׁ is an active participle of the rare stem ר.מ.ש which means 'moving one'. יֶּרֶק is very rare and means 'green' or 'green thing'.

These are the last verses of Genesis chapter 1. Congratulations on getting this far. Here is my translation:

And God said "Behold, I gave to you every plant that sows seed that *is* upon the face of all the land, and every tree that *is* on it, *the* fruit of trees sowing seed, *they* will be for you to eat.

1.1.29.1

And for all of the living-*ones* of the land, and for every bird of the sky, and for every creeping-*one* on the land, *those* whom in themselves *have* a living soul, every green plant *is* to eat." And it was so. 1.1.30.1

And God saw all that he made, and behold, *it was* very good. And there was the evening and there was the morning of the sixth day. 1.1.31.1

19.5 Vocabulary 14 אוצר מילים

Here is the next set of vocabulary:

ק.ד.שׁ	כ.ל.ל	כ.ו.ל	כ.ל.ה
To set-apart	to perfect	to sustain	to finish
יְשְׁמִינִי	הְשִׁיעִי	אָניִרי	י.ל.ד
eighth	ninth	tenth	To beget

כ.ל.ל means to perfect and as an adjective can mean perfect or whole. Some people call stems that have the same letter for the last two letters of the stem a geminate stem. Sometimes they can be confused with stems that have a in the center or a at the end. This means it is best to remember the other similar stems when you memorize one of these geminate stems. This is the stem that the word לל that you learned comes from.

כ.ו.ל means to sustain. These two stems are not in the next lesson, but they are stems you should learn, and they can often be confused with the stem כ.ל.ה which will be in the next lesson. כ.ל.ה means to finish something or to consume something.

י.ל.ד means 'to beget' or 'to bear' a child. The common noun הוֹלְדוֹת comes from this stem and means 'generations' or 'offspring'.

As a reminder again, some nouns can have a n or a n added to the beginning of the stem. In those times, if the stem starts with a ', then the ' will be changed into a i.

The three ordinal numbers in this vocabulary are not in the next lesson but you will need to know them.

Chapter 20 Cardinal numbers, word duplication

20.1 Cardinal numbers or Numerals שֵׁם הַמְּכַּבָּר

Numbers have the opposite gender than we expect. The ones that look masculine are actually feminine, and vice-versa. This also happens to the names of cities and places, and the word for father and other special words. Anyway, you have learned the ordinal הַּסְדּוֹרָי forms of the numbers 1 through 10, so I will now list their cardinal הַּיְסוֹדִי forms. Because you already are familiar with these numbers, they will not be listed in this lesson's vocabulary, but they will be listed here.

I recommend that you make a flashcard with all of the numbers 1-10 (and twenty and a hundred, and a thousand) and list their cardinal and ordinal forms. These cardinal numbers (also called מספר יסודי) should be easier for you to memorize, because they are very similar to the ordinal ones, and because once you know the ordinal numbers, you can easily recognize the cardinal ones because of their lack of the 'and patterns. You can also look at 1 Chronicles 12:9-13 to read an ordinal list of names of Gadites from one to eleven who followed David. I think that eleven should be the only new number for you there. Here are the feminine (which looks like masculine) cardinal forms:

אַ <u>ח</u> ת	ש <u>ָת</u> יִם	שָׁלש	אַר <u>ְב</u> ּע	חָמִשׁ
one	two	three	four	five
שִׁשֵׂ	עֶבַע	שִׁמֹנֶה	<u>תִשׁ</u> ע	עֶעֶיר
six	seven	eight	nine	ten
	×ξ	ם מ	עָּעְיָרִי	אָלֶף
	a hundred	d tv	venty	a thousand

Twenty is actually a plural of עֶּשֶׁר which would literally mean 'tens'. To get 20, 30, 40, 50, 60, 70, 80, and 90, all you have to do is make one of these above numbers into the plural form. So, if you see one of these numbers (other than מֵאָה) in the plural form, then just multiply the number by '10'. For example, if you wanted to write forty, it would be the plural of אַרְבַּעִים which is אַרְבַּעִים.

Pretty much the only difference in spellings with the masculine forms (which look feminine) are that they have the added ז at the end. The main differences are the masculine form for one and two which are אָהָד.

Cardinal numbers are not like adjectives that go after the noun being described, but instead, the cardinal number is usually written before the noun or word that is being counted. To get 11-19, it takes two words, אַשָּׁי plus the number that will make them both add up to the 'teen' number desired. אַשָּׂי always comes after the other number. Genesis 32:22 has an

example of eleven. Genesis 37:2 is an example of the masculine (which looks like feminine) seventeen which looks like אַבע-עָשֶׂרָה.

Sometimes the cardinal numbers come after the noun that is being counted. Also, the bigger numbers like a thousand, or a hundred are listed first when describing a long written out number. You could think of it like our decimal system how the 1000's place are read out loud first, then the 100's place, then the 10's place, then the 1's place being listed last. 1 Kings 8:63 is a good example of the bigger numbers being listed first, while also having the numbers listed after the counted noun.

In Modern Hebrew, numbers are usually written after the word it is describing, instead of usually being before the word in Biblical Hebrew.

20.2 Duplication of Emphasis

Sometimes when a verb is used (often in the 2nd person form), it can have a duplicate of the same stem right before the verb to make an emphasis. When translating an emphasis to English, it is usually best to translate it as 'surely' or 'really'. The first word that acts as the emphasis does not get any suffixes or prefixes so it usually just has the 3 letters of the stem that is being used as a verb. The emphasis word is usually before the verb. So the 2nd person plural masculine imperfect would look something like this when used as an emphasis:

אאא תאאאו.

20.3 Duplication to mean 'every'

When two identical words are next to each other, this usually means 'every'. For example, בֹקר בֹקר would mean 'every morning'. This kind of duplication does not happen very often, but it is something that you need to know. Another example is that sometimes you might see אַישׁ and instead of translating it as 'a man, a man' it would be something like 'each man', or 'every man'. This is because אַישׁ can sometimes mean 'each' when it is talking about more than one person. It is usually clear by the context of the verse that אַישׁ means 'each' when it does. This kind of duplication can happen with other words also, but duplication in general does not happen that often in the Tanakh.

20.4 Genesis 2:1-4

This is the start of Chapter 2 of Genesis:

אַ וַיְכֵלוּ הַשָּׁמַיִם וְהָאָרֶץ וְכָל—צְּבָאָם: בַּ וַיְכַל אֱלֹהִים בַּיּוֹם הַשְּׁבִיעִי מְלַאכְתּוֹ אֲשֶׁר עַשָּׂה וַיִּשְׁבֹּת בַּיּוֹם הַשְּׁבִיעִי מִכֶּל מְלַאכְתּוֹ אֲשֶׁר עָשָה: ג וַיְבָרֶךְ אֶלֹהִים אֶת—יוֹם הַשְּׁבִיעִי וַיְקַדֵּשׁ אֹתוֹ כִּי בוֹ שָׁבַת מִכֶּל-מְלַאכְתּוֹ אֲשֶׁר-בַּרָא אֵלֹהִים לַעֲשׁוֹת: פ

:דאַלֶּה תוֹלְדוֹת הַשְּׁמַיִם וְהָאָרֶץ בְּ הָּבְּרְאָם בְּיוֹם עֲשׁוֹת יְהוָה אֱלֹהִים אֶרֶץ וְשְׁמִיִם In verse 1, נְּכֶלוּ is in the נְּפְעֵל form but because of the reversing vav, there is no dagesh to trace the dropped ש with.

בּהַבְּרְאָם has a small ה in the Letteris Hebrew text. Just like the very first letter of the Hebrew Bible (ב) that was made bigger, this one is made smaller in order to show us something important. The small ה comes from the הַפְּעִיל form which put the stem into the causative sense (but it sounds better in English to just translate it as 'when he created them'.

In verse 2, the ¬prefix must mean "by" because the context tells us that he rested on the seventh day, and so no work was done on the seventh day. If the more common "in" or "on" translation is used for the ¬prefix, then that is not the most accurate english and could lead people to have heresies that work was done on the seventh day, which it was not. "by" might be more uncommon as a translation for the ¬prefix but it is certainly used enough to justify its use here.

In verse 3, the infinitive לְצֵשׁוֹת would normally mean 'to do' or 'doing' and בָּרָא would normally mean 'he created', but to make the verse make sense in English, I had to translate this last part of the verse as 'from all of his work which God did while creating.' Normally an infinitive would not get translated as 'while' but it is not unreasonable to do so, as both the and prepositional prefixes can mean while also.

And the heavens. and the land were finished, and all their hosts. 1.2.1.2 And God ended by the seventh day his work that he did, and he rested on the seventh day from all of his work that he did. 1.2.2.2

And God blessed the seventh day and set it apart, because on it he rested from all of his work which God did while creating. 1.2.3.2

These *are* the generations of the heavens and the land **when they** *were* **created**, in *the* day Yehovah God made *the* land and heavens: 1.2.4.2

20.5 Vocabulary 15 אוצר מילים

Here are the vocabulary words for you to memorize for the next lesson:

צ.מ.ח	מ.ט.ר	טֶרֶם	בַן
to sprout	to rain	before	son
<u> </u>	י.צ.י	ע.ל.ה	ע.ב.ד
nose	to form	to go up	to serve

אָר can sometimes mean 'has' in the form of a question, or 'even', but it usually means nose. It can also sometimes mean 'anger'. It comes from the stem אנ.ג. which means 'to be angry', but that stem is not common enough to memorize yet. Perhaps אָר means 'nose' because of the ש which as a letter can mean 'mouth' or 'face', and how when a person is mad they 'crinkle' their nose up a bit when their face muscles flex.

ע.ל.ה as a noun can mean an 'offering', as in 'something brought up' or 'something sent up'. It can also somethings refer to making an offering as a verb, again, in the sense of sending something up. ע.ל.ה can also mean "to go up", as in, going up stairs or a hill.

Chapter 21 Age, questions, and מִי מַה אֵי אֵיך

21.1 Describing a person's age in Hebrew

In Hebrew, to ask or tell how old a person is, instead of using the stem ז.ק.ן which means 'to be old', a literal expression is used to say how long the person has been a son. So, when the King James translators translated the ages of people, they did not translate these parts literally, but instead they changed the expression to match the English way to say how old a person is. I like to translate the Bible literally as much as possible, and even if saying that a person was a son for 930 years might sound odd, the reader should still be able to understand it. Here is an example of Genesis 5:32:

ל**ב** וַיְהִי-נֹחַ כֶּן-חֲמֵשׁ מֵאוֹת שָנָה וַיּוֹלֶד נֹחַ אֶת-שֵׁמ אֶת-חָם וְאֶת-יָפֶת:

In this verse, שָנָה means 'years' in the plural sense because of the context of the verse, even though the actual written word is not plural. קמשׁ מָאוֹת means five hundred, and מָאוֹת is the plural of מָאָה. Notice that חַמֵּשׁ is actually the feminine form so that it matches the feminine word מאות 'hundred'. Again, this is because cardinal numbers in Hebrew have the opposite gender than what they look like. Sometimes in an English translation it is best to insert an italic word for (instead of the expected 'of'), just like we sometimes have to with the words being, will be, was, etc. Writing words in *italics* is a good way of letting the reader know that that word is not literally in the Hebrew text, but is implied. This is what the King James Version does a lot. Here is my translation:

And Noach was a son *for* five hundred years, and Noach begot Sheim, Cham and Yafet. 1.5.32.5

21.2 The interrogative (question) π

There are no question marks in Biblical or Ancient Hebrew, just like there are no commas, but both are actually implied in Hebrew by the use of certain words or letters. One way to make a question is to use a π prefix with the _vowel under it. The definite π prefix does not use this vowel, and ה letters from הָפְעִיל forms, or when the stem starts with a ה would probably never use the _vowel. So when you see at the beginning of a word, you can safely assume it is a 7 that is added to turn the sentence into a question (but you will know by the context of the verse also).

Then the question ע or צ, ה, ה then the question ה is attached next to the letters א, ה, ה then the question looks like this 7 with a patach. When the letter it is attached to one of those four letters and also has a gamets o vowel under it, then the question 7 looks like this 7. Here is an example of this added 7 being used in Genesis 13:9 (you haven't learned most of these words but you should know the first four words):

ָוְאַשְׂמְאִילָה:

There is no word to literally say 'is' at the beginning of this verse, so that means it is implied in the Hebrew text of the verse. Remember that sometimes 'is' is literally in the text by using יוֹם , or היה עלא כָל-הָאָרֶץ לְפָנֵיךְ would literally mean 'none of the land is before your face' or 'not all of the land is before your face' or 'none of the land is before you'. But because the הַ is added, we need to change it into a question saying 'Is not all of the land before your face?'. Here is my translation of this verse:

Is not all of the land before your face? Please, cause separation from me: If the left, then I will choose the right, and if the right, then I will choose the left." 1.13.9.13

In Modern Hebrew, often instead of attaching the question הַ prefix to a word already in the sentence, a ה is attached to the beginning of אַם to make האם. It should not be translated in Modern Hebrew and is just regarded as a question mark. The 'are' or 'is' is implied in the sentence and is technically not a translation of האם. In Biblical Hebrew, I have never seen a question ה attached to a אַם. Instead, Biblical Hebrew uses the הַ of question attached to a word, or other question words like מָה or מָה or מָה or מָה will be explained more, so don't worry.

Modern Hebrew has added the use of the ? Mark and other punctuation, but it would not have been needed if Biblical Hebrew methods of making questions were used.

The reason why Modern Hebrew often uses האם instead of the מו question prefix is because most of Modern Hebrew has no vowels, so readers might think it is a definite מו not a question מו,

מי מה אי איך 21.3

There are many other ways for a Hebrew verse to ask questions. מָה means 'who'. מָה means 'what' or 'how' and can have different vowels than the _depending on many things (and the different vowels really are not important to memorize). In the case that you wanted to know, it is almost always מַה unless the first letter of the next word is a guttural or a ה. For א and ז it is מָה מָה and for a ה it is מָה ס מָה ז וֹ וֹ וֹ וֹ מָה has a לְמָה has a לְמָה or לָמָה or לָמָה or לָמָה or לָמָה or לָמָה and to it, it usually means 'why' and can look like א.

The word אֵיך means 'where'. אֵיך means 'how'. These words can also be used in a verse that is not in the form of a question, just like in English. Like if you said 'I see what you mean' or 'I see who it is now'. When these words are used in a question, they never have an added אַ prefix. In other words, you won't see a אַ prefix on מִי or other question words like it.

You should put these words and the ¬prefix on separate flash cards for you to memorize them. Here is an example from Genesis 3:11 (you haven't learned a couple of these words yet but don't worry about that now):

יא וַיּאמֶר מִי הגִיד לְדָּ כִּי עֵירֹם אָתָה הָמִן-הָעֵץ אֲשֶׁר צִוִּיתִידְ לְבִלְתִּי אֲכֶל-מִמֶּנוּ

אָכָלְתָּ:

Notice מָלָּהָ, it is actually from a word you know מָן. מֶן can have possessive suffixes to say 'from it', 'from me', 'from you', and so forth. It also gets an extra a at the beginning when it gets a suffix. אַלְּהָּוֹנ means 'from him' or 'from it'. When the suffix is used with a dagesh on the i, then it is always in the singular 3rd person form like i. If there was no dagesh on the i so that it looked like i, then it would mean 'our' from the 1st person plural form. Here is my translation of the verse:

And he said "Who told you that you *were* naked? From the tree that I commanded you to not eat from, have you ate?" 1.3.11.3

21.4 Verses 2:5-7

In verse 5, שִׁיהַ means 'plant'. It is not common enough to justify memorizing right now. In verse 6, אָד means 'mist'. In verse 7, יפֿפֿה means 'and he breathed'. It comes from a rare stem נ.ש.ם which means 'to blow'. נ.שׁם means 'breath' and comes from the stem נ.שׁם which means 'to pant', like what a deer would do. As a noun it can mean 'breath'. Eventually you should memorize נ.שׁם but it is not important now because it is not that common.

ה וְכֹל שִׁיחַ הַשָּׁדֶה טֶרֶם יִהְיֶה בָאָרֶץ וְכָל-עֵשֶׁב הַשָּׁדֶה טֶרֶם יִצְמָח כִּי לֹא הִמְטִיר יְהֹנְה אֱלֹהִים עַל-הָאָרֶץ וְאָדָם אַיִן לַעֲבֹד אֶת-הָאַדְמָה: וֹ וְאֵד יַעֲלֶה מִן-הָאָרֶץ וְהִשְׁקָה אֶת-כָּל-פְּנֵי הָאֲדָמָה: זֹ וַיִּיצֶר יְהֹנָה אֱלֹהִים אֶת-הָאָדָם עָפָר מִן-הָאָדָמָה וַיִּפַּח בְּאַפִּיו נִשְׁמַת חַיִּים וַיְהִי הָאָדָם לְנֶפֶשׁ חַיָּה:

In verse 5, because טֶּבֶּם is used, which means 'not yet' in this case, it changes לל into the negative 'none'. So the beginning of the verse is best translated as 'And no plant of the field was yet on the land,". Remember that the imperfect forms can also refer to the <u>present</u> tense, not just the future. So in this case יְּהָיֵה is referring to the ongoing situation if 'no plants'.

In verse 7, we should put the word 'with' or 'from' in italics in the English translation for it to make better sense. It is implied in the Hebrew even though there is no separate word in this case. Sometimes there is no מָן but it is implied in the text, just like how ה.י.ה is sometimes not present. It can be a form of compressing or shortening the verses when they are not present.

And no plant of the field was yet on the land, and no herb of the field had yet sprout, because Yehovah God did not cause rain on the land, and there was not a man to serve the ground.

1.2.5.2

But a mist will go up from the land and will give *water* to all the face of the ground. 1.2.6.2 And Yehovah God formed the man *with* dust from the ground, and he breathed into his nose a breath of life, and the man became a living soul. 1.2.7.2

21.5 Vocabulary 16

אוצר מילים

Here are the vocabulary words for the next lesson:

	ב.ט.ע	7 <u>2</u>	י.ד.ע	שָׁב
	To plant	a garden	to know	there
בְתוֹךְ	ק.ד.ם	טֿ.ו.ם	7	ר.ע.ע
in the midst	to be before	to	put	to do bad

שָׁם can also mean 'where' when the word אשר is also used in the same verse. So instead of translating them as 'that there' it sounds better as 'where'.

The stem ר.ע.ע can make nouns like דָע which means 'bad' or 'evil'.

The stem a.r.a can also mean 'to go east', and as a non-verb word can mean 'east' or 'before' in either the sense of being in the past, or in the sense of being "in front of" something. It can also be something "ancient" or "old".

Chapter 22 התפעל, conditional, and ז' and אית suffixes

22.1 הַתְּפַעֵּל (reflexive, self verbs)

There is more than one way to explain that somebody is performing an action by themselves or on themselves. One way is to use a possessive suffix to match the person being talked about in the verb form. So if the verb is 2^{nd} person then the object and suffix would be 2^{nd} person to say that 'you are doing something by or with yourself'. The easier way to do this though is to use the הַּהַפַּעֵל form which is 'reflexive' and refers to the stem action being done to one's self.

In the perfect form the verb gets a הַּהְשִׁאָּא and the second letter of the stem gets a dagesh to look like this: הַּהְאַאָא for the 3rd person singular masculine. All of the perfect forms get this הַּהְבּיּג and the dagesh on the middle stem letter, and then the suffixes are added normally. All of the imperfect forms get the same prefix and dagesh but then the normal imperfect prefix replaces the הַ at the beginning to look like this: יִהְאַאָּא for the 3rd person singular form. The suffixes for the imperfect forms are added normally. The הַּהְפַעֵּל forms are not used that often in the Bible, but you will need to know them. They will not be in the next lesson either, but this is a good time to learn this form.

Other dictionaries claim that הַּחָפַעֵּל is a stem and that it is used in this reflexive הַּחְפַעֵּל form. After my review of many of the places in the Bible where this verb is used, it is clear to me that הַחַפּע as a stem does not exist. This verb that the dictionaries are seeing is actually an extremely rare four letter stem (there are only two that I know of including this one). I do not believe that the verb is in the הַּחְפַעֵּל form that the dictionary makers assume that it is in. The actual stem for this verb they see is שׁ.ה.ה. and it does mean 'to worship', 'bow', 'revere', just like the assumed stem שׁ.ה.ה does.

Anyway, you will encounter this stem ש.ה.ה. and the other dictionaries will tell you incorrect things about it, so I wanted to explain what I believe about it. Many reasons for my conclusions are that there is never a ה at the end of the stem like there should be if the stem really was ה.ה.ה (meaning the ה should not drop off of the stem in most of the cases I looked at, if that was the real stem). There is always a lat the end of these verbs, and only sometimes an extra lor a suffix is attached to refer to the person or thing being worshiped.

I used to not even believe that the w and ה reflexive letter swap really happened in the Tanakh, until I saw it in Psalm 18:23 in Nov 2018. In that verse it looks like this: וְאָשְׁתַּמֵּר and it is clearly in the reflexive form based on the context of the verse, and it is clearly the stem א.מ.ה.ש also, based on the context of the verse. I also noticed the reflexive w and ה swap with the stem ה.ה.ש three times in Psalm chapter 42. It is not clear to me now if this letter swap is an option or a grammar rule that has to happen when the first letter of a stem is a w when it becomes reflexive.

Another example of where this modern usage of the ψ and π pairing in the reflexive

forms came from is with the word אָשְׁתַּדּוֹרְ H849 found in Ezra. In both places in Ezra it is used as a description and not a reflexive form of a verb. So this essentially shows that this pairing can exist in sealed forms of Hebrew, but it has little to do with reflexive forms of verbs in this case (because the w and ת already had a connection with the sealing code used in Daniel). The stem for אָשְׁתַדּוֹר is possibly ת.ד.ר which is not in the Bible, but the words (continually H8411) and תְּדִירָא (Laboured H7712) which are in the Bible both come from the same stem that אַשְׁתַדּוֹר does, and both are also sealed forms. Anyway, just remember that when the stem's first letter is a w, then it probably swaps with the n of the reflexive prefix.

You do not need to memorize this now, if ever, but as a reference, I will explain how in rare cases an א can drop off of a stem if it is the last letter of the stem. In 1 Samuel 10:6 and 10:14 the stem א.ב.ב (which means to prophesy) loses it's א when it gets put into the reflexive הַּתְפַעֵּל form. I have seen signs that an א can drop from a word under certain rare situations, but this is solid evidence, with two different 'conjugations' of the reflexive form of א.ב.ב.א An example of a noun that loses an א ב.ב.א from the beginning of the word. This loss of this א has no other grammar example to explain it's loss other than perhaps this reflexive situation I described here.

Modern Hebrew uses this π - ψ swap mechanic every time there is a ψ as the first letter of the stem when the stem uses the reflexive π prefix.

22.2 אית and אית suffixes

One suffix that can be used for nouns is the ji suffix (some people call this a diminutive). It is not that common but you should learn to recognize it and know what it means. It is similar to English 'noun derivation' or 'diminutive' words. If you add a 'ness' to your English translation it can sometimes match the correct Hebrew meaning, but not always. Sometimes even translating with an English 'est' suffix matches the Hebrew meaning.

Sometimes the ין suffix can mean a diminished or lessor version of the noun it is attached to, or even something that is not diminished but related and similar. It does sometimes happen where a ין suffix does not really change the meaning of a word enough to translate it any differently. An example of a word with a slightly changed meaning is יראשון which instead of meaning 'head' or 'top', it means 'first' or 'former'. If you were to add a 'ness' or 'est' to it it would be 'topness' or 'top most', which does kind of get us to the idea of 'first'. means 'lowest' or 'lower' instead of the expected 'under' or 'instead'.

The אָית suffix where the א is the last letter of the word is similar to the אָית suffix. The suffix can often be attached to a noun that also has a noun based ת סר העוד prefix. For example, רְאִית means 'beholding' from the stem ר.א.ה. Another example is אָהַרִית which can mean 'end' or 'last' from the stem א.ה.ר which means to 'delay' or 'tarry'.

22.3 אם לו

In the Bible, there are words which can put a verse into a conditional sense, or a sense of possibility. אַמ usually means 'if', and is usually used as a conditional sense to say something like 'if you do this then I will do that'. On rare occasions it can mean 'when' or 'but' or even the word 'or', or other things, which you can recognize by the context of the verse. '> puts the verse into the sense of possibility also, as in, something may or may not happen. It is usually best translated as 'perhaps'.

In rare situations the combination of both prepositions כִּי and בַּאָ can mean 'except' or in the KJV 'save'. In a verse it looks like כֵּי אַם like in Joshua 14:4.

22.4 Verses 2:8-9

In verse 8, עָדָּהָ is the name for the garden that God made, and it comes from the rare stem ע.ד.ן which means 'to have pleasure'. Names of people and places in Hebrew mean things. This is why even in Matthew 1:21 it says 'And she shall bring forth a son, and thou shalt call his name JESUS: for he shall save his people from their sins.' In English and Greek, Jesus doesn't mean anything. But, Jesus' shorter name in Hebrew is אוני Yeishua, which means 'salvation', and his full name is יְהוֹשֵׁי which means 'Yah saves'. I explain this a bit better in my book "What is Truth?", and also Nehemia Gordon explains our savior's name and the name of God better than I do, if you want to look up his book 'The Hebrew Yeshua vs. The Greek Jesus'. Anyway, שׁלְּהֶם below means 'on the east', or 'among the east'. In verse 9, המ.ד. means 'to be desirable' or 'to be pleasant' and is not common enough for you to justify learning yet.

ח וַיִּטֵּע יְהוָה אֱלֹהִים גַּן-בְּעֵדֶן מִקֶּדֶם וַיָּשֶׂם שָׁם אֶת-הָאָדָם אֲשֶׁר יָצָר: **ט** וַיִּצְמַח יְהוָה אֱלֹהִים מִן-הָאַדָמָה כָּל-עֵץ נָחְמָד לְמַרְאֶה וְטוֹב לְמַאֲכָל וְעֵץ הַחַיִּים בְּתוֹךְ הַגָּן וְעֵץ הַדַּעַת טוֹב וָרָע:

In verse 8, בַּבְּעֵּדָן literally means 'a garden in Eiden' because וְ here is not definite and neither is the בַּprefix on Eiden. Normally when a word pair has a definite noun like a name, then all of the words in the pairing are definite, but this prepositional prefix changes this pairing due to it having a Sheva. It could be said that the gets a Sheva because the guttural y is after it, but I believe this is a special situation where the changes it to indefinite.

וַיַּצְמַח in verse 9 is in the clipped form of the הָפְעִיל so that is why there is no signal letter to show us that it is in the הַפְעִיל form.

נְהְמָד לְמַרְאָה literally means 'desirable by appearance', but it sounds better in English to treat it as an adjective as 'desirable appearance'.

הדעת and the indefinite דעת are common words from the stem י.ד.ע which you memorized. Sometimes when a stem has a 'as the first letter, it can drop off when a noun or

adjective or other word comes from that stem. This is similar to when the same stems get an imperfect prefix and the 'drops off.

And Yehovah God planted a garden in Eiden, among the east, and he put there the man which he formed. 1.2.8.2

And Yehovah God caused to sprout from the ground every tree *of* desirable appearance, and good for food; and the tree of life in the midst of the garden, and the tree of the knowledge of good and evil. 1.2.9.2

22.5 Vocabulary 17

אוצר מילים

Here are the vocabulary words for your next lesson:

עַב	ס.ב.ב	זָרָב	בָּהָר
name	to encompass	gold	river
ה.ל.ך	ל.ק.ח	אֶבֶן	ש.מ.ר
to go	to take	stone	to keep

מש can sometimes mean 'reputation', as in 'making a name for himself'. It can also sometimes mean 'authority', as in 'in the name of the king'.

ת.מ.מ can sometimes mean 'to keep', and as a noun or word it can mean 'watch' or 'keeping watch'. As a command it can mean to 'watch yourself' or 'be careful about something'.

ה.ל.ך often has it's ה drop off, so you spend more time memorizing what it looks like when it's ה drops off. I will probably eventually make a list of irregular conjugations near the back of this book, but as I explained before, for many reasons I have not yet wanted to make conjugation lists.

Chapter 23 גָּא, and Two things

בא 23.1

means 'please', or other similar words of supplication. The KJV and most other Bible versions usually translate this as 'now', but I rarely see fit to translate it as 'now', because it is almost always used in a polite or fearful supplication. Perhaps the English word 'now' meant something different 400 years ago when the KJV was translated. Maybe it was a less demanding or less impatient conversational word back then.

Anyway, אָ is usually right after a command, attached with a maaqef -. Perhaps this is also why most others translate it as 'now', but most of these times when it is used with a command, it is in a prayer type of format to God, or to a master, or somebody of authority. By the context, I believe it would be a very negative attitude for all of the 'holy' people who have used this word when addressing God if it was saying 'now' usually. Would these 'saints' really demand God to do something 'now'? I see it as like a pray request when I read verses with אָ in it.

23.2 במ

ענים usually means 'also' but sometimes it can mean 'even' or other things, especially when there is a second בם in a verse. In English it usually doesn't sound as good to say 'also' more than once in a sentence, so we would say 'even' or some other similar word if you need to emphasize the sentence with another word like 'also'.

23.3 Doubling (Two things) – Dual forms

It is not very common, but sometimes words can be doubled to mean 'two' of something, just by giving the masculine (or masculine spelled) word the normal masculine יַם suffix, and then changing the last vowel of the word (before the suffix is added) to a patach to look like this: אַאַהַיִם (notice the ה changes to a ה because the ה was the last letter of the stem that מַאָה comes from). Another example is with 'two years' as שְׁנָתֵיִם, and again the ה changes to a ה because of the added suffix. This kind of doubling will not be in this or the next lesson, but it is something you need to learn.

I have seen some people suggest that שַׁמִים is in this doubling state because it has the 'right' vowels to be in that state, but it is not the case for at least two reasons. It comes from the word construct of שַׁמִים with an added שׁ prefix, and the meanings of שַׁמִים do not support a doubling effect theory.

A word can have the exact same vowels as the doubling form vowels, but that does not automatically put it into a doubling mode. It can be a coincidence. However, when a word is

put into a doubling form, it does have to have the correct אַיִם ending (where א is whatever letter is the last letter of the word or stem).

In less common situations the dual form can have a qameits vowel instead of a patach like with אַלְפָּיִם from Nehemiah 7:72 which means "two thousand". ינבוא in that verse means "ten thousand" and comes from ר.ב.ב but you do not need to memorize those words yet.

In Modern Hebrew, the dual form can look like this with two 'letters: איים (where κ is the last letter of the word with the "suffix".

In Arabic, this doubling effect of words is treated like an entirely different set of plurality. For example, when learning Arabic, teachers often classify words into groups of singular, double, and plural. Just like in Hebrew, the forms that are doubled do have some differences compared to the other forms. In Arabic, the changes are in the letters also, not just the vowels.

23.4 Verses 2:10-14

In verse 19, the stem כ.ר.ד means 'to separate', and is not used enough in the Bible to justify learning yet. הַבְּדְלַה and הַבְּדְלַה are types of precious stones and are not really worth memorizing due to how little they are used in the Bible.

ין נְהָר יצֵא מֵעֵדֶן לְהַשְׁקוֹת אֶת-הַגָּן וּמִשֶּׁם יִפְּרֵד וְהָיָה לְאַרְבָּעָה רָאשִׁים:
יא שֵׁם הָאֶחָד פִּישׁוֹן הוֹא הַסֹּבֵב אֵת כָּל-אֶרֶץ הַחָוִילָה אֲשֶׁר-שָׁם הַזְּהָב:
יב וּזָהֵב הָאָרֶץ הַהוֹא טוֹב שָם הַבְּּדֹלַח וְאֶבֶן הַשְׁהַם:
יג וְשֵׁם-הַנְּהָר הַשֵּׁנִי גִּיחוֹן הוּא הַסוֹבֵב אֵת כָּל-אֶרֶץ כּוּשׁ:
יד וְשֵׁם-הַנְּהָר הַשְּׁלִישִׁי חִדֶּקֶל הוּא הַהֹלֵךְ קִדְמַת אַשׁוּר וְהַנְּהָר הַוְּבִיעִי הוּא
פְּרָת:

In verse 10, יצא is an active participle from the stem יצא, so it literally means 'something that goes out', in this case, a river is going out.

Sometimes the stem ה.י.ה is best translated as 'became' instead of the expected 'and it was' in this verse.

In verse 11, אֶּרֶץ הַחֲוֹילָה אֲשֶׁר-שָׁם הַזָּהָב is an example of when we should translate the אֶּעֶר-שָׁם as 'where' instead of the something like 'that there'.

In verse 14, הַּלֵּךְ is a definite active participle from the very common stem ה.ל.ך that you learned. You will often see this stem used as a command or in other forms where the a drops off.

קדְמַת here is used as a literal 'east' direction from the stem ק.ד.ם which can mean 'east' or 'before' or 'ancient'.

And a river was going out from Eiden to give water to the garden, and from there it was

divided, and became four heads. 1.2.10.2

The name of the one *was* Pishon, it encompasses all the land of Chavilah, where there *was* the gold. 1.2.11.2

And the gold of that land *was* good, there *was* the bdellium and the onyx stone. 1.2.12.2 And the name of the second river *was* Gichon, it encompassed all of the land of Kush. 1.2.13.2

And the name of the third river *was* Chideqel, It went east *to* Ashur. And the fourth river *was* Perat. 1.2.14.2

אוצר מילים

23.5 Vocabulary 18

Here is the vocabulary for your next lesson:

מ.ו.ת	ו.ה.	2.	י.נ.ח	ב.ו.ח
to die	to co	mmand	to put	to rest
	ב.ו.א	ע.ז.ר	נ.ג.ד	ל <u>ְב</u> ַד
	to come	to help	to tell	alone

י.נ.ח also mean 'to leave' or 'to cause to rest'. I have a suspicion that many of the times that the dictionaries see a stem like this, it is actually the stem ב.ר.ח and not י.נ.ח in the verse. Even so, the meanings of both of them are very close. When it comes to talking about resting on the Sabbath, or day of rest, the stem ש.ב.ח is used for other kinds of rest, like when it is used as a noun for 'resting place'.

ז.ו.ה is a very common stem and you will see it a lot without the last ה due to it dropping off. Try to memorize it well so that you can recognize it without it's last ה.

The word לְבַּד is not used a whole lot in the Bible but it is important to know. It means 'alone', and can have possessive suffixes also.

ב.ו.א is often also used in the הפעיל forms, and instead of translating it those times as 'to cause to come', it is best to translate it as 'to bring'.

Chapter 24 פְּעֵל, spacing, and Sealed Intro.

פעל 24.1

The פַּעֵל verb forms are not really that much different in how they operate or how they interact with the stem meanings than the פַּעל form. The main difference is that there is a dagesh in the middle letter of the stem, and that the vowel patterns are different. The meanings of the verbs in this Piel form are not really much different than the Pa'al forms, so there really isn't any new mechanic to memorize like the Hiphil, Hitpaeil, and the Niphal forms.

The לַּעֵל form does cause the stem to have a more intense meaning though. For example, the stem ע.ל.ה in the פַּעל form means 'to send' (usually with the expectation of the person to return), but in the פַּעל form it means 'to set free' (like setting a servant free). Again, this book is not meant to teach the memorization of every possible verb form vowel spelling, but instead, my goal is to help you to know what the stem is, and the meaning of the 'conjugation' of a verb, and how to recognize them. Vowel memorization is really only important when you want to start writing, in order to reduce how often other people 'correct' your vowel spellings. Vowels are important to know for prefixes and suffixes, and for certain nouns, in order to differentiate them, but the vowels that are under the stem letters of a verb will not usually be enough help on their own to tell you much information.

One of the most used פַּעֵל verb forms is with the stem א.ב.ר which means to speak and has a dagesh usually on the center ב letter. In Psalm 30:1 (verse 2 in the Hebrew) there is a good example of how the פַּעֵל can have a causative or even an 'allowance' sense to it. The stem א.מ.ה is used in the פַּעֵל in this verse, and one hint is the dagesh on the ב. By the context of the verse it is clear that at least a causative sense is needed, but I believe it should be an 'allowance' sense. For example, the last of the verse should be translated as 'and you did not allow my enemies to rejoice against me.' While the causative could be correct to imply that God did not cause his enemies to rejoice against him, it brings the question, does God sometimes cause enemies to rejoice against us when bad things happen to us? Or is it more that he allows them to do some things in order to test us or show his Glory or a lesson. I also believe that sometimes the הפעל and other forms can also have this 'allowance' sense.

24.2 Letter Stretching and spacing

In some Hebrew Tanakhs like the Letteris version I read, in order to keep the margins lined up well, so that there are no empty spaces at the beginning or the ending of a line, the scribes made some letters wider than normal, or skinnier than normal, or added extra spaces or made the letters closer, or added an extra maaqef -. These kinds of changes to the letters and spaces were not meant to change any meaning of these verses. However, on rare occasions, there are purposeful indents in Hebrew verses, or purposeful patterns of how the words are laid out on the page, and in these situations, these indents and patterns <u>are</u> meant

to give extra meaning to the verse, or at least are meant to give emphasis or separation to a verse. One example of purposeful, meaningful spacing in the Hebrew text, is with the 'song of Mosheh' in Exodus 15. The Letteris has it spaced in an interesting pattern where one line has only one word on the left and right, and the rest of the verse in the middle, then the line before that line and the next line are opposite, so that there are no words in the middle, only a big space. This pattern alternates in a repeating manner for the whole 'song'.

In another song of Moses (Deuteronomy 32) the words of the verses are set into two columns to give it emphasis and or separation from the other parts of the book. My pictures below are a bit blurry because my hand was not steady with my phone, I apologize. At the bottom of the page in the first picture, you can see the normal spacing and margins for the text.



24.3 Sealed words, including the * suffix

In big portions of the books of Daniel and Ezra, a place in Jeremiah, and a place in Genesis in the Bible, There is a phenomenon that I call the 'sealing of the text' or 'sealed forms' of words. This is a pattern that I have detected and documented with a chart I made in my book called "What is Truth?". If you ever find yourself reading in Daniel or Ezra, know that this 'code' that I listed details how there are repeated letter swaps on words. This is done in a non-random, specific pattern, which matches and swaps letters that have a relationship. For example, it is common for an x to change to a \(\tau\) or a \(\tau\). It is common for a \(\tau\) to change to a \(\tau\), and so forth.

These changes are done with more than one word for most of these patterns I have seen, which means it cannot be 'errors', and it is intentionally done, and not done randomly. It also means that this is not a normal process of a language changing over time. It also shows that it is not a different language being used. If you want a better explanation, you should read my book "What is Truth?". I have shown how there is no 'Aramaic' in the Hebrew Tanakh. There is only Hebrew in it. I will describe some sealed grammar now and also in later chapters of this book. If you do not plan on reading from Daniel or Ezra in the near future, you may want to skip these sealed grammar sections of this book, then you can reread these sections after you finish this book. Even in non-sealed places in the Tanakh, the Definite article can be an Aleph x suffix. In Daniel 2:37, and in other sealed places in the Tanakh, there are examples of how this definite article Aleph Suffix can also be used in plural nouns.

In Daniel 2:37 we have two examples of this. שַׁלֵּכִים with the Aleph Suffix becomes the definite plural מָלְכִים while מֵלְכִים becomes מֵלְכִים . Notice how the adding of the Aleph Suffix אָ (remember that the qamets goes under the preceding letter) also creates a Dagesh on the Yod ' preceding the Aleph א. I believe that the Aleph Suffix is yet one more method of sealing up Daniel with an already known Biblical Phenomenon (Aspects or mechanics that are already shown in the Bible before the writing of the book of Daniel). Some teachers call the א definite suffix an 'emphatic state'.

In rare places other than Daniel and Ezra (but also in those books), a word can also be made definite with a x suffix and the last vowel is changed to a patach ilike this x. In rare occasions, with this x suffix, it can mean 'my' just like how the Imperfect 1st person prefix x means 'I will'. Most of the sealed grammar in the Tanakh is similar to the Hebrew in the rest of the Tanakh, so I will only be mentioning the sealed grammar that is different from the rest of the Hebrew we know. In other words, when I mention a specific sealed grammar situation, for example a 2nd person form of a verb or suffix, I will not be listing the other forms if they are the same as the normal Hebrew.

In modern Hebrew, you might hear somebody say 'Abba' when talking to their dad. This is the א definite suffix added to the word father מב and most modern Hebrew speakers

don't even realize this has happened because 'Abba' in modern Hebrew is treated as a whole word and not אָב with a suffix (this is one of the many ways in which Modern Hebrew has changed the Original Hebrew).

לז אַנְתָּה מּלְכָּא מֶלֶךְ מַלְכִיָּא דִי אֱלָה שְׁמֵיָא מַלְכוּתָא הַסְנָא וְתָקְפָּא וִיקָרָא יִהַב-לָךְ:
You are the king, a king of the kings: the God of heaven provided for you the strong and prevailing and prized kingdom. 27.2.37.852

H2630, H8630, H3365, H4428, H433, H8064, H4438, H3051

24.4 Verses 2:15-19

In verse 15, וְּיֵקְה comes from the stem ל.ק.ה that you learned. stems that start with a ל often have their drop off when a prefix is added to the stem. Sometimes when this happens, like when a drops off of the beginning of a stem, a dagesh is put on the second letter of the stem.

In verse 16, נְיַצוּ comes from the stem צ.ו.ה and because it is in the clipped form, the ה drops off. אָכֹל הַאכֵל is an example of an emphasis word of the same stem coming before a verb. It means here 'you may surely eat'. Sometimes when a second person form of a verb is used, instead of meaning 'you will do something', it can be in the sense of possibility, as in, 'you may do something', or even a suggestion such as 'you should do something'.

The opposite goes for לא תאכל of verse 17, which means 'you may not eat'.

In verse 18, עַּגֶר כְּנָגְדוֹ means 'a helper while he tells' or 'a helper before him'. גָּגָר which comes from ז.ג.ז (to tell) can mean 'opposite' or 'in front of'. Perhaps this is relating in the way that in order 'to tell' נ.ג.ד somebody something, you have to be in front of them (or should be, at least back then). In this verse "directs" seems like a better translation to me than "tells".

In verse 19, הַּפְעִיל is in the clipped הַפְעִיל form of ב.ו.א.

טוּ וַיִּקָח יְהֹנָה אֱלֹהִים אֶת-הָאָדָם וַיַּנָחֵהוּ בְגַן — עֵדֶן לְעָבְדָה וּלְשְׁמְרָה:
טוֹ וַיְצַו יְהֹנָה אֱלֹהִים עַל-הָאָדָם לֵאמֹר מִכּל עֵץ-הַגָּן אָכֹל תּאכֵל:
יוֹ וּמֵעֵץ הַדַּעַת טוּב וָרָע לֹא תֹאכֵל מִמֶּנוּ כִּי בִּיוֹם אֲכָלְךְ מִמֶּנוּ מוּת תְּמוּת:
יוֹ וּמֵעֵץ הַדְּעַת טוּב וָרָע לֹא תֹאכֵל מִמֶּנוּ כִּי בִּיוֹם אֲכֶלְךְ מִמֶּנוּ מוּת תְּמוּת:
יוֹ וַיִּאמֶר יְהוָה אֱלֹהִים לֹא-טוֹב הֱיוֹת הָאָדָם לְבַדּוֹ אֶעֱשֶׂה-לוֹ עֵזֶר כְּנָגְדּוֹ:
יוֹ וַיִּצֶר יְהוָה אֱלֹהִים מִן-הָאֲדָמָה כָּל-חַיֵּת הַשְּׂדֶה וְאֵת כָּל-עוֹף הַשְּמֵיִם וַיָּבֵא אֶליט וַיִּצֶר יְהוָה אֱלֹהִים מִן-הָאֲדָמָה כָּל-חַיֵּת הַשְּׂדֶה וְאֵת כָּל-עוֹף הַשְּמֵיִם וַיָּבֵא אֶליט וַיִּבְרא-לוֹ וְכֹל אֲשֶׁר יִקְרָא-לוֹ הָאָדָם נֶפֶשׁ חַיִּה הוּא שְׁמוֹ:
In verse 19, הוֹא שְׁמוֹ is definite as הוֹא tran mean 'that', and I feel that in this case, it also means 'that' even while being indefinite, because it refers to the definite '.

And Yehovah God took the man, and placed him in the garden of Eiden to serve it and to

keep it. 1.2.15.2

And Yehovah God commanded over the man saying "From all the trees of the garden you may surely eat, 1.2.16.2

But from the tree of knowledge of good and evil you may not eat from it, because in the day you eat from it you will surely die." 1.2.17.2

And Yehovah God said "It is not good for the man to be alone, I will make for him a helper while he directs." 1.2.18.2

And Yehovah God formed from the ground all living ones of the field, and all birds of the sky, and he brought *them* to the man to see what he would call them, and all that the man called the living souls, that *was* its name. 1.2.19.2

In verse 17, if you are wondering why Adam and Eve did not die in the first day, I explain the prophetic connection between a day and a thousand years in my book "What is Truth?" in section 15.8.

24.5 Vocabulary 19

אוצר מילים

Here are the vocabulary words for your next lesson:

נ.פ.ל	י.ש.ד	צֵלָע	ס.ג.ר
to fall	to sleep	side	to shut
בְעַיָר	ב.נ.ה	אִשָה	פַעַם
flesh	to build	woman	time

צלע usually means side but in the case of the next lesson it means 'rib'.

שנם usually means time but it can also mean 'pace' or 'occurrence'.

אָשָה can also mean wife.

The stem of בַּשֶׂר is of course ב.שֹ.ב but the stem means 'to give news', and is not common enough to justify memorizing yet.

Chapter 25 Words without stems, Cantillations, Sealed 3rd p.

25.1 Word constructs without stems

There are word constructs mad up of more than one word, with each part coming from an established stem. ב.ל.ה is an example of this, where a portion from the stem ב.ל.ה is used, and another part from ע.ל.ל. This construct in this example literally means 'without deeds' or 'without a yoke', but is often translated as 'wicked' or ungodly'.

As I have described in this book already, some words have no known stems, and are sort of considered as stems in themselves. מַיִם is a good example of this, or the many animal names that Adam named.

מת is a good example of a word construct that has no known stem. At first glance one might wonder if it comes from the stem מָלֵישׁ, but it should be clear to us for several reasons that it does not come from that stem, and thus, has no stem in either construct part. Firstly, because the last part of the construct is מֵלִים. Second, it has a w prefix which carries significant meaning in this case. Third, the meanings of the stem מַלַּים. W (to be astonished or desolate) do not match up with the meaning of מַלְיִם, which means either 'sky', 'heaven', or 'universe'. One could argue that the heavens are astonishing, but that is a big reach, especially because the stem was not even used before we see the word מַיִם שָׁלְיִי, but we do see the word מַיִם before it, to show us that it is the foundation of the word construct מַיִם which literally means 'consumed water'. The sky has a lot of water vapor in it, which is consumed (evaporated) water. It does not happen often, but sometimes the letter w gives us a hint that it can mean 'sunlight' that 'consumes' or 'dries' something up. שֵׁמֶיֵע which means sun is a good example of one of these hints, and so is שׁ מִיִב. which means to dry up. In the 'heavens' definition of מֵיִם part as being the waters of the Earth, comets, and any that is present on planets.

25.2 Cantillation markings טְעָמִים

Cantillation markings are not vowels, but there are theories that might be true about how some of the cantillation markings can tell the reader what 'musical tones' or chords to sing in, or maybe even change some vowels on the words they are under or above. The name for cantillations in Hebrew is סְּעָמִים and probably literally means something like 'perceptions' or 'dictations'. I talk a bit more about cantillation markings in my book 'What is Truth?'.

There are a few cantillation markings that are known to show the organization of a verse. One of them is a straight vertical line called a Silluq סְלּוֹּק that looks like a lower case "l" that can be put below the last letter of the last word in a verse. This is redundant really though, because there is always a Sof Pasuq פְּסוֹק : at the end of a verse in many Tanakhs (which suggests that perhaps either cantillations are a man made thing, or if it was Godmade then the Sof Pasuq might be misused now in modern times).

Another one, and probably the only useful one to most of us, is the Etnachta (also called Atnacha) which looks like a 'wishbone' pointed upward like a ^. This sign is around the middle of the verse to tell the reader that they are around the middle of the verse. This does have it's uses, but for most of us, especially while we read alone, it isn't much use. Supposedly, this Atnacha can change the vowels in the words it is under.

Some of the other cantillations markings like the one that looks like a < above a letter seem to also sometimes change the vowels in a word. The Munach looks like a backwards L under a word and supposedly is put under a word when it has a connection to the next word, like a person being named after a verb is used where the person is doing that action. These cantillation vowel changes do seem to be why some people call these vowel changes 'pausal forms' (but not all supposed 'pausal forms' have cantillation markings above or under them.

The names of the Te'amim (cantillations) are a bit different in each dialect of Hebrew. Some of the 'King' or 'Duke' class disjunctives can supposedly sometimes imply a 'comma' like 'pause' in the reading. Most of the signs are written on the accented or 'stressed' syllable of the word. The Te'amim can act very different when they are in the Psalms, Proverbs, and Job. I believe that this is why some people have classified the same exact looking markings as being different markings, because they act differently in those three books. I believe that these are the same markings, but that they do act different while in those three books. In my chart below, I have put them in order of hierarchy, not in the order of the traditional memorization order. The Te'amim can be put into five categories: Emperors מָלְכִים, Dukes שַׁרְתִים , Counts שָׁרְיִשִׁים, and Administrators (Conjuctives)

The Qarney Para is not a separate, unique marking in my belief, because it is just both of the Tilsha on one letter. The Terey Tanay is just a duplication of the Maarakha where two Maarakhas are under one letter. The Gereshiym are just two Geresh markings next to each other on the same letter. Notice that both of the Shofar markings can be placed above or below a letter. Most people consider these markings as four separate markings, but I consider them only as two different markings that can go above or below a letter. The purpose and how they effect the verse do depend on if the markings are above or below the letter.

The Yetiv does look like the Mahapakh but they are slightly different. I believe that there are 27 different cantillation markings if Maaqef, Meteg, and Raphe are included (which they probably should be). If they are not included in this list with the cantillation markings, then would they go with the vowels? I do not believe that it should, because all of the vowels have a pronunciation, and they both serve to show pronunciation situations but do not themselves have any pronunciation.

Some of these markings near the top of my chart are redundant, in that a fluent reader can get all of the same information from the letters and vowels, and would have no need for the cantillation markings. The only non-redundant marking near the top of my chart is the Sof Pasuq, because it makes the end of a verse. There is no other way to know the end of a verse other than perhaps by spacing of the letters and the context of the verse. But the Atnacha, Maaqef, Raphe, Meteg, and Gaya are all redundant, bringing no new information

to the reader. These were probably added during more modern times, and perhaps the other possible musical or tone based markings were the original markings (along with Sof Pasuq).

It is possible that these 5 redundant markings are original markings also, perhaps because a fluent reader who is reading fast out loud might need additional markings to ensure that they see these important places in the text. Or perhaps even if it is true that vowels were not written in the original Torah, perhaps these cantillation markings were, and thus they were helpful.

The Gaya * marking seems to often be used as a more modern marking that is used in the Letteris, and perhaps other versions of the Tanakh to mark places where the more modern 'scribes' think words should be pronounced differently than how they are written in the Tanakh. Once example in the Letteris version is with 2 Samuel 23:9 where this sign is used and then a patach vowel is added before the gimmel ג of the word נברים because Meir Letteris or somebody else thought that there should be a pronounced hey-patach here to make it definite. This does not mean that this sign is only used for marking places like this, but it could mean it was added in more modern times. It could also have been present in ancient times but then more modern scribes added the margin notes for the 'proper' way to pronounce those words.

I will not be putting cantillation markings into the verses in this book, because I would have to copy and paste each mark, if it is even possible.

I colored the names of the groups to more differentiate between them and the names of the markings.

Because each Hebrew dialect has slightly different names, tones, and other methods about these cantillation markings, I have not made this an exhaustive list. It would be a lot of work and most people who learn Hebrew are not going to need this cantillation information.

This is just meant to be a basic overview. I made this chart below, it is a work in progress, some of the finer details I am unsure of due to those details being not easy to find, and there are many different opinions on these details:

	Te'amim	טעמים		
Sign	Transliteration and Group name	Name	Purpose	Notes
:	Sof Passuq (passuk) Pronunciation Group	סוֹף פָּסוּק	End of Verse	Emperor Class disjunctive
٨	Atnacha Pronunciation Group	אַתְנָחָה	Middle of Verse	Emperor Class disjunctive

Page 110 of 169

-	Maqeif (Maqqaf, makkeph) Pronunciation Group	מקף מקף	Attaches word pairs / constructs together sometimes like a hyphen.	Emperor Class?
1	Shofar Holeikh (Munach) Pronunciation Group	שוֹפָר הוֹלֵךְ	When the next word is connected	Emperor Class? Can also have the mark above the עלוי letter with the name
-	Raphe Pronunciation Group	רָפֶּה	Can be used above a Beged Khephet letter to indicate that it really has no dagesh.	Emperor Class? Meaning 'healing'
1	Meteg (Metheg) Pronunciation Group	מֶתֶג	Can show if sheva is vocal or if a qamets has an 'a' or an 'o' sound.	Emperor Class? It can be on the left or the right of the vowel, but always under the letter. For example, it is on the right at the beginning of the verse in Deuteronomy 22:25.
*	Gaya? Pronunciation Group		Often can be above a letter of a word that is irregular, to show that it is different for a reason.	Emperor Class?
•	Ravia Pronunciation Group	רָבִיע	Can split first half of a verse, before the Atnacha, making the verse into 'quarters'.	Emperor Class? Probably has a meaning that means 'quarter' or 1/4.
<	Yetiv Mooqdam (Shofar Yetiv) Pronunciation Group	יְתִיב מוּקְדָּם	Replaces Ravia when near a Zaqef. May cause a short pause.	Emperor Class? Also called שׁוֹפֶּר יְתִיב.
	Pishta (Qadma, Azeil) Pronunciation Group	פּישְׁטָא	Replaces Ravia when near a Zaqef. Replaces Munach depending on following disjunctive.	Emperor Class? Also called אַזִיל or אַזִיל Called 'Pistha' if on the last letter, or 'Qadma' if on the stressed syllable. Called תרין פשטין when two of them are on one word or two of them are on one word or קרי is used instead of קרי. Can also be called קרים.
٠	Seguleta Segol Group	סְגַלְּתָא		King Class disjunctive Meaning 'the peculiar treasure'

Page 111 of 169

:	Zaqef Qatan	זָקֵר קַטָן		King Class disjunctive
	Katan Group			
1:	Zaqef Gadol	זָקף גָּדוֹל		King Class disjunctive?
	Unnamed			
*	Shalshelet Rare*	שַׁלְשֶׁלֶת	Replaces Seguleta when Seguleta is on it's own.	King Class disjunctive?
	Tifcha Sof Passuk Group Etnachta Group	מפּטָא	Replaces Zaqef Qatan when near Sof Pasuq or Atnacha. Often paired with maarakha.	King Class disjunctive? Also called נְטוּיָה
y	Tevir Unnamed	ּקְבֵיר	Replaces Ravia when near a Tifcha. Possibly a break in reading or a big jump down in pitch between notes.	Duke Class disjunctive? Supposedly means 'broken'.
N	Zirqa Segol Group	זְרְקָא	Replaces Ravia when near a Seguleta.	Duke Class disjunctive? Also called צָנוֹר
þ	Pazar Telisha Group	פָזַר		Count Class disjunctive Also called פָּזֵר גָּדוֹל.
٥	Tilsha Yameen (Telisha Gedola)	תּלְשָׁא יָמִין	Never linked to the next note as one musical phrase.	Count Class disjunctive Supposedly meaning 'detached'.
•	Teresh (Geresh) Unnamed	אָתֵּי טֶרֶס		Count Class disjunctive Also called גֵרשׁ מַקְדָּם. Can also be called בֵרשׁ מַקְדָּם with the mark a bit more to the right of the letter.
I	Peseeq (Munach Legameh) Unnamed	פָּסִיק		Disjunctive. Also called מֻנַּח לְגַרְמֵהּן.
<	Shofar Hafukh (Mahapakh) Katan Group	שוֹפָר הָפּוּדְ	Replaces Munach depending on following disjunctive.	General conjunctive? Can also have the marking above the letter with the name Ole and is called עוֹלָה.

Page 112 of 169

J	Meirkha (Maarakha) Sof Passuk Group Etnachta Group	מַאֲרֶכָה מֵרְכָה	Replaces Munach depending on following disjunctive. Can prolong the melody of the word that follows.	General conjunctive
s	Dirga Unnamed	דּרְגָּא	Replaces Munach depending on following disjunctive.	General conjunctive
	Netooyah (Dehi) Unnamed	נְטוּיָה		Can also be called זהי with the marking a bit more on the right side of the letter.
Q	Tilsha Semol (Telisha Qetana) Telisha Group	תּלְשָׁא שְׂמֹאל	Replaces Munach depending on following disjunctive. Never linked to the next note as one musical phrase.	General conjunctive. Supposedly meaning 'detached'.
v	Yerah Ben Yoma Rare*	יֶרח בֶּן יוֹמוֹ	Replaces Munach depending on following disjunctive.	General conjunctive Is this also called the Atnah Hafukh?
Non-l	U nique signs			
QD	Qarney Para Rare*	קרְנֵי פָרָה		Count Class disjunctive
n	Terey Tanay (Merkha Kefula) Rare*	הְּבִי טִעְמִי	Might be a general conjunctive or might sometimes replace Tevir.	General conjunctive or Duke Class disjunctive? Can also be called מֵרְכָא כְּפוּלָה.
((Tirseen (Geresheem) Unnamed	הְּבֵין טִרְסִין		Count Class disjunctive
	Illuy (Shofar Illuy?) Etnachta Group Segol Group Katan Group Telisha Group	שוֹפָּר עִלּוּי עַלּוּי	When the next word is connected?	General conjunctive? Is the same marking as Shofar Holeikh but it is on the top of the letter
(Ole (Shofar Ole?))	שופָר עולֶה עוֹלֶה	Replaces Munach depending on	General conjunctive? Is the same marking as Shofar

	Katan Group		following disjunctive?	Hafukh but it is on the top of the letter.
Sign	Transliteration	Name	Purpose	Notes

25.3 Sealed 3rd Person plural Perfect and Imperfect

In Daniel 2:7 there is an example of the 3^{rd} person plural perfect form with the word אָמְרִין. Again, we have the unexpected ז suffix instead of the normal 1 suffix. In verse 8, the normal 3^{rd} person singular perfect form זְּמֶבֶר that we would expect is used. In Daniel 2:18 is an example of the 3^{rd} person plural imperfect form with the unexpected additional 3^{rd} letter.

By the way, the Paragogic Nun which I will mention a bit later (chapter 30) in this book, is good proof that this sealed use of the 7 comes from Hebrew and not the 'Aramaic' myth. Also notice how the x from this stem 7.2.x gets dropped off as if it were a '. There are rare cases of an x letter dropping off of some words in the Tanakh, but the only time a first letter x stem has an x drop off is in the first person imperfect form. Normally it is a ' that would be replaced with a i when it drops off, but here it is an x. Perhaps there is an unused stem 7.2.that means the same thing as 7.2.x, and if so, that would be why the ' drops off here, but I am not sure if that stem exists in the original Hebrew.

25.4 Verses 2:20-22

In verse 21, הַרְדָמָה is a rarely used word that means 'deep sleep'.

 נִיּקְרָא הָאָדָם שֵׁמוֹת לְכָל-הַבְּהֵמָה וּלְעוֹף הַשְּׁמַיִם וּלְכֹל חַיַּת הַשְּׂדָה וּלְאָדָם לֹא-מָצָא עֵזֶר בְּנֶגְדּוֹ:

כא וַיַּפֵּל יְהנָה אֱלֹהִים תַּרְדֵּמָה עַל-הָאָדָם וַיִּישֶׁן וַיִּקַּח אַחַת מִצַּלְעֹתִיו וַיִּסְגֹּר בָּשָׂר תַּחְתָּנָּה:

:כב וַיִּבֶן יְהוָה אֱלֹהִים אֶת-הַצֵּלָע אֲשֶׁר-לְקַח מִן-הָאָדָם לְאִשָּׁה וַיְבְאֶדָם אֶל-הָאָדָם In verse 20, יְּלָּאָדָם לֹא-מָצָא is a good example of a יְmeaning 'but' instead of 'and'. Some would translate הָאָדָם as Adam, but if it were using this word as his name, then there would not be a definite הַhere attached to it. If it were 'Adam' here, it would be אַדָם.

In verse 21, הַּפְעִיל is in the clipped הָפְעִיל form and because the dropped from the beginning of the stem ב.פ.ל, there is a dagesh on the middle letter ב.

There is a suffix on תחת to mean 'instead of it' תַּחְתָּנָה.

In verse 22, וֹיֶבֶן is in the clipped form so the ה drops off. Remember that for it to be a clipped form, there also has to be a reversing vav attached to it.

וֹיְבְאֶהָ is a verb with a Direct Object Suffix attached to it, which is a common occurrence. It means here 'And he brought it' because it is in the clipped הַפִּעִיל form.

And the man proclaimed the names for all the animals, and for the birds of the sky, and for all of the living ones of the field, but for the man, a helper while he directs was not found.

1.2.20.2

And Yehovah God caused a deep sleep to fall upon the man, and he slept, and he took from one of his ribs, and he closed the flesh instead of it. 1.2.21.2 And Yehovah God built the rib that he took from the man into a woman, and he brought her to the man. 1.2.22.2

In verse 22, we can see more proof in the next chapter in verse 23 which mentions that Eve was made from Adam's bones and flesh. This proves that צלע here is probably a rib (bone) and muscle, fat, or skin around the rib (flesh), and the combination might make sense to call a part of a "side", but, because the rib (if I am right) is the main part, "rib" might be a better translation.

25.5 Vocabulary 20

אוצר מילים

Here are the vocabulary words for your next lesson:

ע.צ.ם	אָיש	ע.ז.ב	אָב	ХД
To be strong	man	to leave	father	Mother
ב.ג.ע	ד.ב.ק	v.	ב.ו	ע.ר.ה
To touch	to stick with	to be asl	named	to be naked

אָישׁ can sometimes mean 'husband', just like אָשָה can sometimes mean 'wife'.

As a noun, ע.צ.ם can mean 'bones' as עצֶם.

Although ב.ר.ש and ש.ר.ם are not in the next lesson, there are two rare stems with very similar spellings and meanings used, so it will be good for you to know these two more common stems, so that you know the difference.

Chapter 26 Sealed 2nd, Verb Forms, and 5 and 5

26.1 How many verb forms are there?

Most people believe that there are seven or eight (if they count הַתפַעל which I have not seen proof of) verb forms (also called בַּגְיֵן, which also means buildings), or even more. They believe that three (or more) of them are rarely used in the Bible (I have actually not even seen proof of some of the supposed forms (also called paradigms) existing after reading almost all of the Hebrew Torah, and many other books of the Tanakh at this time in Nov 2018). Three of these 'rare' forms are supposedly the 'passive' forms of הָפְעִיל hile הַפְּעִיל הַפְעִיל supposedly new form. 'Passive forms' are supposedly the 'to be' type of forms like the בְּעַל supposedly is the 'passive' of הַּתְּפַעַל form supposedly has the passive form of הַּתְפַעל have only seen proof of five verb forms which are בָּעַל, הַפְּעֵיל, בִּפְעַל, הַפְּעֵל, בַּעַל, הַפְּעֵיל, נִפְעַל is a verb form of it's own, and that any stem that needs to go into that form can if it is needed. Essentially, any stem can go into any form in my belief.

Just because a stem hasn't taken a certain verb form in the Bible, does not mean it cannot accept that form. There are situations where stems like ה.י.ה (to be) would never go into the נְפְעֵל (to be) form, because then the meaning of that verb form would be 'to be existing' or 'to be being', so it would be repetitive and unnecessary. Essentially, ה.י.ה is already like the נְפָעֵל form but it is in the פַּעֵל form usually (I don't think I have seen it in any other form, perhaps in the הְפָעֵל (הַרְעַל form). I believe that the confusion about the supposed verb forms perhaps in the פּוֹלֵל , הֹתְפַעַל , בְּעַל (books that have sealed grammar), or in rare cases in non-sealed books of the Tanakh.

In the sealed parts of those books, the vowels are different and there are letter switches that are from a coded pattern which I have discovered and wrote about in my book 'What is Truth?'. I believe that these 4+ supposed forms were actually among the 5 popular forms, but because the vowels were different, and the lack of a ' in the Hiphil form, this led to people speculating that there are 4+ additional 'rare' forms. Also, if these 4+ additional forms were real, then why don't they have a i on them like the other 'passive' forms? Even if you believe in these additional forms existing, you will still only really be using the popular five forms in the Bible. One supposed example of the supposed הַּהְפַּעֵל form is in 1 Kings 3:21 as וְצְאַהְבּוֹנֵן symְבְּוֹנֵן בּיִי חָרָ וֹשִׁל case could be because of the ' in the stem בּי.ֹר Perhaps it is something like when a yod in the first letter of a stem gets dropped, it becomes a cholemvay i.

Another reason why I believe that only the 5 popular forms exist, is because they all bring a new letter spelling to the word, or at least a dagesh in the case of the פֿעל form. The other supposed 'rare' forms do not add any new letter spellings, only vowel differences, which again can be attributed to either letters being dropped or sealed grammar (like in Daniel and Ezra).

Another possible reason for these extra supposed verb forms that people come up with is that many people like to overcomplicate things for many reasons. Either to make some new thinig that they can get fame or attention for, to have some new unique teaching to sell, because they think it must be super complicated, and so on. I believe the opposite, I believe that God made the Hebrew language as easy as was possible for us while still making it a completely usable and stand alone language.

Arabic has ten to fifteen different verb forms, depending on the dialect and the opinions or beliefs of the teachers. Like Hebrew, there are the normal, causative, reflexive, passive, and other forms.

26.2 ₱ and ₱ after a verse

In the Hebrew Bible, sometimes there is a 5 : or a 5 : after the end of a verse. For example, there is usually just a Sof Pasuq: at the end of a verse but sometimes there is a 5 or a 5 after the :. A 5 can be used like this to signify the end of a 'paragraph' or subject. A 5 can be used at the end of a chapter, or for other reasons, perhaps the end of a major thought or topic. Neither one of these letters has an English translation if they are after the end of the verse Sof Pasuq:

It is interesting to note that both the stems 0.5.5 and 0.1.7 can mean 'to come to an end'. This suggests that 5 and 0 are used in this way as further proof that they are an end of a thought or paragraph.

The ס is called a סתומה setuma and represents a closing of a section and is followed by a certain number of letter sized spaces before the next verse. The next verse can start on the same line.

The ב is called a פתוחה petucha and represents an opening of a section with a new line on the right side. The next verse must start on the next line. If there are three ב then three lines must be blank.

26.3 Sealed 2nd person plural imperfect

In Daniel 2:6 we have a possible example of the different 2nd person plural imperfect form. With the word מְּלְבְּלִוּן the expected מוֹ prefix and the ו suffix are used, but then the extra ו was added. This could be further support of the ו being added as an additional or replacement masculine suffix letter, but it is also possible that this is simply a verb construct where the ו is added to refer to the gifts in this verse and should be translated as 'them'. Among the teachers who believe the Aramaic myth in the Tanakh, they also regard this I as being part of the suffix, as in, the suffix for the masculine 2nd person plural imperfect is I in their belief. I do believe that this is probably the case here that the sealed suffix here is I.

26.4 Verses 2:23-

In verse 25 we have the stems I was talking about that look like the ones you learned, try to guess their meanings:

In verse 23, נפעל is in the נפעל form, and could be translated as 'it will be called'.

In verse 24, על-כַן is best translated as 'About this'. על can on rare times mean 'because' and כָּם can mean 'thus' or 'this' or 'so'.

Although ד.ב.ק means 'to stick to', it sounds better here as 'stay close' or maybe even 'stay with' or 'adhere'.

In verse 25, the stems ב.ר.ש and ע.ר.ה are much more common than these ones used here ב.ר.ם and ע.ר.ם. One might even argue that this is a case of letter duplication.

ש.ש. is in the התפעל form, so it is reflexive, and it is why I used the word 'themselves' at the end of verse 25.

And the man said "This *is* the occurrence of the bone from my bones and flesh from my flesh"; For this *one* will be called "Woman", because from a man he took this *one*. 1.2.23.2 About this, a man will leave his father and his mother, and he will adhere to his wife, and they will become one flesh. 1.2.24.2

And they both were naked, the man and his wife, and they were not ashamed of themselves. 1.2.25.2

The KJV translates the end of verse 23 a bit different, you may want to compare it.

26.5 Vocabulary 21

אוצר מילים

Here is the vocabulary for your next lesson:

ַרָּרָ 	פ.ק.ח		פָּר	*	ו.ה.
eye	en (eyes)	To ope	lest	ig for	To lor
שׄ.כ.ל		ח.מ.ז	7	תְאֵנְה	ש.מ.ע
derstan	To und	o desire	To	fig tree	To hear

ע.ש.ש' can also mean 'to consent'. Often this is translated as 'hear' in English Bibles but the

Page 118 of 169

context of many of these situations is clearly about 'obeying' or 'consenting'. You have seen א.מ.ד. already, now is a good time to memorize it.

Chapter 27 Sealed 2nd, וּ נִפְעַל , suffix מֹי , suffix מֹי

27.1 אמי suffix

In Psalm 2:3-5 there are 5 very rare מ' suffixes instead of the expected i or הַם suffixes. The מ' suffix can mean 'him' or 'them' or 'their', just like the i suffix can mean 'them' or 'their' in Genesis on rare times. You do not need to memorize this מ' suffix, but it is here for a reference.

27.2 Is there a י prefix in נפעל imperfect forms?

In Deuteronomy 24:16 the נְפְעֵל form of the command לֹא-יוּמְחוֹ is used and if the stem is ח.ו.ת (to die) which the context clearly suggests, then there should not be a i in this command. So this is either a special situation of emphasis, an unexpected vowel usage, or the stem is really ח.י.מ.ח However, there is not know י.מ.ח stem in the Tanakh, but if this somehow is a י.מ.ח because of the context in the verse. יוֹמָחוֹ is used three times in this verse so it is clearly not a 'mistake' by scribes. Also, this spelling is also used in Leviticus 20:13, 20:16, 20:27, and probably places further on in Deuteronomy or the Tanakh. As far as the Torah goes, because it is used only a few times, i is most likely some kind of emphasis for the נְבְּעֵל form.

27.3 Sealed 2nd person plural possessive suffix

In Daniel 2:5 we have an example of the different 2nd person plural possessive suffix with the word בָּקִיכוֹן. Instead of the expected בֶּק for the masculine it is changed to דָּבָּתִיכוֹן. This makes it appear as a feminine suffix, so either בוֹן is either a masculine suffix only, or it can act also as a feminine ending when needed (because other sealed suffixes have the pappearance of a feminine suffix also). I believe at this time in my studies of Daniel, that perhaps och be used for feminine only possessive suffixes also, but perhaps not.

27.4 Verses 3:1-7

In verse 1 below, עַרוּם comes from the same rare stem that the word for 'naked' was, but this time it means 'subtle'.

ካሉ here is not used as the typical 'nose' or 'anger' but this time it is used in the rare 'has?' from which starts a question.

In verse 3 and 4 הְמָחוֹן is the 2^{nd} person masculine plural imperfect form with an extra suffix. This could be an extra suffix which is found in other places which I described, and sometimes it has no known extra meaning. For example, there are some extra γ letters added to some of the sealed suffixes. In this case I believe it is probably a compressed version of

the DOM (direct object marker) אותן which would mean "it" or "them". By compressed, I mean that the DOM could have been removed and attached to the verb like I described in earlier chapters. So, the end of verse 4 might be better translated as "You really will not die *from* it," with the from being implied by the removed DOM (if I am right).

In verse 7, וְיַתְּפְּרוּ is from a very rare stem ת.פ.ר which means 'to sew', and הְגֹרֹת is a rare word that means 'aprons'. It comes from the stem ה.ג.ר which you should eventually learn, which means 'to gird'.

א וְהַנְּחָשׁ הָיָה עָרוּם מִכּּל חַיַּת הַשְּׂדָה אֲשֶׁר עָשָׂה יְהוָה אֱלֹהִים וַיּאׁמֶר אֶל-הָאִשְׁה אַף כִּי-אָמֵר אֱלֹהִים לֹא תֹאֹכְלוּ מִכּּל עֵץ הַנָּן:

ב וַתּאמֶר הָאִשָּׁה אֶל-הַנְּחָשׁ מִפְּרִי עֵץ-הַנָּן נאכֵל:

ג וּמִפְּרִי הָעֵץ אֲשֶׁר בְּתוֹךְ-הַגָּן אָמַר אֱלֹהִים לֹא תֹאכְלוּ מִמֶּנוּ וְלֹא תִגְעוּ בּוֹ פֶּן— תִּמַתוּן:

ד וַיּאמֶר הַנְּחָשׁ אֶל-הָאִשְׁה לֹא-מוֹת תְּמֻתוּן:

ה כִּי יֹדַעַ אֱלֹהִים כִּי בְּיוֹם אֲכָלְכֶם מִמֶּנּוּ וְנִפְקְחוּ עֵינֵיכֶם וְהְיִיתֶם כֵּאלֹהִים יֹדְעֵי טוֹב וָרָע:

וּ וַתֵּרָא הָאִשָּה כִּי טוֹב הָעֵץ לְמַאֲכָל וְכִי תַאֲוָה-הוּא לְעֵינַיִם וְנָחְמָד הָעֵץ לְהַשְּׂכִּיל וַתִּקָּח מִפָּרִיוֹ וַתֹּאֹכַל וַתִּתֵּן גַּם-לָאִישָׁה עִמָּה וַיֹּאֹכַל:

ז וַתִּפָּקַחְנָה עֵינֵי שְׁנֵיהֶם וַיֵּדְעוּ כִּי עֵירֵמָם הֵם וַיִּתְפְּרוּ עֲלֵה תְאֵנָה וַיַּעֲשׁוּ לָהֶם חֲגֹרֹת:

In verse 1, did you catch the first n prefix as meaning 'more than' instead of 'from'? In this case the n is referring to the word for 'subtle' to mean 'more subtle than'.

In verse 7, נתְּכְּקְתְּנָה is in one of the rare $3^{\rm rd}$ person feminine plural forms, because 'eyes' עֵינֵי is feminine. The masculine suffix is used on שֶׁנֵיהֶם because it is referring to Adam and Eve. When a group of both men and women are used, the masculine forms are used.

I translated הַּגֹרֹת as 'girdings' because they did not technically have to be 'aprons' they could have been any sort of sewn leaf clothing. They could have been complete robes of leaves. I also wanted to use a word other than 'clothing' to separate it from later words that are translated as 'clothing' but that use different stems.

And the serpent was more subtle than any living-*one* of the field that Yehovah God made, and he said to the woman "Has God said that you may not eat from every tree of the garden?" 1.3.1.3

And the woman said to the serpent "From the fruit of the trees of the garden we may eat, 1.3.2.3

But from the fruit of the tree that *is* in the midst of the garden, God said 'you may not eat from it, and you may not touch it, lest you will die '." 1.3.3.3

And the serpent said to the woman "You really will not die, 1.3.4.3

Because God knows that in the day you eat from it, *then* your eyes will be opened, and you will be like God, knowing good and evil." 1.3.5.3

And the woman saw that the tree *was* good for food, and that it *was* desirable to the eyes, and the tree was desirable to give understanding, then she took from it's fruit and she ate, and she also gave to her husband with her, and he ate. 1.3.6.3

Then the eyes of them both were opened, and they knew that they were naked, and they sewed together fig leaves, and they made for themselves girdings. 1.3.7.3

27.5 Vocabulary 22

אוצר מילים

Here is your vocabulary for your next lesson:

קול	י.ר.א	ח.ב.א	ב.ל.ז	í
voice	To fear	To hide	fail	To
בַלְתִי	א.ר.ר	ע.ו	ב.ר.	ל.ח.ם
without	To curse	oss-over	To cro	To fight

קוֹל can also mean 'sound'.

י.ר.א can also mean 'to revere', and is the word that is used in verses that say we should 'fear' (revere) God. It definitely can be used to convey real fear of God, but it can also be used to convey reverence of God.

בְּלְתִּי can mean other things like 'no', 'not', and 'except'. It can also show up as just בל. It comes from the stem ב.ל.ה which can also mean 'to wear out'.

The stem ע.ב.ר can have words made from it that mean 'other side' or 'crossing' or even 'in order that'. It is the stem that the word 'Hebrew' עַבְרִי (one who is crossed over) comes from.

A very common noun from לָּהֶם which means 'bread'. Think of an army that needs 'bread' to be able to 'fight' effectively and that will help you to remember the noun and the stem. ל.ח.ם can also mean "to eat", but not as often as "to fight".

Chapter 28 wPrefix, Sealed Plural, Last Resh

28.1 Resh can have a vowel as the last letter?

In Deuteronomy 22:15 the word הַנְּעֵרְ appears two times (there are other rare verses that have this spelling also). The context of the verse clearly shows that it is a young woman that is being talked about, and not a young man. The normal spelling for the word here is two can see that it has the same exact vowels but the verse in Deuteronomy is missing the ה in the word. It is not an error, and is in the verse two times to prove to us that this was meant to be this way in this verse as some kind of emphasis. The Qamets vowel is still on the Resh ה as if the ה was there. The ה is not supposed to have any vowel if it is the last letter of the word, so clearly it was not the last letter of the word, but the hadropped of to give an emphasis of some kind. Maybe the emphasis is that she is no longer a virgin, and that is the basis of the situation for this verse.

28.2 The w Prefix

You have learned that the common word אָשֶׁר can mean many things like 'that', 'which', 'where', 'who', and other things, depending on how the verse is structured. A wprefix can be used that means the same things as אָשֶׁר, but it is not very common. It is a prefix you should know though. One thing to note about prefixes like this and the other prepositional ones that you have learned, is that they can have more than one attached to the beginning of a word. When more than one of these prefixes are attached to a word, none of them gets removed or dropped off. It is rare for a word to have more than one of these kinds of prefixes, but it does happen, so you should be aware of it. If you see a long word, and you are not sure what the stem is, see if maybe there are one or more of these non-verb type prefixes attached to it. Using the context of the verse, if you can determine that there is one or more prefixes being used, then you will have an easier time determining what the stem of the word is that is being used. This prefix is used more in the later books of the Tanakh.

Modern Hebrew uses this שׁ prepositional prefix a lot, even in place of יָּב which is technically 'wrong' according to Biblical Hebrew.

28.3 Sealed Plural words

אַמָּה is the sealed plural form of אַמָּה which means cubit. In this case אַמָּה is a feminine noun so we would expect הוֹ as its feminine plural suffix. However, וְ is actually a feminine plural form when sealed (note that the Chireq vowel is usually in the letter preceding the yod). The second witness of this sealing effect in Daniel 3:1 is שַׁמִּים which comes from שַׁשִּׁים which means sixty. שַׁשִּׁים is actually feminine because it is a number and for some reason the words for Hebrew numbers that look masculine are actually feminine. In the Daniel Code that I will continue to explain later (and in my book 'What is Truth?'), you will hopefully see

why the middle w gets changed to a n letter in the word שָׁתִּין. So, here in Daniel 3:1 we have these two witnesses to this sealing aspect of the indefinite plural (these are not the only words that use these plural suffixes, but just the ones I chose as examples).

In Daniel 3:3 we have an example of sealing in Daniel with grammar. קְמִים is the sealed form of קְמִים which is a plural participle in the Paal or 'Qal' verb form. We see the non-definite plural sealing to 'with this sealing of the participle. There is also a change from the which is the center letter of the stem קַמִים where קַמִים comes from, to an א. In the non-sealed Paal / Qal form of the participle, the i drops of. This is a normal process. Aleph א is not a center stem letter that drops off under the rules that Vav i does, so the א in the sealed form remains in the participle. Also to add to the confirmation of this sealing, the Aleph here has a Sheva, which is not normal. Under normal grammar rules, Guttural letters like the Aleph get reduced vowels and not a Sheva. So the combination of אis just another hint that this is a sealing process. I describe in my chart in section 19.20 of omy book "What is Truth?" how a vav i can be sealed into an aleph א.

The sealed masculine *definite* plural suffix is איָא with this first א as being the last letter of the word it is attached to. Essentially the Yod 'gets a dagesh and a qamets vowel and an Aleph א is added instead of a Mem ב. This happens in Daniel 2:37 and other places. Or you can think of it as the ב' suffix being added normally then the ב' drops off and the א gets added with a dagesh on the 'during the sealing process.

א נְבוּכַדְנֶצֵר מַלְכָּא עֲבַד צְלֵם דִּי-דָהַב רוּמֵה אַמִּין שִׁתִּין פְּתָיֵה אַמִּין שִׁת אָקִימֵה בְּבְקְעַת דּוּרָא בִּמְדִינֵת בְּבֶל:

Nevukhadnetstsar the king worked an image of gold: it's height was sixty cubits, it's width was six cubits: he caused it to be raised up in the valley of Dura' in the province of Bavel.

27.3.1.853

H5647, H6754, H2091, H7311, H8346, H520, H6601, H6965, H1237, H1752, H5019, H4428, H8337, H4082, H894, H6966

28.4 Verses 3:8

In verse 9, I believe that אֵיֶבָה is actually the word אֵי (where) with a ¬ suffix (2nd person, you), and with a ¬ of direction (to, at), to mean "where are you at?". If it was ther normal "where" like this it would be spelled אֵיכָה or אֵיכָה. You do not need to memorize these words yet.

In verse 11, בְּלְתִּי participle of ב.ג.ד. Here לְבַלְתִּי has a לְ prefix with בְּלְתִּי, which in this case means 'to not', referring to the word אַכַל so that it means 'to not eat'.

In verse 12, עַמָּדִי is just the 1st person suffix attached to the preposition עם to mean 'with me'. This special form gets an added 7 after the מ.

In verse 14, גְּהֹנְךְּ means 'your belly' (it has a 2^{nd} person suffix also) and is not common enough to memorize.

In verse 15, אֵיבָה means 'opposition' and comes from the stem אֵיבָה which means 'to be

and enemy'.

The stem שׁ.י.ת means to set or put, and it will be in the next chapter as a stem you should eventually learn.

The rare stem אָרַר. means 'to bruise' and the rare word עָקֶב means 'heel'. It is the word that 'Jacob's' name is based on, because he grabbed Esau's foot during birth. The stem means 'to supplant', and that is what Jacob did, he took Esau's birthright and blessing later on in life.

In verse 16, עַּצְבוֹנֵךְ is a rare word with a 2nd person suffix meaning 'your sorrow'. וְהֵרֹנֵךְּ means 'your conception' and comes from the stem you should eventually learn ה.ר.ה which means 'to conceive'. אָשׁוּקְתַּךְ has a 2nd person suffix and means 'your desire'.

ד וַיִּשְׁמְעוּ אֶת-קוֹל יְהוָה אֱלֹהִים מִתְהַלֵּךְ בַּגָּן לְרוּחַ הַיּוֹם וַיִּתְחַבֵּא הָאָדָם וְאִשְׁתּוֹ מִפְּנֵי יִהוַה אֱלֹהִים בִּתוֹךְ עֵץ הַגַּן:

טַ וַיִּקְרָא יְהֹוָה אֱלֹהִים אֶל-הָאָדָם וַיּאֹמֶר לוֹ אַיֶּכְּה:

יַ נַיּאמֶר אֶת—לּלְךָּ שָׁמַעְתִּי בַּגָּן וָאִירָא כִּי-עֵירֹם אָנֹכִי וָאֵחָבֵא:

יא וַיּאמֶר מִי הִגִּיד לְךּ כִּי עֵירֹם אָתָּה הַמִן-הָעֵץ אֲשֶׁר צִוִּיתִידְ לְבִלְתִּי אֲכָל-מִמֶּנוּ אַכַלְתַּ:

יב ניאמֶר הָאָדָם הָאִשָּׁה אֲשֶׁר נָתַתָּה עִמָּדִי הִוא נְתְנָה-לִּי מִן-הָעֵץ וָאֹכֵל:

יג וַיּאמֶר יְהוָה אֱלֹהִים לָאשָׁה מַה-זּאת עֲשִׂית וַתִּאמֶר הָאשָׁה הַנְּחָשׁ הִשִּׁיאַנִי וָאֹכֵל: יד וַיּאמֶר יְהוָה אֱלֹהִים אֶל-הַנְּחָשׁ כִּי עֲשִׂיתָ זּאת אָרוּר אַתָּה מִכְּל-הַבְּהֵמְה וּמִכֹּל חַיַּת הַשָּׂדֵה עַל-גָּחֹנָדְ תֵלֶךְ וִעָפַר תּאֹכַל כָּל-יִמֵי חַיֵּידְ:

טוּ וְאֵיכָה אָשִׁית בֵּינְדְּ וּבֵין הָאִשֶּׁה וּבֵין זַרְעֲדְ וּבֵין זַרְעָה הוּא יְשׁוּפְדְּ רֹאשׁ וְאַתָּה תִשׁוּפֵנוּ עַקֵב: ס

טז ואָל-הָאִשָּׁה אָמַר הַרְבָּה אַרְבָּה עִצְּבוֹנֵךְ וְהֵרֹנֵךְ בְּעָצֶב תַּלְדִי בָנִים וְאֶל-אִישֵׁךְ הִשׁוּקָתֵךְ וְהוּא יִמְשָׁל-בָּךְ: ס

In verse 13, נָאכל is the 1^{st} person singular imperfect form. On rare occasions like this, an א can drop off of a stem. This is one case where instead of having אאכל for the 1^{st} person imperfect, the original א drops off the beginning and then the normal א prefix is added.

And they heard the sound of Yehovah God going-around in the garden, with the wind of the day, and the man and his wife hid themselves from the face of Yehovah God in the midst of the trees of the garden. 1.3.8.3

And Yehovah God called to the man and said to him "Where *are* you at?" 1.3.9.3 And he said "I heard your sound in the garden, and I was afraid because I *was* naked, so I hid." 1.3.10.3

And he said "Who told you that you were naked? From the tree that I commanded you to not

eat from, have you ate?" 1.3.11.3

And the man said "The woman that you gave *to be* with me, she gave to me from the tree and I ate." 1.3.12.3

And Yehovah God said to the woman "What *is* this *that* you have done?" And the woman said "The Serpent deceived me and I ate." 1.3.13.3

And Yehovah God said to the Serpent "Because you have done this, you *are* cursed more than any animal, and more than any living *one* of the field, on your belly you will go, and you will eat dust all of the days of your life. 1.3.14.3

And I will put hostility between you and between the woman, and between your seed and between her seed, He will crush your head, and you will bruise his heel." 1.3.15.3 And to the woman he said "I will greatly increase your hardship and pregnancy, in pain you will bear children, and to your husband will be your desire, and he will have dominion over you." 1.3.16.3

In verse 8, קוֹל usually means "voice" but it can also sometimes mean "sound".

In verse 15, I believe satan's seed mentioned here is spiritual seed, people who made agreements with satan, or allowed satan to use them. In other words, I believe the "children of satan" are satanists. I explain more about the myth that demons had offspring with humans in my book "What is Truth?".

28.5 Vocabulary 23

אוצר מילים

Here is your vocabulary for you next lesson:

ש.כ.ן	עַת	ל.ב.ש	עור	כָּתְנוֹת
To dwell	time	To wear	hide	coats
חֶרֶב	ג.ר.ש	עוֹלָם	ש.ל.ח	עַתָּה
sword	to drive out	forever	To send	now

The word עוֹר comes from the stem ע.ו.ר which you have learned. It comes from the meaning of 'being bare', with the connection that the 'hide' covers nakedness.

עתָה is essentially the feminine form of עת (time) but the two of them do not usually have the same meanings (but עתה can mean 'this time').

ש.ל.ה can mean 'to send' in the sense that there may not be a return, as in, setting somebody free (especially if it is in the פֿעל form), but usually it is just translated as 'to send'.

The stem for ה.ר.ב is הָרֶב which means 'to waste' and is common enough to memorize if you want to.

שוֹלְם in modern Hebrew is used for 'the world' or 'earth' but it is rarely used this way in the Bible. In the Bible, it is usually translated as 'forever', but sometimes it is better translated as 'existence' or something else (but that is a matter of opinions and debate). If you are not sure, try translating it as 'forever'. It is just that the stem ע.ל.ם means 'to conceal' (yes

Page **126** of **169**

this stem is common enough to memorize if you want to), and in some cases, it seems at least to me that the word עוֹלָם might not always mean 'forever', and could actually mean, 'until a concealed time'.

Chapter 29 Ligatures, Sealed 1st, גו and כי Suffix

29.1 Ligatures

As I have written about in my book "What is Truth?", just in the case that you might not have read it, I will explain about ligatures here. There have been some people in the past who have combined the Hebrew letters Aleph and Lamed into one letter, which is called the Aleph-Lamed Ligature. This is not a valid letter in my belief because I have seen no evidence of it's use in any reliable Hebrew Manuscript. This Ligature seems to be mainly used in hand writing by scribes or people who practice Judaism. Ligatures can be viewed as acceptable in non-biblical writings, but when copying the Bible, I believe people should never use ligatures according to Deuteronomy 4:2 and Revelation 22:18-19.

I have seen a small modern book of the Psalms which had this Ligature in the Hebrew text which replaces the Aleph and the Lamed commonly. There seems to be other ligatures that scribes or Judaism believers have used.

In Arabic there is also an Alif-Lam ligature. It could be that the Aleph-Lamed ligature came directly from this Arabic Alif-Lam ligature when the two cultures and languages met later on in history.

29.2 בי and גו suffix

In Psalm 103:3-8, כִי is used as a suffix. The KJV translates it as if this suffix is a 2nd person suffix meaning 'you'. In Psalm 103:5 there is a hint that the KJV is correct because 'thy mouth' in the KJV comes from the word עָּרְיֵךְ which uses the normal feminine 2nd person singular suffix in the middle of this verse that uses the constant a theory that maybe this יָב suffix could be a 1st person suffix meaning 'my' in these verses, but with אָרָיִךְ my theory does not hold up well. The main reason I was thinking this is because of the אָרֹב possessive suffix which means 'my', and also the word אָרֹב which has this same ending and means 'I'. Anyway, these verses in Psalm 103 are the only places that I know of that have these constant in the suffix and in the constant in the constant in the main reason in the constant in the main reason in the constant in the constant in the main reason in the constant in the constant

In Psalm 71:20 there is a rare suffix עו used instead of the very common עי suffix that can be used on the end of verb forms. עי is first person singular and often is translated as 'me', as in 'somebody doing something to me'. עו is the same thing, just like how עי can be spelled also as עי can be spelled also as עי הוא Here in this verse. Here in this verse עו seems to be used as an emphasis of some sort, but the context of the verse shows it means the same thing as עו suffix gives us further proof that it and also the עו spelling of 'she' are not errors in the Tanakh, because it shows us similar variations with both situations. You will never really need to memorize this עו suffix, because of how rare it is, and because of how the context of the verse will remind you of the correct meaning anyway. I wanted to address it here as a means of referencing it, and to have a truly complete grammar listing in this book.

29.3 Sealed First Person Plural Suffix

In Daniel 3:17 and other places, we have examples where the first person plural suffix (we) gets a change from אָבָה to אָבָ. I will give two examples from that verse. The first is the base form of 'we' H587 אָבָהְ which gets changed to H586 אָבָהְּבָּא. This once again proves the Aleph א has a connection with first person suffixes (I, we, my) as in Abba אַבָּא for 'my father' or 'the father' (I have shown previously how the א suffix can be definite as 'the'). The second witness is in the same verse and where H433 gets the 'our' suffix אַבָּא 'our God'. Also, another example is with אָבָא as 'I' instead of אָבִי for 'I' in Daniel 2:30 and other places.

יז הֵן אִיתַי אֱלָהָנָא דִּי-אֲנַחְנָא פָּלְחִין יָכִל לְשֵׁיזָבוּתָנָא מִן-אַתּוּן נוּרָא יָקְדְתָּא וּמִן-יִדַדְּ מַלְכַּא יִשֶׁזִיב:

Behold, <u>our</u> God who <u>we</u> *are* serving is able to deliver us from the glowing burning furnace, and from your hand my king, he can deliver. 27.3.17.853 *H3426*, *H2005*, *H433*, *H587*, *H6398*, *H3201*, *H4480*, *H3344*, *H1460*, *H3027*, *H4428*

29.4 Verses 3:17-24

In verse 17, בְּעַצְבוֹן means 'in sorrow' and this stem is not common enough to justify memorization yet.

In verse 18, וְקוֹץ וְדְרַדֵּר means 'Thorns and thistles'.

In verse 19, בְּוֵעַת means 'in the sweat'.

In verse 24, לַהָט הַקֶּרֶבים means 'Cherubims', and לַהָט הַחֶּרֶב הַמְּתְהַפֶּּכֶת means 'the flaming sword *which* turns'.

יז וּלְאָדָם אָמַר כִּי שָׁמַעְתָּ לְקוֹל אִשְׁתֶּךְ וַתּאֹכַל מִן-הָעֵץ אֲשֶׁר צִוִּיתִיךְ לֵאמֹר לֹא תֹאֹכַל מִמֶּנוּ אֲרוּרָה הָאֲדָמָה בַּעֲבוּרֶךְ בְּעִצָּבוֹן תֹאֹכַלֶנְּה כֹּל יְמֵי חַיֶּיךְ:

י**ה** וְקוֹץ וְדַרְדַּר מַצְמִיִם לָדְּ וְאָכַלְתָ אֶת-עֵשֶׂב הַשָּׂדָה:

יט בְּזֵעַת אַפֶּיךּ תאֹכַל לֶחֶם עַד שׁוּבְךּ אֶל-הָאֲדָמָה כִּי מִמֶּנָּה לֵקְחְתָּ כִּי-עָפָר אַתָּה וָאֵל—עָפָר תָשׁוּב:

בוּיָקרָא הָאָדָם שֶׁם אָשתּוֹ חַנָּה כִּי הָוֹא הָיִתָה אֱם כַּל-חָי:

כא וַיַּעַשׂ יְהוָה אֱלֹהִים לְאָדָם וּלְאִשְׁתּוֹ כָּתְנוֹת עוֹר וַיַּלְבִּשֵׁם: פ

כב וַיּאמֶר יְהֹנָה אֱלֹהִים הֵׁן הָאָדָם הָיָה כְּאַחַד מִמֶּנוּ לָדַעַת טוֹב וָרָע וְעַתָה פֶּן-יִשְׁלַח יָדוֹ וִלְקַח גַּם מֵעֵץ הַחַיִּים וָאָכַל וָחַי לִעֹלָם: כג וַיְשַׁלְּחֵהוּ יְהֹנָה אֱלֹהִים מִגַּן-עֵדָן לַעֲבֹד אֶת-הָאַדָמָה אֲשֶׁר לֵקּח מִשְׁם: כד וַיְגָרשׁ אֶת-הָאָדָם וַיַּשְׁכֵּן מִקֶּדָם לְגַן-עֵדֶן אֶת-הַכְּרָבִים וְאֵת לַהַט הַחֶרֶב הַמִּתְהַפֶּכֶת לִשְׁמֹר אֶת-דֶּרֶך עֵץ-הַחַיִּים: ס

In verse 17, בּעֲבוּרֶך is translated as 'for your sake' in the KJV, but it literally means 'while you are crossing-over'.

Clearly by the context here, שׁ.מ.ע here means 'consent' and not just 'listen', because of course God expected Adam to listen to his wife, but not consent to her in a way that causes sin.

has a third person singular suffix to represent 'it' and the 'of' is implied.

צויתיך is a verb construction from the stem צו.ה with a first person singular suffix, and also a second person singular suffix. This is a good example of a verb bypassing a DOM and an object in the sentence. It means "I commanded you".

In verse 21, הַפְּעִיל is in the clipped הַפְּעִיל form and means 'and he caused them to wear them' (The 'them' here is implied but not actually in the text). In verse 24, וַיַּשְׁבֵּן is in the clipped הַפְעִיל form.

And to Adam he said "Because you consented to the voice of your wife, and you ate from the tree that I commanded you saying 'You may not eat from it', cursed is the ground during your crossing-over, in hardship you will eat of it all of the days of your life. 1.3.17.3 And thorns and thistles will grow against you, and you will eat the herbs of the field, 1.3.18.3

With *the* sweat of your nose you will eat bread until you return to the ground, because from it you were taken, because you *were* dust, and to dust you will return." 1.3.19.3

And the man proclaimed *the* name of his wife "Chavvah", because she was the mother of all of the living-*ones*. 1.3.20.3

And Yehovah God made for the man and for his wife coats of hide, and he clothed them.

And Yehovah God said "Behold, the man is like one of us, knowing good and evil, and now lest he send his hand to take also from the tree of life, and he would eat, and he would live forever:" 1.3.22.3

Then Yehovah God sent him *out* from the garden of Eiden to serve the ground from where he was taken. 1.3.23.3

אוצר מילים

And he drove out the man; and he caused the Keruvim to dwell *on the* east of the garden of Eiden, and the flaming of the sword, turning to guard the way of the tree of life. 1.3.24.3

29.5 Vocabulary 24

Here is your next Vocabulary:

ד.ב.ר	אֱנוֹש	אֵל	י.ר.ה
To speak	man	God	To teach
7-	יִּשְׂרָאֵל	מ.ל.ך	מִדְבָּר
hand	Israel	To reign	wilderness

י.ר.ה is a stem that you need to know, but it is not often used in a verb form. A common word that comes from it is הוֹרָה which means 'teaching'. You should try to remember it also. You can see the Cholem-Vav replaced the 'just like it does in verbs, and the ה was added like it does get added with some nouns and words.

אָל is the short form of אַל is the short form of אַלהִים.

The word מְּלְבֶּר comes from the stem ד.ב. and literally means 'speaking place' or 'place of the plague', but the KJV usually translates it as 'wilderness'. זְּבֶר often means 'plague' or 'pestilence', and also comes from this same stem. I think of the 'wilderness' as that 'tough place' where God teaches us or 'speaks' to us.

יָר can sometimes mean 'nearby' if it is also with על before it, but אָצֶל are more often used to describe nearness.

Chapter 30 Parenthetical, Sealed 1st, Paragogic

30.1 Parenthetical grammar

Some people believe that when a Hebrew verse has the subject before the verb, then this can be or is a parenthetical (Parenthesis) statement. Genesis 1:2 is one of these places, and I have looked at others. But I am definitely not convinced of this grammar phenomenon, so I am not going to make a list here of all of the places. Grammar irregularities are common, they can be used for poetic situations like in songs, or they can be used for further emphasis of what the verse is talking about. Looking at Genesis 1:2 and other places, when I read them, it does not feel to me like a parenthetic situation like we would have in English. I mean that I do not feel that a translation of Genesis 1:2 needs parenthesis. It is my feeling that the subject in Genesis 1:2 (אֶרֶץ) being before the verb (ה.י.ה) is used for emphasis of some kind. It is possible that this parenthetical grammar concept is real, but I have not seen good evidence yet.

30.2 The Paragogic Nun

In Deuteronomy 5:16 and other places, there is a ן suffix that seems to be extra. In that verse it looks like this יַאַרִיכֵן Most people seem to think this was an earlier unnecessary form of the Hebrew grammar, or some added mistakes or preferences of the scribes. I do not believe that these suffixes are an error or some primitive thing added by scribes. I believe the ן suffix here is something like 'by them' suffix where the days in this verse are being prolonged 'by them', by the actions of honoring. There are other suffixes like this that are accepted by most Hebrew speakers that do seem redundant, but when we really look at them, they do have a meaning and a usage.

30.3 Sealed First-Person Perfect Form

Daniel 4:9, among other places, shows us how the sealing of the first person perfect tense can be sealed. In Job 15:17 the word הְּזִיתִי means "I saw" which comes from the stem H2372 ה.ז.ה which means 'see'. In Daniel 4:9 the same word in the same form is sealed as In this sealed form, the Chireq vowel under the Tav ח and the Yod ' are taken off. The Strong's and other dictionaries pretend that this is an Aramaic word with the stem of H2370, but that is not the stem here for this word. Both the letters Yod and Tav drop off under certain conditions in Hebrew grammar, so this should not surprise us here.

It seems that all of the grammar in it's sealed form, still follows known rules of grammar that were established already in the Tanakh. It appears that the sealing of the Book of Daniyyeil was purposefully using already known methods of grammar, even if they were rare methods. In some cases, the sealing method might use a new technique, but it has its foundation in the Tanakh before it, and so, those methods are very similar to normal Hebrew

grammar, and thus those sealing techniques are not really a surprise to us, or should not be anyway,

ט בּלְטְשַׁאצַר רַב חַרְטַמַּיָּא דִּי אֲנָה יִדְעַת דִּי רוּח אֱלָהִין קַדִּישִׁין בָּדְ וְכָל-רָז לָא-אָנֵס לָדְ חָזְוֵי חֶלְמִי דִי-חָזֵית וּפִשְׁרַה אֱמָר

Beiltesha'tstsar, a great-*one* of the scribes, who I know that the spirit of the Set-Apart God is in you, and no vague thing compelled you; say the vision of my dream which I saw, and its interpretation. 27.4.9.854

30.4 Verses 4:1-6

The first six verses of Chapter 4 of Genesis are below. The stem ש.ע.ה in verse 4 is not used enough to memorize for a long time. It means 'to look' or 'to respect'.

אַ וְהָאָדָם יָדַע אֶת-חַנָּה אִשְׁתּוֹ וַתַּהַר וַתֵּלֶד אֶת-קֵין וַתּאֹמֶר קְנִיתִי אִישׁ אֶת-יְהֹנָה:

ב וַתֹּסֶף לָלֶדֶת אֶת-אָחִיו אֶת-הָבֶל וַיְהִי-הֶבֶל רֹעֵה צֹאן וְקַיִן הָיָה עֹבֵד אֲדְמָה:

ג וַיָּהִי מִקֵץ יָמִים וַיָּבֵא קַיָן מִפָּרִי הָאַדָמָה מִנְחָה לַיהֹנָה:

ד וָהֶבֶל הַבִיא גַם-הוּא מִבְּכֹרוֹת צאנוֹ וּמֶחֶלְבֵהֶן וַיִּשַׁע יְהוָה אֶל-הֶבֶל וְאֶל-מִנְחָתוֹ:

:וְיָפֶלוּ פָנָיו וְאֶל-מִנְחָתוֹ לֹא שָׁעָה וַיִּחַר לְקִין מְאֹד וַיִּפְּלוּ פָנָיו:

וֹ וַיאמר יִהוָה אֵל-קַיִן לָמָה חָרָה לָךְ וַלָמָה נַפִּלוּ פַנֵיךְ:

In verse 1, I like to translate 'Adam' as 'man', but it is fine to translate it also as 'Adam'. Technically it really means 'the man' and is not a name here.

In verse 2, לֶלֶדֶת is an infinitive of ז.ל.. The 'drops of if it is the first letter of a stem and put into an infinitive form.

In verse 3, technically מְקֵץ means 'among the end' but translating it as 'after days' sounds better in English here.

And the man knew Chavvah, his wife, and she conceived and begot Qayn, and she said "I have received a man from Yehovah." 1.4.1.4

And She again begot his brother Hevel, and Hevel was a shepherd of sheep, and Qayin was a servant of the ground. 1.4.2.4

And it was after days, and Qayin brought from the fruit of the ground an

offering to Yehovah. 1.4.3.4

And Hevel also brought from the firstborn of his sheep, and from their finest, and Yehovah had respect unto Hevel, and unto his offering, 1.4.4.4

Page **133** of **169**

But unto Qayin, and unto his offering, he did not respect, and Qayin had exceeding anger, and his face fell. 1.4.5.4

And Yehovah said to Qayin "Why do you have anger? And why did your face fall? 1.4.6.4

30.5 Vocabulary 25

אוצר מילים

Here is your next set of vocabulary for you to memorize:

מָחָר	אַחֵר	י.ש.ב	אַחַר
Tomorrow	Another	To dwell	after
ע.ו.ר	ע.ו.ד	ש.ו.ב	ק.ו.ם
To be bare	To testify	To return	To rise up

Here ע.ו.ד can also mean to 'be awake' or 'to be blind'.

י.שֹ.ב can also mean 'to sit'. אַחַר can also mean 'following' or 'behind'.

Chapter 31 Ancient and Cursive Charts, Sealed 1st

31.1 Ancient Hebrew

I made a chart (after this paragraph) showing some of the variations in ancient Hebrew writing. The red is what I currently use to write with. The blue letters are ones I drew from pictures I saw online. The variations depend on the different writers, different locations in the world it is found, and the different time periods. I believe that some of the variations also have to do with the skill of the engraver, and the material they are carving into. For example, sometimes it might have been easier to just make straight lines instead of curved ones. Some 'experts' like to classify most of the ancient Hebrew as Phoenician or other cultures, and they usually try to date the writings to some time other than during the Kingdom of Israel, or they just claim the Ancient Hebrew is a hoax. This is because 'scientists', 'archaeologists', and other 'accepted' fields of study do not allow the belief that the Kingdom of Israel existed. Any scholar who makes a claim that the Kingdom of Israel existed risks loosing their job, or if they are lucky they only get harshly ridiculed.

Anyway, these are some of the reasons why I did not want to make a chart separating the letter variations into different dates, or 'cultures', because the 'accepted' time periods and cultures are usually not even true. I drew the letters with a colored pencil, so some of the letter lines will look a bit faded when they really shouldn't have been (and the scanner faded the image a bit also). I hope you can see the general idea of the letters at least.

It is interesting that some of the Ancient Hebrew letters do look like the things that their letter meanings represent. For example, the Resh does look like a head, and the Quf does look like the back of the head or the sun on the horizon, Pey does kind of look like an open mouth, Samech does look like a support structure of some kind, Mem does look like waves of water, Lamed looks like an upside down shepherd's staff, Chet looks like a fence, Vav looks like a nail, Gimmel either looks like an upside down foot or a shoulder and leg, Beit kind of looks like an open door to a tent or building, and Aleph looks like an ox head. As far as the Block font goes, only the Tet, Lamed and Quf have any sort of resemblance to their letter meanings.

As I have explained in more depth in my Book "What is Truth?", what people call 'paleo' or 'ancient' Hebrew, is actually the original Hebrew script or writing. The Hebrew Bible with the 'block' script is the same Hebrew as the Original Hebrew, but the Original Hebrew has a different script or 'font'. The cartoonish or 'picture' type of Hebrew script that some other teachers say is the original Hebrew, is not authentic. They may think it is true, but I have never once seen this cartoonish script they made up (or copied) on any authentic pottery or stone. In fact, I haven't even seen a hoax of this cartoonish script on any pottery or stone, but there are lots and lots of artifacts with this Original/Ancient Script on it. I also refer to this Original Hebrew as 'The Pure Language', because this is what the Bible actually calls the Hebrew language in Zephaniah 3:9 (I describe this much better in my book "What

Page 135 of 169

is Truth?".

In the chart below, I now realized that I should have drawn the letters from right to left, but for some reason I drew them left to right when I wrote them. This Chart I made below also pairs the letters into their Albam pairs, according to the Albam code that I describe in my book 'What is Truth?".

х * 4 2 4 4 EFFF T n 🗐

1 Z H

31.2 Cursive Hebrew Chart

I made this chart below, just in case anyone wanted to see what the script (cursive) letters look like. I suppose that like the Ancient letter Beit, this script form could also look like an open door to a room, the Gimmel does look like a foot, Zain does look like a weapon or reaping tool (a scythe maybe?), Tet kind of looks like a snake, Mem Sofit does like like the belly of a pregnant woman, and Quf kind of looks like the back of a head.

- и *I*С
- y 9
- т 3 3
- n 3
- 1 /
- 1 5
- nhr
- 0
- 1. 1 5
- >) ?) ?

- 7 8
- a N P N D
- 0 0
- ٧ 👌
- 6 \$ 6 c
- × 3938
- PPP
- 7)
- e e e
- лЛЛ

31.3 Sealed First-Person Imperfect and Reflexive Forms

Daniel 4:7 is a source of some confusion, at least for me when I read the KJV. The confusion is in the part of the verse that says "and I told the dream before them; ". This implies that the King told the dream and what happened in the dream, to the 'wise men' BEFORE they gave an interpretation, but this is not the case, because before and after this verse it is very clear that the King tells them, and even Daniyyei'l to tell him the dream AND the interpretation. This problem comes from the KJV translators and others believing the lie from hasatan that this verse is Aramaic. It is not, it is Hebrew. In this verse אַמַר is used. אָמַר means 'He said', in the perfect (past, completed) tense. So, in this verse, אמר is sealed, and it is not 'He said', because that does not make any sense in the context of the verse, and it is known that this verse is SEALED with letter sealing also. So, Vowel sealing is not a surprise. in the imperfect (incomplete, future, present, intentions) can mean 'I will say' or 'I would say' or 'I was saying'. According to context, it makes much more sense that אַמַר is a SEALED form of אֹמֵר. It is a fact that the vowel אַ can either have an 'A' sound (Qamets) or a 'O' sound (the Qamets Chatuph, which is the same sound as the Cholem). This further proves this connection. In this case, אמר and אמר could have the exact same pronunciation when sealed. The same thing happens with כל and כל which is in non-sealed books of the Tanakh.

I have asked a supposed fluent Hebrew teacher who claimed to teach Aramaic what grammar book he uses to teach Aramaic. He didn't tell me a grammar book because as far as I know, they don't exist. It seems that he thought I was mocking him, but I honestly wanted to know if he had a grammar book of Aramaic. It seems that the Aramaic language is so lost, that there is not a complete Grammar book in existence. Instead, what the enthusiasts of the Aramaic Daniel myth do, is they take the Sealed Hebrew in Daniel, and then pretend it is Aramaic. Then they have to invent grammar that was never even Aramaic, and then claim it is Aramaic. So in Daniel 4:7, I believe what they did was pretend that אמכר means a past tense form of the first person, with the meaning of 'tell'. So in this myth, it is 'I told' for Daniel 4:7. I disagree and I believe it should be the imperfect tense with the conditional form as "I would say".

In Daniel 2:13, מֶּהְקּשָּלִין seems to be an example of the 3^{rd} person plural causative reflexive with the sealed ין suffix instead of a ז. This is a good example of how the reflexive forms can also be in a causative form (like the הַפְעֵל).

ז באדין עַלְלין חַרטַמַיַּא אַשׁפַיַא כַּשִּׁדִּיאַ וְגַזְרַיָּא וְחֵלְמָא אַמַר אָנָה קָדָמִיהוֹן וּפִשְׁרֵה לָא-מְהוֹדְעִין לִי

Then they were bringing in the occult scribes, the enchanters, the Kasday, and the astrologers: And the dream <u>I would say</u> before them, but it's interpretation they were not making known to me. 27.4.7.854

Below are verse 7 to 12 of Genesis 4. In verse 1, the verb שׁ.ו.ק is rarely used and here is means desire.

In verse 11, ה.צ.ה is rarely used and means 'to open'.

In verse 12, תַּת comes from the stem נ.ת.ן and is best translated as 'giving' or 'to give'. comes from the stem נ.ו.ע which you should eventually learn but you do not need to now. It means a wanderer here.

נו.ד. comes from the stem נו.ד. and also is a stem you will not need to know for a long time. Here it means vegabond or 'bemoaning one', or 'removed one'.

ז הַלוֹא אָם—הַיטִיב שְׂאֵת וְאָם לֹא תֵיטִיב לַפֶּתַח חַטָּאת רֹבֵץ וְאֵלֶיךּ תְשׁוּקָתוֹ וְאַתָּה תִמְשֶׁל-בּוֹ

ת וַיּאמֶר קַיִן אֶל-הֶבֶל אָחִיו וַיְהִי בִּהְיוֹתָם בַּשְּׂדֶה וַיָּקֶם קַיִן אֶל-הֶבֶל אחִיו וַיַּהַרְגֵהוּ ט וַיּאמֶר יְהוָה אֶל-קִין אֵי הֶבֶל אָחִיךְ וַיּאמֶר לֹא יָדַעְתִּי הֲשֹׁמֵר אָחִי אָנֹכִי י וַיּאמֶר מֶה עָשִׂיתָ קוֹל דְּמֵי אָחִיךְ צֹעֲקִים אֵלַי מִן-הָאֲדָמָה

יא וְעַתָּה אָרוּר אָתָּה מִן-הָאָדָמָה אֲשֶׁר פָּצְתָה אֶת-פִּהָ לָקַחַת אֶת-דְּמֵי אָחִיךּ מִיָּדֶדְּ יב כִּי תַעַבֹד אֵת-הָאַדָמָה לֹא-תֹסֵף תֵּת-כֹּחָה לַךְ נַע וַנַד תִּהִיֵה בַאַרֵץ

In verse 7, the הַ at the beginning is a ה of question. לא is a הָלוֹא (with the ה of question) and has a rare cholem-vay instead of a cholem.

ט.ו.ב' is a stem that means the same things as ט.ו.ב' does. The verse essentially has two 'if not' statements if you translate it literally, but some אַב statements sometimes are not translated when they are used more than once in a verse. It is clear by the context of the verse that the first part of the verse should be translated as 'If you do good,".

In verse 8, בּקיוֹתְם is the stem ה.י.ה with both a prefix and a suffix to mean 'when they were'.

If you do good, *is it* not lifted? But if you do not good, at the entrance sin lays down, to you will be his desire, and you would dominate over him." 1.4.7.4

And Qayin spoke to Hevel his brother, and it was while they were in the field, and Qayin rose up against Hevel his brother, and he killed him. 1.4.8.4

And Yehovah said to Qayin "Where is Hevel your brother?" And he said "I do not know. Am I the watchman of my brother?" 1.4.9.4

And he said "What did you do? The voice of the blood of your brother is crying out to me from the ground: 1.4.10.4

And now you are cursed more than the ground that opened her mouth to take the blood of your brother from your hand: 1.4.11.4

Because you will serve the ground, it will not continue to give to you it's strength, and a fugitive and a wanderer you will be in the land." 1.4.12.4

31.5 Vocabulary 26

אוצר מילים

Here is your next set of vocabulary for you to memorize:

אַמָּה	אָמָה	אָדנָי	אָדוֹן
cubit	female-servant	My Lord	Lord
ХĮ	אָחוֹת	גוי	٦.٦.٦
brother	sister	nation	To tread

אָדוֹן can get any possessive suffix like most other nouns, but the form for 'My Lord' gets the special vowel spelling as אֲדֹנְי.

A very common word from the stem דָרָד is דָרָד which means 'way'.

The KJV translates גֹּוֹי as 'nations'. Some Jews use this word in the sense of 'heathens', and some anti-Semitic people use this word 'goy' to make fun of Jews or to put 'words in the mouth' of Jews, trying to say Jews in general are bad, or they are trying to make Jews look bad. It can refer to Israel sometimes, and comes from the word גוה which means "body" or "pride".

Chapter 32 עַד-אָנָה, The Sun, מִיָּמִים יָמִימָה,

32.1 עַד-אָנָה How long?

In Psalm 13:1-2 there are two spots with the word pair עד-אָנָה which literally would mean 'as far as how?', but is better translated as 'How long?'. עד as you know almost always means 'until' or 'as far as'. אָן is the masculine spelling for the word 'How?' and it can also mean 'Where?'.

Exodus 10:3 and 1 Samuel 1:14 are examples of the phrase עַד-מָחַי which can also mean 'how long?'.

32.2 Does the sun come or go?

In Genesis 15:12 and many other places, when the sun way is described as coming R.1.2 into the sky (the sky is not mentioned this way, just the sun the verb form of R.1.2), it can confuse us. This is because if we read the verse literally, it often looks like the sun is rising and 'coming' in the morning, but by the context it is usually that the sun is actually setting in the evening in these verses. It does not mean that the stem R.1.2 can mean 'to go' or 'to go away', but instead I believe that it implies that the sun in these cases are 'coming' to somebody else beyond the horizon. Essentially, the sun is always coming into a sunrise for somebody, all of the time. So technically the verse saying that the sun is 'coming' is still accurate, because it is coming to 'meet' somebody, just perhaps not for the people described in the verse. If you do a concordance search for the word 'sun' you will see this pattern often where the stem R.1.2 is used to describe an evening instead of what we might expect to be a morning.

32.3 מִימְים יָמִימָה and similar duplications

In Judges 21:19 there is a phrase מָלֶמִים יָמִימָה which is translated in the KJV as "yearly", and this seems accurate. It literally means "from days to days" but perhaps it can even means an unspecified time-frame, or "at such a time", or "for so many days".

In Exodus 13:10 this same phrase is translated as "from year to year". Again it literally could be translated as "from days to days", but maybe "on it's days", or "during it's time". already implies that this is a yearly, seasonal ordinance for the feast, so adding another English phrase "from year to year" might not be best. 1 Samuel 1:3 also has this same phrase and it best translated as 'yearly'. It clearly refers to a repeating occurrence.

It is interesting that in 1 Samuel 1:7 the phrase שָׁנָה בְשָׁנָה appears which can be translated as "year by year" or "yearly".

In 1 Chronicles 12:33 לֵבְ וְלֵב means "double hearted". So although it is similar, and technically could have meant "every heart", it makes much more sense as "double heart", in

the sense of "a heart and a heart".

In Modern Hebrew, מְיָמִים יָמִימָה can mean "yearly", "old", "from way back", etc. It can even refer to a time in the past long enough ago that the person could not remember.

32.4 Genesis 4:13-19

In Verse 13 below מְּבְּשׁוֹא comes from the stem נ.ש.א which you have learned, with a מ of comparison attached to it. The l has a dagesh because it was probably a ' that was dropped from the 3rd person imperfect form of the verb when the מ comparison prefix was added. מְּבְשׁוֹא literally means 'than can be carried' because it is in the future tense of possibilities (can, to be able).

In verse 14, נְע וְנָך means 'a wanderer and an outcast', and are not words you need to memorize any time soon.

In verse 15, ק.ם is the 3^{rd} person singular imperfect of ב.ק.ם and is not from ק.ו.ם. The stem ב.ק.ם means 'to avenge' and is a stem you should eventually memorize but you do not need to yet.

יג וַיֹּאמֶר קַיָן אֵל-יִהוָה גָדוֹל עֲוֹנִי מִנְּשׁוֹא:

יד הַן גַּרַשְׁתָּ אֹתִי הַיּוֹם מַעַל פָּנֵי הָאַדָמָה וּמִפָּנֶיךּ אֶסְתֵר וְהָיִיתִי נָע וָנָד בָּאָרֶץ וְהָיָה כַל-מצאִי יַהַרְגִנִי:

טו וַיּאמֶר לוֹ יְהנָה לָכֵן כָּל-הֹרֵג קַיִן שִׁבְעָתַיִם יֻקָּם וַיָּשֶׂם יְהנָה לְקַיִן אוֹת לְבִלְתִּי הַכּוֹת-אֹתוֹ כָּל-מֹצְאוֹ:

טז וַיֵּצֵא קִין מִלּפְנֵי יְהֹוָה וַיֵּשֶׁב בְּאֶבֶץ-נוֹד קְדְמַת-עֵדֶן:

יז וַיֵּדַע קֵיָן אֶת-אִשְׁתּוֹ וַתַּהַר וַתֵּלֶד אֶת-חֲנוֹך וַיְהִי בֹּנֶה עִיר וַיִּקְרָא שֵׁם הָעִיר כְּשֵׁם בִּנוֹ חַנוֹך:

יֹת וַיִּנְלֵד לַחֲנוֹך אֶת-עִירָד וְעִירָד יָלַד אֶת-מְחוּיָאֵל וּמְחִיָּיאֵל יָלַד אֶת-מְתוּשְׁאֵל וּמְתוּשְׁאֵל יָלַד אֶת-לָמֶך:

יט וַיִּקַח-לוֹ לֶמֶךְ שְׁתֵּי נְשִׁים הָאַחַת עָדָה וְשֵׁם הַשֵּׁנִית צִלְה:

In verse 18, the very first word is a verb construct from the stem י.ל.ד, in the נְפְעֵל form. If it was just a normal לָּעֵל imperfect then there would not be a dagesh on the ו, but because there is a dagesh on the ו here, it is evidence of the נְפְעֵל form. So the first word should be translated as 'And he was begotten', which is referring to Chanokh.

In verse 19, notice that the cardinal שָׁמֵי and the ordinal are both unique and do not follow the normal patterns of the cardinal and ordinal numbers that you learned.

And Qayin said to Yehovah "My iniquity *is* greater than *that which* can be carried, 1.4.13.4 Behold, you have driven me out today from the face of the ground, and from your face I will be hidden, and I will be a wanderer and an outcast on the earth, it will be, anyone who finds

me, he may kill me." 1.4.14.4

And Yehovah said to him "About this, anyone who kills Qayin, he will be avenged *by* two-sevens." And Yehovah set on Qayin a sign for him to not be smote by anyone who might find him. 1.4.15.4

And Qayin went out from the face of Yehovah, and he dwelt in the land of Nod, east of Eiden. 1.4.16.4

And Qayin knew his wife; and she conceived, and she begot Chanokh, and he was one who built a city, and proclaimed the name of the city like the name of his son: Chanokh. 1.4.17.4

And unto Chanokh was born Irad, and Irad begot Mechuyaeil, and Mechuyaeil begot Metushaeil, and Metushaeil begot Lamekh. 1.4.18.4

And Lemekh took for himself two wives, the one *was* Adah, and the name of the second *was* Tsillah. 1.4.19.4

In verse 13, the KJV translates עֲוֹנִי as "punishment" but I believe that "iniquity" is better, because this is just עֲוֹנְ with a first person singular possessive suffix added to it.

32.5 Vocabulary 27

אוצר מילים

Here is your next set of vocabulary for you to memorize:

שׁ.י.ת		ז.ב.ח	ר <u>ז</u> ר	פֿהֵן
out or set	To p	To sacrifice	Mountain	Priest
לֵב	נ.כ.ה	נ.שׂ.א		ע.מ.ד
Heart	To smite	To lift or carry		To stand or stay

A common noun from the stem מְזְבֵּחַ is מְזְבֵּחַ which means 'altar', or literally 'a place of sacrificing'.

The stem of כ.ה.ן is כ.ה.ן and means 'to be a priest'.

Nouns from the stem ע.מ.ד often mean 'pillar' or literally 'something that stands'.

Nouns from L.W.X can mean 'burden', 'leader (as in, a lifted up *one*), and even 'news' (as in a carried message). The l of this stem and L.C.T often drop off due to normal grammar rules which I have described in this book, so watch for those times when you only see the last two letters of these stems. However, L.C.T is one of the very few stems that can have two letters dropped from it during verb 'conjugation', and in those cases it is not uncommon to see only

Page 145 of 169

the middle letter כ remain from the stem נ.כ.ה. One indicator will be the Dagesh on the א when the ב drops off when it is in a verb form. This stem is usually in the הַפְעִיל form. The imperfect forms to watch for that only have the ב left are: 2^{nd} person plural masculine הַכּי , and the clipped form נַיַּך הַכּי , דַּכּי הַבְּית הַכָּי הַכִּית הַכִּי הַכִּית הַכִּי הַכִּית הַכָּי הַכִּית הַכָּי הַכִּית הַכִּי הַכִּית הַכָּי הַכִּית הַכָּי הַכִּית הַכִּי הַכִּית הַכִּי הַכִּי הַכִּית הַכִּית הַכִּי הַכִּית הַכִּי הַכִּית הַכִּי הַכִּית הַכִּי הַכִּית הַכִּים הַכִּית הַכִּית הַכִּית הַכִּי הַכִּית הַכִּים הַכִּית הַכִּים הַכִּית הַכִּים הַכִּית הַכִּית הַכִּית הַכִּים הַכִּית הַכִּים הַכִּים הַכִּית הַכִּים הַכִּית הַכִּים הַכִּית הַכְּית הַכִּית הַבְּית הַבּית הַבּית הַבְּית הַבְּית הַבְּית הַבּית הַבּית הַבּית הַבְּית הַבְּית הַבְּית הַבּית הַבְּית הַבּית הַבּית הַבּית הַבּית הַבְּית הַבְּית הַבְּית הַבְּית הַבּית הַבְּית הַבְּית הַבְּית הַבּית הַבְּית הַבּית הַבּית הַבּית הַּיבּית הַיבּית הַּבּית הַבּית הַבּית הַבּית הַבּית הַבּית הַבּית הַבּית הַבּית הַבּית הַּבּית הַבּית הַבּית הַבּית הַּבּית הַּבּית הַּבּית הַּבְּית הַּבְּית הַבּית הַּבּית הַבּית הַבּית הַּבּית הַבּית הַּבּית הַּבּית הַּבּית הַּבּית הַּבּית הַּבּית

Chapter 33 Suffix Chart, Verb Charts, 2nd p. R-vav / cmnd

33.1 Suffix Chart

Here I will list suffixes in the chart below. The aleph x letters in the chart below are just place holders for vowels and <u>are not</u> actually part of the suffixes. For the special rules regarding these suffixes, please look at the sections of this book where each person type was introduced for each type of suffix.

P	Prepositional, Possessive and Direct Object Suffixes								
Person	Singular Masculine	Plural Masculine	Singular Feminine	Plural Feminine	Notes				
1 st	אָי or אַי	בר	אַי or אַי	בר	Same for both genders				
2 nd	Ŧ	כֶּם	7	כֶּו					
3 rd	i or יו	הֶם or אָם	or אָה or אָה יהָ	הֶן or הֶּן					

33.2 Verb Form Charts

Here are some charts to be used as a reference to see the suffixes and prefixes for each form, all in one place. This chart is <u>not</u> meant to be used to memorize vowel changes for forms, because the suffixes and prefixes are far more import to memorize, and also because some forms are not even in the Bible and so other teachers just guess what the vowels would be anyway. For the signal vowel changes like the in the הַפְּעֵיל form, I will include them, because they either are rarely absent, or are very important to know to discern verb forms. There are some exceptions, for example, sometimes the dagesh is not on the n with the 1st person perfect form because of certain vowels before it. If I did not put a vowel under (or before) a suffix or prefix letter, then this probably means that that vowel can change and is not consistent. I will not be listing these rare exceptions here as they are not that important.

Forms that have the same exact suffixes or prefixes to each other will be shown in blue so that you can clearly see them. These verb form sections that have the same suffixes and prefixes require more memorization and attention because sometimes we can mix them up if we are not careful. Notice that every verb form has the same 3^{rd} person plural forms. Also every imperfect 2^{nd} person masculine singular is the same as the imperfect 3^{rd} person feminine singular forms. **Bold** is used for the 1^{st} person imperfect \aleph prefix and the Piel center \aleph which has a dagesh.

I will probably not have the clipped forms in these lists because they are usually easy to discern, and because I suspect that some of them are not even used in the Bible, and so

other teachers guess as to what the vowels are of the clipped forms. If I were to put clipped forms in these charts, I would prefer to hunt them done in the Bible to be absolutely sure what the vowels are, because, the vowels for the clipped forms are consistent (and important) enough to show them in a chart.

To find the rules for some irregular forms please go to the chapter and sections where I introduce each person type of the forms, and each type of verb form.

	Perfect פָעַל								
Person Singular Plural Singular Plural Feminine Notes Masculine Feminine									
1 st	אאתִי	אאנו	אאאתי	אאנו	Same for both genders				
2 nd	אאאק	אאאתֶם	אאאק	אאתֶּן					
3 rd	жж	אאו	אאאָה	жжк					

	Imperfect פָּעַל									
Person Singular Plural Singular Plural Notes Masculine Masculine Feminine Feminine										
1 st	жжж	נאאא	**	נאאא	Same for both genders					
2 nd	תאאא	תאאו	תאאאי	תאאאנָה						
3 rd	יאאא	יאאוּ	תאאא	יאאו						

	Perfect הָפְעִיל								
		Singular Feminine	Plural Feminine	Notes					
1 st	האאאתי	האאנו	האאאתִי	האאנו	Same for both genders. No added 'for 1st person.				
2 nd	האאאתָ	האאאתֶם	האאאתְ	האאאֶתֶן	No added, for 2 nd person.				
3 rd	האאָיא	האאָיאוּ	האאָיאה	האאָיאוּ					

	Imperfect הָפְעִיל								
Person	Singular Masculine	Plural Masculine	Singular Feminine		Notes				

1 st	א אאָיא	נאאָיא	א אאיא	נאאָיא	Same for both genders.
2 nd	תאאָיא	תאאָיאוּ	תאאָיאָי	תאאאנָה	No ' for feminine plural.
3 rd	יאאָיא	יאאָיאוּ	תאאָיא	יאאָיאוּ	

	Perfect פעל								
Person Singular Plural Singular Plural Notes Masculine Masculine Feminine Feminine									
1 st	אאאתי	אאאנו	אאאתי	אאאנו	Center letter has dagesh.				
2 nd	אאאת	אאהֶם	אאת	אאאקן	Center letter has dagesh.				
3 rd	XXX	XXX	אאאה	XXX	Center letter has dagesh.				

	Imperfect פָּעֵל								
Person Singular Plural Singular Masculine Masculine Feminine		Singular Feminine	Plural Feminine	Notes					
1 st	NNNN	ENMN	NNNN	ERMA	Same for both genders. Center letter has dagesh.				
2 nd	תאאא	תאאו	תאאאי	תאאגנה	Center letter has dagesh.				
3 rd	יא א א	18 8 87	תאאא	יאצאי	Center letter has dagesh.				

	רְפְעַל Perfect								
Person Singular Plural Singular Plural Feminine Notes Masculine Feminine									
1 st	נאאתִי	נאאנו	נאאתִי	נאאנו	Same for both genders				
2 nd	נאאתָ	נאאאתֶם	נאאתְ	נאאקּגן					
3 rd	נאאא	נאאוּ	נאאה	באאוּ					

	גְּפְעַל Imperfect							
Person	Person Singular Plural Singular Plural Feminine Notes Masculine Masculine Feminine							
1 st	х ж хх	נאאא	ИЖ ИИ	LRXX	Same for both genders. First stem letter gets dagesh.			

2 nd	תאאא	תאאו	תאאי	•	First stem letter gets dagesh.
3 rd	ХХХ '	יאאוי	RXX		First stem letter gets dagesh.

	Perfect הְתְפַעֵּל									
Person	Singular Masculine	Plural Masculine	Singular Feminine	Plural Feminine	Notes					
1 st	הָתְא א אתִי	הָתְא א אנוּ	הָתְא א אתִי	הָתְא א אנוּ	Same for both genders. Center stem letter gets dagesh.					
2 nd	הָרְא א רּנְ	הָתְא א אתֶּם	הָתְא ּא ּתְ	הָתְא א אמֶן	Center stem letter gets dagesh.					
3 rd	הָתָאאַא	הְתָאצאוּ	הָרְאצּאָה	הָתְאאַאוּ	Center stem letter gets dagesh.					

	Imperfect הָתְפַּעֵל										
Person	Singular Masculine	Plural Masculine	Singular Feminine	Plural Feminine	Notes						
1 st	אָתָאאַא	נתאאא	ў ци я х	נְתָא א א	Same for both genders. Center stem letter gets dagesh.						
2 nd	הַתְאאַא	תִקאאוּ	תִּתְא א ִאִי	תַּתְא א אנָה	Center stem letter gets dagesh.						
3 rd	יְתָאאַא	יָתָאאַאּוּ	הַרְאאַא	יִתְאאַאוּ	Center stem letter gets dagesh.						

$33.3\ 2^{nd}\ person\ reversing-vav\ /\ command$

In Ruth 3:3-4 we have two witnesses of a rare type of grammar, at least in the Tanakh anyway, as it happens often with two or more witnesses close together with rare grammar in other places in the Tanakh. The rare 2nd person feminine singular perfect suffix is used in both verses instead of the expected 2nd person feminine singular perfect. The extra is probably from the feminine command form is, as these two 'verbs' seem to be in the command form (also Ruth 3:6 says her mother-in-law commanded her).

These rare suffixes could be influenced by the verb's reversing-vavs, as in, maybe

these suffixes can only be used with reversing-vavs, like how clipped forms are only used with reversing-vavs. However, I suspect that they can be used without reversing-vavs also. This rare suffix type is a prime example as to why we should be reading Tanakhs with vowels in them, because this rare suffix could easily be mistaken for a first person perfect in suffix. Ruth 4:5 may show the masculine form of this rare grammar, and without a reversing-vav.

33.4 Genesis 4:20-26

In verse 21, the stem ת.פ.ח means 'to take' and although you should eventually memorize it, you do not need to any time soon. I translated מַנְּבְּיִל as 'those who handled'. כְּנִוֹר means lyre here, but sometimes it can mean a harp. You do not need to memorize it until much later in your vocabulary development. עוֹנֶב means flute or organ and is not a word you need to worry about memorizing until you are fluent or near-fluent.

In verse 22, ל.ט.ש' means 'to instruct' hear but can also mean to sharpen, but is not a stem you need to memorize. בְּהְשֶׁת means brass and is a word you should eventually memorize, along with בַרְיֵל which means iron.

In verse 23, נְשֵׁי is the 'of' form of נְשִׁים and means 'wives of'. It comes from the same stem that אָשָׁה and אַישׁ does. The stem is א.נ.ש and that is why there is a i in the plural forms of מַבּוּרָה and מַבּוּרָה (bruise) are not words that you need to memorize.

In verse 25, the stem שׁ.י.ת means 'to set' or 'to put' or 'appoint' and is a stem you should eventually memorize.

In verse 26, הְּחָל probably is the הְּפְעִיל perfect 3rd person singular form of the stem י.ח.ל which means 'to hope'. You do not need to memorize it any time soon but eventually you should.

ב וַתַּלֶד עָדָה אֶת-יָבֶל הוּא הָיָה אֲבִי ישׁב אֹהֶל וּמִקְנָה:

בא וְשֵׁם אָחִיו יוּבָל הוּא הָיָה אֲבִי כָּל-תֹּפֵשׁ כִּנּוֹר וְעוּגָב:

כב וְצִלָּה גַם-הָוֹא יָלְדָה אֶת-תּוּבַל קַיִן לֹטֵשׁ כָּל-חֹרֵשׁ נְחֹשֶׁת וּבַרְזֶל וַאֲחוֹת תּוּבַל קִין נַעֲמַה:

כג וַיּאמֶר לֶמֶך לְנָשִׁיו עַדָה וְצִלָּה שְׁמַעַן קוֹלִי נְשֵׁי לֶמֶךְ הַאְזֵנָּה אִמְרָתִי כִּי אִישׁ הָרַגְתִּי לְפִצְעִי וְיָלֶד לְחַבֵּרָתִי:

בד כִּי שִׁבְעַתַיִם יֻקַם-קַיִן וְלֶמֶךְ שִׁבְעִים וְשִׁבְעָה:

כה וַיֵּדַע אָדָם עוֹד אֶת-אִשְׁתּוֹ וַתֵּלֶד בֵּן וַתִּקְרָא אֶת-שְׁמוֹ שֵׁת כִּי שָׁת-לִי אֱלֹהִים זָרַע אַחֵר תַּחַת הֶבֶל כִּי הַרָגוֹ קָיִן:

כו וּלְשֵׁת גַם-הוּא יֻלַד-בֶּן וַיִּקְרָא אֶת-שָׁמוֹ אֵנוֹשׁ אָז הוּחַל לִקְרֹא בְּשֵׁם יִהוָה: ס

In verse 23, שֶׁמַעוֹ is the plural feminine command form and shows us that it can sometimes have just a suffix instead of the normal נה suffix. Now we finished chapter 4 of Genesis.

And Adah begot Yaval, he was the father of the those who dwell *with* tents and livestock. 1.4.20.4

And the name of his brother *was* Yuval, he was the father of all those who handled a Lyre and Flute. 1.4.21.4

And Tsillah also begot Tuval-Qayin, *one* who instructed all craftsmen *of* bronze and iron, and the sister of Tuval-Qayin *was* Naamah. 1.4.22.4

And Lemekh said to his wives Adah and Tsillah "Listen to my voice, wives of Lemekh, give ear to my speech, because I killed a man who wounded me, and a young man who bruised me. 1.4.23.4

Because two sevens will be the vengeance of Qayin, then *it will be for* Lemekh seventy and seven. 1.4.24.4

And Adam knew again his wife, and she begot a son, and she proclaimed his name "Sheit", because *God* has appointed to me another seed instead of Hevel, because Qayin killed him." 1.4.25.4

And for Sheit also a son was begotten, and he proclaimed his name "Enosh", then he brought hope to call on the name of Yehovah. 1.4.26.4

In verse 26, the KJV assumes that הוחל comes from the stem ה.ל.ל which means "to begin, defile, or slay" but I believe it comes from the stem י.ח.ל which means "to hope or wait".

33.5 Vocabulary 28 אוצר מילים

Here is your next set of vocabulary for you to memorize:

תודָה	ש.פ.ט	ס.פ.ר	מ.צ	8.3
thanks	to judge	to count	find	to f
ש.ב.ע	ק	ב.ח.	ח.ט.א	נ.ט.ה
wear (an oath)	ear to s	to draw no	to sin	to stretch out

רוֹדָה comes from the stem י.ד.ה that means 'to praise' or 'to thank' and is a stem you should eventually memorize.

Chapter 34 Extreme אאָיא, Backwards Nun, Cheit י^ז

34.1 Extreme Yod: Rulers, Saints, Servants, Nobles, Fools, Abundance, Least אאיא

There is an interesting grammar situation that I have not yet heard or read anything about yet, as if it was lost knowledge. I have noticed that there are many words that have the meaning of "ruler" and other similar "extreme" meanings that also have a 'in between the second and third stem letters like this אָאָיא. I am guessing that this 'acts much like the i that can be between the first and second stem letters (active participle) like this אָוֹא, because the meaning of "ruler" fits the pattern of the i in the sense of "One who does something" (where 'something' here is the definition of the stem). Maybe this could be called something else but "extreme" or "severe" seems to fit the pattern of people ranging from rulers to fools. Here is a list of words (there might be more) that I have noticed:

Tanakh Word	Meaning
Rulers	
נָגִיד	captain, ruler, prince, misc
נְשִׂיא	captain, ruler, chief, prince, misc
בְּשִׁית	Anointed-one, Anointed, Messiah
קָּצִין	ruler, prince, captain
שׁלִיט	governor, mighty, ruler
שָׁלִישׁ	captain, lord, misc
Saints	
אַבִּיר	bulls, strong, mighty, angels, misc
קָסָיד	saint, merciful, set-apart one, misc
Servants	
סָרים	Eunuch, officer, misc
פָקיד	officer, overseer
Nobles	
אַדיר	nobles, mighty, principal, famous, misc
נְשִׁיר	rich

Fools	I
אֶניל	fool, foolish
אֶלִיל	idol, image, misc
בְּסִיל	<u>fool</u> , foolish
Abundance	
אָפּיק	River, channel, stream, brooks, misc
קּצִיר	Harvest, branch
שַׂגִּיא	much, great, many
שָׂרִיד	remaining, remnant, left
Least	
חַפִּיר	wanting
צְעִיר	younger, least, little
Old	
עתיק	ancient, drawn

34.2 Backwards Nun

In Numbers 10:34, 36 there are two backwards 1 nun letters with extra tag at the top. One 1 at the end of verse 34 before the final 5 setuma, and one at the end of verse 36 before the final 5 petucha. A tag (singular) or tagin (plural) are decorations or extentions added to letters. Some Kabbalists believe they have meanings (I dont practice Kabbalah). My Letteris Hebrew and KJV Tanakh has these backwards nun letters also here (most reliable Tanakhs have these backwards nun letters here). These backwards nun letters have been used for at least 2000 years, but I believe Mosheh also wrote them in the original Torah. Some people believe that these backwards nun letters act as brackets (I agree) and that it means the verses within the backwards nun brackets should be somewhere else in the Tanakh (I disagree). I believe that the Tanakh is perfect (at least when it was original, and still now if it was copied correctly), and that these backwards nun bracketed verses are in the right spot here, and "highlighted" for a reason. Maybe it was such an important verse it needed a "highlight" so that it could be found and recognized easily and quickly.

<u>Https://youtu.be/uM4QG-rTDQg</u> (Nehemia Gordon – decorative doohickeys)

34.3 7 Cheit 1^1

The letter π can be written in a Jewish Chumash as a vav and zayin with a ^ symbol

that looks like one of the cantillation markings. This combination looks like t^1 and is meant to be read just like a the Cheit would be read. This combination can even be in some Torah scrolls. This combination can be due to many Jewish beliefs regarding the Jewish month of Tamuz, a Jewish wedding canopy, relations to the word 'the, a "run and return" concept based on an assumption that Cheit can be a gate of sorts, and other reasons. I believe that using this combination of letters to replace the letter the cheit ruins many of the gematria codes and equidistant letter spacing codes that are in the Tanakh. It also changes how many letters are in some verses, if a person was to litterally look at the 1 and 1 as being seperate letters and not imagining them as a the cheit. It also complicates the printing process, and would mess up any search functions of digital texts that are searching for words with the letter the cheit in them, if the person does not replace the the with the the combination. I believe that changing this letter the might even be a sin according to Deuteronomy 4:2.

Https://www.inner.org/hebrew_calendar/tamuz/tamuz-the-symbol-of-life

34.4 Genesis 5:1-7

In verse 1, סְפֵּר is from the stem ס.פ.ר 'to count' and means scroll (book nowadays).

א זָה סֵפֶּר תּוֹלְדֹת אָדָם בְּיוֹם בְּרֹא אֱלֹהִים אָדָם בִּדְמוּת אֱלֹהִים עֲשָׂה אֹתוֹ:

בּ זָכֶר וּנְקֵבָה בְּרָאָם וַיְבָרֶךְ אֹתָם וַיִּקְרָא אֶת-שְׁמֶם אָדָם בִּיוֹם הִבְּרְאָם:

ג וַיְחִי אָדָם שְׁלֹשִׁים וּמְאַת שְׁנָה וַיּוֹלֶד בִּדְמוּתוֹ כְּצַלְמוֹ וַיִּקְרָא אֶת-שְׁמוֹ שֵׁת:

ד וַיִּהְיוּ יְמִי-אָדָם אַחֲרֵי הוֹלִידוֹ אֶת-שֵׁע מֵאוֹת שְׁנָה וִשְׁלֹשִׁים שְׁנָה וַיָּמֹת: ס

ד וַיְחִי-שַׁת חָמֵשׁ שְׁנִים וּמְאַת שְׁנָה וַיּוֹלֶד אֶת-אֲנוֹשׁ שֶׁבַע שְׁנִים וּשְׁמֹנֶה מֵאוֹת שְׁנָה וַיּוֹלֶד בְּנִים וּבְּנִים וּשְׁמֹנֶה מֵאוֹת שְׁנָה וַיּוֹלֶד בְּנִים וּבּוֹת:

ד וַיְחִי-שַׁת אַחֲרֵי הוֹלִידוֹ אֶת-אֲנוֹשׁ שֶׁבַע שְׁנִים וּשְׁמֹנֶה מֵאוֹת שְׁנָה וַיּוֹלֶד בְּנִים וּבּוֹת:

In verse 2, Adam could also be translated as "Man".

This *is* the scroll of the descendants of Adam: In the day *God* created Adam, in *the* likeness of *God* he made him, 1.5.1.5

Male and female he created them, and he blessed them, and he proclaimed their name Adam in the day of their creation. 1.5.2.5

And Adam lived a hundred and thirty years, and he begot in his likeness, like his resemblance, and he proclaimed his name "Sheit". 1.5.3.5

And the days of Adam after he beget Sheit were eight hundred years, and he begot sons and

daughters. 1.5.4.5

And all the days of Adam the he lived were nine hundred years, and thirty years, and he died. 1.5.5.5

And Sheit lived five years, and a hundred years, and he begot Enosh. 1.5.6.5 And Sheit lived after he beget Enosh seven years, and eight hundred years, and he begot sons and daughters. 1.5.7.5

34.5 Vocabulary 29 אוצר מילים

Here is your next set of vocabulary for you to memorize:

ה.ג.ג' is also a stem much like ש.ג.ג in meaning.

Chapter 35 Drop letter Stem Charts, Neutral words?

35.1 Drop letter Stem Perfect Conjugation Charts

Here are charts I made for some drop letter stems with S meaning Singular, P meaning Plural, M meaning Masculine, and F meaning Feminine. This is not meant to be a full stem list but for each drop letter at the beginning, middle, or last letter, I give an example stem that can be used as a guide for some other stems. I also did try to include many common stems that do not have drop letters, but most of them are in the "Similar Stem" lists, which mean they are spelled the same way but with the letters coresponding to each stem (some special notes apply for some stems). Unlisted vowels will be different but those are not as important as getting the letters correct (this list is not intented to be used to get proper vowel spelling, just letter spelling). I used the prefixes and drop letters from a grammar book I first used when I was learning as a basic for this chart (The Fisrt Hebrew Primer Third Edition - EKS). I am not sure if they verified the spellings of some of these conjugations, so this chart may not be perfect (They showed the vowels also, another reason why I am not, in case they are wrong):

				Per	fect צ <u>ל</u>	P					
Stem	1 st S	1 st P	2 nd MS	2 nd FS	2 nd MP	2 nd FP	3 rd MS	3 rd FS	3 rd MP		
א.מ.ר	אמרתִי	אמרנוּ	אמרתַ	אמרת	אמרתֶם	אמרתֶּן	אמר	אמרָה	אמרוּ		
Similar stems: א.ה.ב , א.כ.ל , א.ס.ף											
ב.ו.א	באתִי	באנוּ	באתָ	באת	באתֶם	באתֶן	בא	באָה	באוּ		
Similar stems: ק.ו.ב , ש.ו.ב , ש.ו.ב (but with dagesh on ת											
ב.נ.ה	בניתִי	בנינוּ	בניתָ	בנית	בניתֶם	בניתֶן	בנה	בנתָה	בנוּ		
		Simil	ar stems: 7	ה.י.ה , ח.י.	, ה, ע.ל.ה	ע.נ.ה , ע.שׂ	.ה , ר.א.ה ,	ש.ת	·		
ה.ל.ך	הלכתִי	הלכנוּ	הלכתַּ	הלכת	הלכתֶם	הלכתן	הלך	הלכָה	הלכוּ		
Siı	milar ste	ז.ז.ק :ems	ב.ר, ז.כ.ר , ז	., ע.ב.ד ,ע.	מ .ד , ס.פ.ר.	, ק.ר.א , ע	Bol) פ.ת.ח	d = no ח	dagesh)		
י.ד.ע	ידעתִּי	ידענוּ	ידעהָ	ידעהְ	ידעהֶם	ידעתֶּן	ידע	ידעָה	ידהוּ		
	Simila	r stems:	ר.שׁ , י.שׁ.ב	, י.ר.ד ,	י.צ.א , י.ר.	. ל , י.ל.ד ,	= Bold : O.	no ת dage	esh)		
ל.ק.ח	לקחתִי	לקחנוּ	לקחתַּ	לקחתְ	לקחתֶם	לקחמֶן	לקח	לקחָה	לקחוּ		
S	Similar stems: שׁ.ב.ר , שׁ.כ.ב , שׁ.ל.ח , מ.ל.ך , מ.צ.א , כ.ת.ב, ל.ב.שׁ (Bold = no n dagesh) שׁ.מ.ע , שׁ.מ.ר , שׁ.פ.ט										
מ.ו.ת	מתִי	מתנוּ	מתָ	מת	מתֶּם	מתֶּן	מת	מתָה	מתוּ		
נ.פ.ל	נפלתִי	נפלנוּ	נפלתָ	נפלת	נפלתֶם	נפלתֶּן	נפל	נפלָה	נפלוּ		

	Similar stems: נ.שׂ.א										
ב.ת.ך	נתנוּ נתנה נתן נתקֶן נתקָם נתקָּ נתקָּ										
שֹׁ.י.ם	שמו שמה שם שמתֶן שמתֶם שמתְּ שמתָ שמנוּ שמתִי ש.י.ם										

				Perfec	t קּעִיל	7			
Stem	1 st S	1 st P	2 nd MS	2 nd FS	2 nd MP	2 nd FP	3 rd MS	3 rd FS	3 rd MP
ב.ו.א	הבאתי	הבאנוּ	הבאתָ	הבאת	הבאתֶם	הבאתֶן	הבִיא	הבִיאָה	הבִיאוּ
י.ד.ע	הודעתִי	הודענוּ	הודעהָ	הודעהְ	הודעתֶם	הודעהֶן	הוֹדִיע	הוֹדִיעָה	הוֹדִיעוּ
	S	Similar st	ems: י.צ.א	, י.ס.ף,	י.ר.ד , י.ל.	(Bold = r)	no ת dages	sh)	
כ.ו.ך	הכִינוֹתִי	הכִינוֹנוּ	הכִינוֹתָ	הכִינוֹת	הכִינוֹתֶם	הכִינוֹתֶן	הכִין	הכִינָה	הכִינוּ
			Sir	nilar stem	ו: שׁ.ו.שׂ ,	ק.ו.ם			
כ.ר.ת	הכרתִי	הַכרתנוּ	הכרהָ	הָכרהְ	הכרמֶם	הכרמֶן	הַכרית	הכריתָה	הָכרִיתוּ
מ.ו.ת	המתִי	המתנוּ	המתָ	המת	המתֶם	המתֶּן	המִית	המִיתָה	המִיתוּ
7.3.3	הגדתי	הגדנו	הגדתָ	הגדתְ	הגדמֶם	הגדתֶן	הגיד	הגִידָה	הגִידוּ
			Siı	milar sten	הs: נ.צ.ל , '	נ.פ.ל			
נ.כ.ה	הכִּיתִי	הכִּינוּ	הכִּיתָ	הכִּית	הכִּיתֶם	הכִּיתֶן	הכה	הכּתָה	הכּוּ
ע.ל.ה	עליתי	העלינו	העלִיתָ	העלית	העליתם	העליתן	העלה	העלתָה	העלו
ש.מ.ע	השמעתי	הָשמענוּ	הָשׁמעתַ	השמעת	השמעתב	הָשׁמעתּוֶן	השמיע	השמיעה	השמיעו

	בְּפְעַל Perfect											
Stem	1 st S	1st P	2 nd MS	2 nd FS	2 nd MP	2 nd FP	3 rd MS	3 rd FS	3rd MP			
ב.נ.ה	נבניתִי	נבנינוּ	נבניתָ	נבנית	נבניתֶם	נבניתֶן	נבנה	נבנתָה	נבנו			
			Sin	nilar stem	is: ר.א.ה , ז	ע.שׂ.ד						
י.ד.ע	נוֹדעתִּי	נודענו	נוֹדעהָ	נודעתְ	נודעהָם	נודעהֶן	נודע	נוֹדעָה	נודעו			
				Similar s	.ל.ד :stems	,						
כ.ר.ת	נכרתִּי	נכרתנוּ	נכרהָ	נכרתְ	נכרמֶם	נכרמֶן	נכרת	נכרתָה	נכרתוּ			
נ.ש.א	נשׂאתִי	נשאנו	נשׂאת	נשאת	נשׂאתֶם	נשׂאתֶן	נשא	נשׂאָה	נשאר			
נ.ת.ן	נתתִי	בתבר	נתתָ	נתתְ	נתמֶם	נתתֶן	נתן	נתנָה	בתנו			
ש.מ.ע	נשמעתִי	נשמענו	נשמעהָ	נשמעתְ	נשמעהֶם	נשמעתֶן	נשמע	נשמעָה	נשמעו			

Similar stems: א.מ.ר , ש.ב.ר , ש.ב.ר , ל.ח.ם , מ.צ.א , ק.ר.א , ש.ב.ר , ש.מ.ר (Bold = no n dagesh)

	Perfect פעל											
Stem	1 st S	1st P	2 nd MS	2 nd FS	2 nd MP	2 nd FP	3 rd MS	3 rd FS	3 rd MP			
צ.ו.ה	צוּיתִי	צוינו	צוּיתָ	צוית	צוּיתֶם	צוּיתֶן	צוה	צוּתָה	צוו			
ק.ד.שׁ	קדשׁתִּי	קדשנו	קדשׁתַּ	קדשׁתְ	קדשׁתֶּם	קדשׁתֶּן	קדש	קדּשָׁה	קדשו			
Similar	Similar stems: ב.ק.שׁ , ב.ר.ך , ד.ב.ר , ה.ל.ל , ח.ז.ק , ס.פ.ר , שׁ.ב.ר , שׁ.ל.ח (Bold = no stem dagesh)											

	Perfect התפעל										
Stem	Stem 1 st S 1 st P 2 nd MS 2 nd FS 2 nd MP 2 nd FP 3 rd MS 3 rd FS 3 rd MP										
ק.ד.ש	הָתְקַדּשׁתִּי	הַתְקדשׁנוּ	הָתְקִדּשׁתְּ	הַתְקדשׁתְּ	הָתְקָדִשׁתְּם	הָתְקַדּשׁהֶּן	התְקדשׁ	הַתְקַדִּשָׁה	התקדשו		
	ה.ל.ך , ה.ל.ל , ח.ז.ק , פ.ל.ל Similar stems: ה.ל.										

35.2 Drop letter Stem Imperfect Conjugation Charts

Here are charts I made for some drop letter stems in the Imperfect form, blue text shows conjugations that have the same prefixes and suffixes. Note that technically the letter ע cannot have a dagesh but I put a dagesh in הַּהְפַעֵּל to show the center stem letter dagesh:

	Imperfect פָּעַל											
Stem	1 st S	1st P	2 nd MS	2 nd FS	2 nd MP	2 nd FP	3rd MS	3rd FS	3 rd MP			
א.מ.ר	אמר	נאמר	תאמר	תאמרי	תאמרו	תאמרנָה	יאמר	תאמר	יאמרוּ			
	Similar stems: א.כ.ל , ש.ב.ר , ש.ב.ר , ש.כ.ב , ש.ל.ח .ז.ק , ש.ב.ר , ש.כ.ב , ש.ל.ח .Bold = dagesh on middle stem letter) מ.ל.ך , מ.צ.א , כ.ת.ב, ל.ב.ש , ש.מ.ע , ש.מ.ר , ש.פ.ט (Bold = dagesh on middle stem letter) א.ס.ף (All have a normal 1st S) אוני איט איט איט איט איט איט איט איט איט אי											
ב.ו.א	אבוא	נבוא	תבוא	תבואִי	תבואו	תבאינָה	יבוא	תבוא	יבואו			
Simil	lar stems:	ו.ב , ס.ו.ר	, ק.ו.ם , ש	<u>מ.ו.ת</u> (Bo	ld has no	' in 2 nd F	P)(underi	ne = no 2	nd FP)			
ב.נ.ה	אבנה	נבנה	תבנה	תבני	תבנו	תבנינָה	יבנה	תבנה	יבנו			
	S	imilar ste	ms: ח.י.ה	, ה.י.ה , ה.י.ה	ע.שׂ.ה , ע.ל	ה, ע.נ.ה, ז	ת.ה , ר.א.ו	.w				
ה.ל.ך	אלך	נלך	תלך	תלכי	תלכו	תלכנָה	ילך	תלך	ילכוּ			
(da	Similar stems: נ.ת.ן , נ.שׂ.א , נ.פּ.ל , ל.ק.ח , י.שֹ.ב , י.ר.ד , י.צ.א , י.ל.ד , י.ד.ע (dagesh on some of the אחנה = FP 2 nd)											

י.כ.ל	אוּכל	נוכל	תוכל	תוכלי	תוכלו		יוּכל	תוכל	יוּכלוּ		
י.ר.א	אירא	נירא	תירא	תיראָי	תיראוּ	תיראנָה	יירא	תירא	ייראוּ		
	י.ר.שׁ Similar stems: י.ר.שׁ										
שֹׁ.י.ם	אשים	נשים	תשים	תשימי	תשימו	תשימינָה	ישים	תשים	ישימו		

	1 st S	1 st P							
٤		1 1	2 nd MS	2 nd FS	2 nd MP	2 nd FP	3rd MS	3 rd FS	3 rd MP
	אבִיא	נביא	תביא	תּבִיאִי	תביאו	תּבִיאינָה	יבִיא	תביא	יבִיאוּ
Si	imilar s	tems: ו.ב.	, ק.ו.ם , שׁ	.ו.ן , מ.ו. ח	(FP2nd	is תָאאנָה v	vith 1 drop	ָבְנָה and	<u>(</u> م
י.ד.ע	אוֹדִינַ	נוֹדִיעַ	תוֹדִיעַ	תוֹדִיעִי	תוֹדִיעוּ	תודענָה	יוֹדִיעַ	תוֹדִיעַ	יוֹדִיעוּ
			Similar s	tems: ר.ד	. י.צ.א, י	.ל.ד , י.ם.ף	,		
7.2.5	אגיד	נגָיד	תגיד	תגידי	תגידו	תגדנָה	יגִיד	תגיד	יגִידוּ
			Sir	nilar sten	ns: נ.צ.ל,	נ.פ.ל			
ז נ.כ.ה	אכּד	נכה	תכה	תּכִּי	תכו	תכינה	יכה	תכה	יפו
ה ע.ל.ה	אעלר	נעלה	תעלה	תעלי	תעלו	תעלינָה	יעלה	תעלה	יעלו
ע ש.מ.ע	אשמיע	נשמיע	תשמיע	תשמיעי	תשמיעו	תשמענָה	ישמיע	תשמיע	ישמיעו

	גּפְעַל Imperfect										
Stem	1 st S	1st P	2 nd MS	2 nd FS	2 nd MP	2 nd FP	3 rd MS	3 rd FS	3 rd MP		
ב.נ.ה	אבנה	נבנה	תבנה	תבני	תבנו	תבנינָה	יבנה	תבנה	יבנו		
	Similar stems: ע.שׂ.ה , ר.א.ה (no stem dagesh)										
י.ד.ע	אוָדע	נוָּדע	תּנָּדע	תּדִני	ת וּ דעוּ	תּנָדענָה	יוָדע	תּרַע	יוָדעוּ		
	Similar stems: י.ל.ד (these all have a degesh on the vav ו not a shureq)										
ש.מ.ע	אשמע	נשמע	תשמע	תשמעי	תשמעו	תשמענָה	ישמע	תשמע	ישמעו		
S	imilar ste	ש.מ.ר :ms	א, ש.ב.ר , ל (b		, מ.צ.א , נ stem dage		, ז.כ.ר , כ.ו	ר, א.ס.ף	א.מ.		

Imperfect פַּעֵּל									
Stem	1 st S	1st P	2 nd MS	2 nd FS	2 nd MP	2 nd FP	3 rd MS	3rd FS	3 rd MP

צ.ו.ה	אצוה	נצוּה	תצוה	תצוִי	תצוו	תצוינָה	יצוּה	תצוה	יצוּוּ
ק.ד.ש	אקדש	נקדש	תקדש	תקדשי	תקדשו	תקדשנָה	יקדש	תקדש	יקדשו
Similar stems: ב.ק.שׁ , ב.ר.ד , ה.ל.ל , ח.ז.ק , ס.פ.ר , שׁ.ב.ר , שׁ.ל.ח (Bold = no stem dagesh)									

Imperfect הְתְּפַּעֵל										
Stem	1 st S	1 st P	2 nd MS	2 nd FS	2 nd MP	2 nd FP	3rd MS	3 rd FS	3 rd MP	
ק.ד.שׁ	אָתְקַדֵּשׁ	נתקבש	תִקבִשׁ	הִתְקַדְּשִׁי	תִקדְשׁוּ	הִּתְקַדֵּשְׁנָה	יִתְקַבִּשׁ	תִקבִשׁ	יִתְקַדְשׁוּ	
	ה.ל.ך , ה.ל.ל , ח.ז.ק , פ.ל.ל									

35.3 Are there Neutral gender words in Hebrew?

In Biblical Hebrew there are no Neutral Gender words. Even the word for a eunuch סריס gets no special word form. If there was ever a time when there would have been neutral word forms it would have been for when talking to groups that have both men and women in it, but, in those cases the masculine forms of suffixes and prefixes are used. Yehovah clearly thinks it is wise to have a language with gendered words, and it makes perfect sense and seems good. As I have mentioned earlier, some words that we would expect to look masculine can actually look feminine, like the plural of father אבות as אבות as אבות as אבות as for fathers. I have never heard of a Jewish or Hebrew minded man complain and cry that they have to use a feminine suffix for the word fathers, but some feminists, Jew-haters, marxists, and others now like to cry and whine that there are gendered words in the Hebrew language. Although I have not heard a good explanation as to why fathers is spelled with a feminine looking suffix, it does not mean that it is wrong or in any way insults fathers.

But, in modern wokism, some Modern Hebrew teachers teach that there are neutral gendered words in Hebrew. I have not seen any neutral gendered words in Biblical Hebrew, but maybe some woke schools in Israel are trying to change how people think of some of the Hebrew words.

35.4 Genesis 5:8-32

In verses 22 to 24 it is very interesting about Chanokh.

ח וַיִּהְיוּ כָּל-יְמֵי-שֵׁת שְׁתֵּים עָשְׂרֵה שָׁנָה וּתְשַׁע מֵאוֹת שָׁנָה וַיָּמֹת: ס **ט** וַיְחִי אֲנוֹשׁ תִּשְׁעִים שָׁנָה וַיּוֹלֶד אֶת-קֵינָן:

י וַיְחִי אֲנוֹשׁ אַחֲרֵי הוֹלִידוֹ אֶת—קֵינָן חֲמֵשׁ עֶשְׂרֵה שָׁנָה וּשְׁמֹנֶה מֵאוֹת שָׁנָה וַיּוֹלֶד בָּנִים וּבָנוֹת:

יא וַיָּהִיוּ כָּל-יְמֵי אָנוֹשׁ חָמֵשׁ שָנִים וּתְשַׁע מֵאוֹת שָׁנָה וַיָּמֹת: ס

- יב וַיָּחִי קֵינָן שָׁבָעִים שָׁנָה וַיּוֹלֶד אֶת-מַהַלַלְאֵל:
- יג וַיְחִי קֵינָן אַחֲרֵי הוֹלִידוֹ אֶת-מַהַלַלְאֵל אַרְבָּעִים שָׁנָה וּשְׁמֹנֶה מֵאוֹת שָׁנָה וַיּוֹלֶד בָּנִים וּבָנוֹת:
 - יד וַיָּהִיוּ כָּל-יָמֵי קִינָן עֶשֶׂר שָׁנִים וּתְשַׁע מֵאוֹת שָׁנָה וַיָּמֹת: ס
 - מר וַיְחִי מַהַלַלְאֵל חָמֵשׁ שָׁנִים וְשִׁשִּׁים שָׁנָה וַיּוֹלֶד אֶת-יָרֶד:
- **טז** וַיְחִי מַהְלַלְאֵל אַחֲרֵי הוֹלִידוֹ אֶת-יֶרֶד שְׁלֹשִׁים שָׁנָה וּשְׁמֹנֶה מֵאוֹת שָׁנָה וַיּוֹלֶד בַּנִים וּבַנוֹת:
 - יז וַיִּהִיוּ כָּל-יְמֵי מַהְלַלְאֵל חָמֵשׁ וְתִשְׁעִים שָׁנָה וּשְׁמֹנֶה מֵאוֹת שָׁנָה וַיָּמֹת: ס
 - י**ה** וַיְחִי-יֶרֶד שְׁתַּיִם וְשִשִּׁים שָׁנָה וּמְאַת שָׁנָה וַיּוֹלֶד אֶת-חֲנוֹך:
 - ים וַיְחִי-יֶרֶד אַחֲרֵי הוֹלִידוֹ אֶת-חֲנוֹך שְׁמֹנֶה מֵאוֹת שָׁנָה וַיּוֹלֶד בָּנִים וּבָנוֹת:
 - ב וַיִּהִיוּ כָּל-יְמֵי-יֶרֶד שְׁתַּיִם וְשִׁשִׁים שָׁנָה וּתְשַׁע מֵאוֹת שָׁנָה וַיָּמֹת: ס
 - בא וַיְחִי חַנוֹך חָמֵשׁ וְשִׁשִּׁים שָׁנָה וַיּוֹלֶד אֶת-מְתוּשָׁלַח:
- כב וַיִּתְהַלֵּךְ חֲנוֹךְ אֶת-הָאֱלֹהִים אַחֲרֵי הוֹלִידוֹ אֶת-מְתוּשֶׁלַח שְׁלֹשׁ מֵאוֹת שֶׁנָה וַיּוֹלֶד בָּנִים וּבָנוֹת:
 - כג וַיְהִי כַּל-יְמֵי חַנוֹךְ חָמֵשׁ וְשִׁשִּׁים שָׁנָה וּשְׁלשׁ מֵאוֹת שָׁנָה:
 - כד וַיִּתְהַלֵּךְ חֲנוֹךְ אֶת-הָאֶלֹהִים וְאֵינֶנוּ כִּי-לָקַח אֹתוֹ אֱלֹהִים: ס
 - בה וַיְחִי מְתוּשֶׁלַח שָׁבַע וּשְׁמֹנִים שָׁנָה וּמְאַת שָׁנָה וַיּוֹלֶד אֶת-לָמֶךְ:
 - כּוֹ וַיְחִי מְתוּשֶׁלַח אַחֲרֵי הוֹלִידוֹ אֶת-לֶמֶך שְׁתַּיִם וּשְׁמוֹנִים שָׁנָה וּשְׁבַע מֵאוֹת שָׁנָה וַיּוֹלֶד בָּנִים וּבָנוֹת:
 - כז וַיִּהִיוּ כָּל-יְמֵי מְתוּשֶׁלַח תֵּשַׁע וְשִׁשִׁים שָׁנָה וּתְשַׁע מֵאוֹת שָׁנָה וַיָּמֹת: ס
 - בן: בַּיוֹלֵד בַן: כַּתַ שָׁנָה וַשְּׁמָר שָׁנָה וַיִּוֹלֵד בַן:
- כט וַיִּקְרָא אֶת-שְׁמוֹ נֹחַ לֵאמֹר זֶה יְנַחֲמֵנוּ מִמַּעֲשֵׂנוּ וּמֵעִצְּבוֹן יָדֵינוּ מִן-הָאֲדָמָה אֲשֶׁר אֵרָרָה יְהנָה:
 - ל וַיְחִי-לֶמֶךְ אַחֲרֵי הוֹלִידוֹ אֶת--נֹחַ חָמֵשׁ וְתִשְׁעִים שָׁנָה וַחֲמֵשׁ מֵאֹת שָׁנָה וַיּוֹלֶד בָּנִים וּבָנוֹת:
 - לא וַיְהִי כָּל--יְמֵי-לֶמֶך שֶׁבַע וְשִׁבְעִים שֶׁנָה וּשְׁבַע מֵאוֹת שֶׁנָה וַיָּמֹת: ס
 - ל**ב** וַיְהִי-נֹחַ בֶּן-חֲמֵשׁ מֵאוֹת שָנָה וַיּוֹלֶד נֹחַ אֶת-שֵׁמ אֶת-חָם וְאֶת-יָפֶת:

In verse 29, I translated מָן as "because", as it seems to make more sense that way. This is a very rare translation for מָן.

In verse 31, all of the days of Lemekh were 777 years, which is very interesting. In verse 32 it seems that Noach's three sons may be triplets, or the first one was born at 800 years old (\(\text{DW}\)?) and then right afterward in the following years the other two were born. It is also interesting that Noach waited until he was 500 years old to have children. Maybe because of how evil the world was he had to make a defendable home first, before he felt comfortable having children.

And all the days of Sheit were twelve years, and nine hundred years, and he died. 1.5.8.5

And Enosh lived ninety years, and he begot Qeynan. 1.5.9.5

And Enosh lived after he beget Qeynan fifteen years, and eight hundred years, and he begot sons and daughters. 1.5.10.5

And all the days of Enosh were five years, and nine hundred years, and he died. 1.5.11.5

And Qeynan lived seventy years, and he begot Mahalaleil. 1.5.12.5

And Qeynan lived after he begot Mahalaleil forty years, and eight hundred years, and he begot sons and daughters. 1.5.13.5

And all of the days of Qeynan were ten years and nine hundred years, and he died. 1.5.14.5

And Mahalaleil lived five years and sixty years, and he begot Yared. 1.5.15.5

And Mahalaleil lived after he begot Yered thirty years and eight hundred years, and he beget sons and daughters: 1.5.16.5

And all of the days of Mahalaleil were five and ninety years and eight hundred years, and he died. 1.5.17.5

And Yered lived two and sixty years and a hundred years, and he begot Chanokh. 1.5.18.5 And Yered lived after he begot Chanokh eight hundred years, and he begot sons and daughters. 1.5.19.5

And all of the days of Yered were two and sixty years and nine hundred years, and he died. 1.5.20.5

And Chanokh lived five and sixty years, and he begot Metushalach. 1.5.21.5 And Chanokh walked *with* God after he begot Metushelach three hundred years, and he begot sons and daughters. 1.5.22.5

And all the days of Chanokh were five and sixty years and three hundred years. 1.5.23.5

And Chanokh walked with God, then he was not, because God took him. 1.5.24.5

And Metushelach lived seven and eighty years and a hundred years, and he begot Lamekh. 1.5.25.5

And Metushelach lived after he begot Lemekh two and eighty years and seven hundred years, and he begot sons and daughters. 1.5.26.5

And all of the days of Metushelach were nine and sixty years and nine hundred years, and he died. 1.5.27.5

And Lemekh lived two and eighty years and a hundred years, and he begot a son. 1.5.28.5 And he proclaimed his name "Noach", saying "This *one* will comfort us from our making and from the hardship of our hands because of the ground that Yehovah cursed." 1.5.29.5 And Lemekh lived after he beget Noach five and ninety years and five hundred years, and he begot sons and daughters. 1.5.30.5

And all of the days of Lemekh were seven and seventy years and seven hundred years, and he died. 1.5.31.5

And Noach was a son of five hundred years, and Noach begot Sheim, Cham and Yafet. 1.5.32.5

35.5 Vocabulary 30 אוצר מילים

Because the next chapter of this book is the concluding chapter, with no Hebrew reading practice, I recommend that you start memorizing new words by using my book "Word Occurrences", if you have not done so already. Start on Day 1, no matter what day of the month it is, and do one "Day" in the book for each day. Memorize any stems you have not memorized yet. When it starts getting too difficult, start over at Day one again. So, Maybe your first time through should just be the first 4 to 6 days of the book.

Chapter 36 Conclusions

36.1 Genesis 6:1-8

Now you will be able to read one of the popular places in the Bible where many people make wild theories about. I talk more about this Genesis chapter also in my book "What is Truth?".

Verse 3 ידון is probably from the stem ז.י.ן.

Verse 5 יצר is probably from the stem יצר. י.צ.ר

- נְיָהִי כִּי-הַחֵל הָאָדָם לָרֹב עַל-פְּנֵי הָאֲדָמָה וּבָנוֹת יֻלְדוּ לָהֶם:
- ב וַיִּרְאוּ בְנֵי-הָאֱלֹהִים אֶת-בְּנוֹת הָאָדָם כִּי טֹבֹת הֵנָּה וַיִּקְחוּ לָהֶם נָשִׁים מִכֹּל אֲשֶׁר בַּחַרוּ:
 - ג וַיּאמֶר יְהוָה לֹא-יָדוֹן רוּחִי בָאָדָם לְעֹלָם בְּשַׁגָּם הוּא בָשָׂר וְהָיוּ יָמְיו מֵאָה וְצִיּשְׂרִים שֶׁנַה:
- ד הַנְּפִלִים הָיוּ בָאָרֶץ בַּיָּמִים הָהֵם וְגַם אַחֲרֵי-כֵן אֲשֶׁר יָבֹאוּ בְּנֵי הָאֱלֹהִים אֶל-בְּנוֹת הָאָדָם וָיָלִדוּ לָהֵם הֵמָּה הַגִּבֹּרִים אֵשֶׁר מֵעוֹלָם אַנִשֵׁי הַשֵּׁם: פ
 - ה וַיַּרְא יְהוָה כִּי רַכָּה רָעַת הָאָדָם כָּאָרֶץ וְכָל—יֵצֶר מַחְשְׁבֹת לְבּוֹ רַק רַע כָּל-היוֹם:
 - וֹ וַיִּנְחֶם יְהוָה כִּי-עָשָׂה אֶת-הָאָדָם בָּאָרֶץ וַיִּתְעַצֵּב אֶל-לִבּוֹ:
 - ז וַיּאמֶר יְהוָה אֶמְחָה אֶת-הָאָדָם אֲשֶׁר-בְּרָאתִי מֵעַל פְּנֵי הָאַדָמָה מֵאָדָם עַד-בְּהֵמְה עַד-רֵמֶשׁ וְעַד-עוֹף הַשָּׁמְיִם כִּי נִחַמְתִּי כִּי עֲשִׂיתִם:
 - ונח מצא חו בעיני יהוה:

And it was when men began to become many upon the face of the ground, and daughters were born to them, 1.6.1.6

And the sons of God saw the daughters of men that they were good, and they took for themselves wives from all that they chose. 1.6.2.6

And Yehovah said "My Spirit will not judge man continually while they sin ignorantly, he is flesh, so his days will be an hundred and twenty years." 1.6.3.6

The killers were in the land in those days, and also afterward, because the sons of God came into the daughters of men, and they begot for them those who prevail, who from *old-times* were men of authority. 1.6.4.6

And Yehovah saw that numerous *was* the harm by men in the land, and every form of the thoughts of his heart *were* only harmful every day. 1.6.5.6

And Yehovah was consoled that he made men on the land, but he felt grieved in his heart.

1.6.6

And Yehovah said "I will blot out from the face of the ground the men who I created, from man even to animals, even the creeping things, even the birds of the sky, because I am grieved that I made them." 1.6.7.6

But Noach found favor in the eyes of Yehovah. 1.6.8.6

In verse 2, Sons of God can be human males. Do a concordance search for the words "children" or "children of God" and you will see that the concept of "children of God" is a Biblical concept that often refers to humans, especially when you search the New Testament.

In verse 4, הנפלים can mean "murderers" or "killers" because the stem means "to fall" or "fall on (kill)". It could also mean "fallen-ones. Hebrew words mean thinigs and Nephilim are not a name of a tribe as far as we know, because the Bible mentions no person with a name ל. It most likely is a tille given to a group of people, as a description about what they do, in this case "kill" or "be fallen" (evil?, or dead-like).

You may be interested in looking at Genesis 27:42 also, concerning verse 6.

36.2 Continuing your studies

I recommend that you continue reading through all of Genesis (and translating it), and then the next four 'Books of Moses', because one of the goals of the Torah, was to teach us the pure language. As you find words that you do not know, I recommend that you use either BlueLetterBible.org, or my book 'Word Occurrences' which lists each stem by how often it is used in the Bible. Either method you use, you will then know how often that word you find is used in the Bible, then you can decide if you want to memorize it or not by making a flashcard. I recommend that you memorize any word that occurs more than 20 times, and also memorize it's stem. You can also use my 'Word Occurrences' book to review some words each day to keep them fresh in your memory.

I recommend that you start or continue writing in a journal each day in Hebrew only, because that will force your mind to translate in the opposite direction than just reading Hebrew. My book 'Counting Roots' lists all of the words (excluding most names) in the bible next to their stems, with the stems being listed in order by the sum of their stem letters. I also list the frequencies of the word usage for each word in that dictionary, so you can also use that book as a way to judge if you need to memorize a word or not. These books can be found with the link in the beginning pages of this book.

36.3 Free is Free

Based on Matthew 10:7-10 I have provided these books to people for free with the

copyright described in the next paragraph. If I offer a print version of my books, I plan on setting the lowest price possible, so that I gain no money that way.

36.4 Copyright

Copyright 2017-2023 by Benjamin Lee Cooper. All rights reserved with the adjustments I describe in this paragraph: Once a person receives written and signed permission from me, copies (or digital forms) can be made of this book by them as long as the copies (or digital forms) are given away for free, and they must not change my words, and must also say what edition it is a copy of. This copyright applies to all previous printings I have made of this book. You may not sell this book (even if it is used), or any copies (including digital forms) of it. If any copy is made of this book, and that copy (or digital form) is sold, then that is a violation of the copyright on this book (and a violation of the copyright of all editions and printings of this book), and I plan on upholding this copyright if I am able to through legal methods. This book is not meant to be sold at any time, or anywhere. I only give permission for it to be given as gifts or donations no matter who is the current 'owner' or 'caretaker'. Freewill donations can be given to people who have given this book away but the donation cannot be required to receive a book. If anyone tries to require donations to receive this book, than that is violating my copyright wishes for this book, and I may choose to use legal actions to stop that violation.

36.5 My other books

Another book of mine relating to this book is 'Word Occurrences', which lists each group (what I call a Root Family) by their common stem, and then by their usage frequencies in the Bible. So, the most commonly used Root Family in the bible will be near the beginning of the book. The book is divided into 30 sections so that a person can review the words of each section each day of the month. A month of 29 days means you skip section 30, and a month of 31 days means you don't review any sections on day 31.

I also made a list (in book form) of Modern Hebrew words that are not in the Bible, or are different than the words in the Bible. All of these books should be available where these other books of mine are also available.

My other related books are my 'Counting Roots' Biblical Hebrew dictionary. You can find my books in PDF form in the links below:

https://learn-hebrew-from-genesis.weebly.com http://self.gutenberg.org/Authors/Nesher

36.6 Contact Information

My current contact information as of writing this is:

my email is: my path of life@yahoo.com

May Yehovah bless you and keep you

זה ספר על למוד עברית מן-ספר בראשית

למוד עברית מן-בראשית

מאת בנימין לי כפיר

הזין מהדור

ליהוה וליהושע